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BUILDING ON A STRONG  
FOUNDATION

We are pleased to present Holland Casino’s annual 
report for 2018. It was a special year for a special 
Company. It was a successful year, too, as after a 
number of turbulent years we found the calm and  
the focus again to devote our full attention to working 
on our strategy HC 2020.

We invested in new casinos, in our guest experience and in the 

development of our staff. We managed to stabilise our market 

share in the competitive leisure and entertainment market and 

made major progress in the renewal of our range of games.  

We can see the effects of these efforts in our financial results, 

which were both positive and robust with higher gross 

revenues than in 2017. The fact that the result before corporate 

income tax did not increase in line with gross revenues was 

primarily due to a later insurance payment related to 

‘Groningen’ and the increase in the gaming tax rate.

Following the opening of our new casino in Amsterdam 

West-Sloterdijk and the opening of the temporary pop-up 

casino in Groningen, our family of 14 casinos is once again 

complete. And with the drastic renovation of Holland Casino 

Valkenburg, and the ground-breaking ceremony for our new 

casino in Venlo, we continue to develop the most modern  

and sustainable casinos across the Netherlands. 

We also had a dynamic year, as we continued to build on our 

online platform and on the multidisciplinary teams that are 

working on our strategic priorities. So rather than waiting for 

things to happen, we have taken matters into our own hands 

to ensure that we are prepared for new gaming legislation.  

The fact that we did not lose sight of our daily guests in the 

midst of these dynamic developments is an enormous tribute 

to our employees. 

Holland Casino takes its responsibility to its guests and 

employees very seriously and continues to work – together 

with its partners – on a safe and pleasant gaming environ-

ment, fulfilling our social task as might be expected. 

Holland Casino operates at the heart of society and welcomes 

visitors from all walks of life. We gladly contribute to a healthy 

society through a range of partnerships and contributions to 

good causes. The most prominent of these in 2018 was our 

support as founding father for Maarten van der Weijden’s 

Elfstedenzwemtocht, which will be continued in 2019, and  

our employees’ sponsorship campaigns in support of the  

Dutch Cancer Society (KWF).

The opportunities and challenges that lie ahead for Holland 

Casino are numerous. We continue to keep a very close eye  

on our environment, where the stakes are high and political 

decisions on privatisation remain uncertain for the time being. 

We will continue to focus fully on the realisation of our 

strategic objectives. This strategy will help us build a strong 

and future-proof company, with compelling concepts for new 

and existing guests and promising propositions. We also want 

to remain an attractive employer for our talented colleagues.

In 2019, we will continue to build on the strong foundations  

we laid in 2018 with conviction. We are looking to the future  

of Holland Casino with great confidence.

Erwin van Lambaart – CEO Holland Casino

‘With the new  
locations, our  

casino family is  
complete again.’
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2018 IN FIGURES 

5.2

Employees
2,920 FTE

Absenteeism
4.9 %

Monitoring (PAK) interviews
23,950

21,324

Total revenue
€ 656.5 MLN

NET Promotor Score
29

Average spending per visit
€ 114

Table settings

493,053
Glasses of draught beer

2,733,199
Bitterballen

848,460 
Cups of coffee

5,576,221

Result before corporate income tax
€ 82.7 MLN

Revenue table games
€ 265.8 MLN

Revenue slot machines 
€ 340.0 MLN

Guests
1.1 MLN

Visits
5.7 MLN

Visit frequency
5.2 x

1,2 

7,57,5

4.630

1.7 

15.6

1.2 

7,97.9

2.7

3.9 2.3

3.7

**

**See Financial developments,  p. 15

2018 IN FIGURES 
COMPARED TO 2017
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Amounts in millions of euro, unless stated otherwise 2018 2017

Revenue before gaming tax 656.5 639.2

Gaming tax -182.4 -170.5

Net revenue 474.1 468.7

Insurance claim 11.4 29.0

Total revenue 485.5 497.7

Operating expenses -403.3 -400.2

Operating result 82.2 97.5

Financial income and expenses 0.4 -

Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 0.1 0.5

Result before corporate income tax 82.7 98.0

Corporate income tax -23.2 -24.5

Result after corporate income tax 59.5 73.5

Other comprehensive income net of tax - -

Total comprehensive income 59.5 73.5

Cash flow from operating activities 133.4 83.5

Profitmargin (in %)

(Result after tax / net revenue) x 100 12.6 15.7

KEY FIGURES
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2018 2017

Equity 222.8 211.3

Non-current liabilities 17.2 17.3

Current liabilities 102.4 102.3

OTHER KEY FIGURES

2018 2017

Number of gaming tables 448 417

Number of slot machines (in casinos) 6,490 5,701

Visits

Number of visits (in thousands) 5,743 5,840

Spending per visit (in euro) 114 109

Employees at year-end 

Number of employees (excluding stand-by employees 
and trainees) 
of whom Gaming & Casino Services

3,949

50

3,699

0

Full-time equivalents (fte)
of whom Gaming & Casino Services

2,920
49

2,708
0

Employee benefits (as a percentage of operating expenses) 59.9 56.4

Net revenue per average fte (in thousands of euro) 166 179

The key figures are not part of Holland Casino’s financial statements.
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PROFILE OF THE COMPANY

The Dutch government awarded Holland Casino an exclusive licence to provide tables 
games in 1975 in an effort to provide the Netherlands with a safe and regulated gaming 
environment. We opened our first casino in 1976. From 1986, our licence was extended 
to include slot machines. We offer our guests exciting, surprising and reliable games in 
a familiar and exceedingly hospitable environment. These same principles will remain 
in place once Holland Casino is allowed to provide online games, which we expect to be 
in effect from 2020. 

Following the opening of Amsterdam West-

Sloter dijk and the re-opening in Groningen,  

we once again have all 14 casinos in operation. 

Spread right across the country and with the 

exclusive right to provide table games.  

This makes Holland Casino the only real casino 

in the Netherlands. Holland Casino’s head 

office, opened in 2017, is located in Hoofddorp.  

Holland Casino employs a total of 3,899 

employees, 50 of whom at Gaming & Casino 

Services, the Company we acquired in 2018.

Holland Casino occupies a unique position in 

the Dutch and European gaming market, with 

more than 40 years of experience and a 

trend setting, internationally recognised and 

award-winning responsible gaming policy. 

Holland Casino stands out thanks to its 

personal attention, high-quality hospitality  

and extensive care for all of its guests. 

In 2018, Holland Casino recorded total revenue 

of EUR 656.5 million. Holland Casino is also 

aiming to obtain a licence for online gaming, 

now that legislation will make that possible  

in the future. Holland Casino provides three 

product groups: table games, supervised by 

specially trained and qualified croupiers,  

a wide range of slot machines, including video, 

roulette, bingo and poker machines, and  

Food & Beverage (F&B). The core activities  

Table games and Slot machines account for  

the bulk of our revenue. F&B is becoming  

an increasingly important part of our core 

activities and indispensable to providing  

the optimum guest experience.

Holland Casino’s slot machines help the 

Company to differentiate itself from other 

operators, such as arcades and the catering 

industry. Both the maximum stake and the 

payment percentage are higher, and Holland 

Casino has no maximum when it comes to 

prizes on individual machines or additional 

progressive prizes. This is due to the fact that 

our responsible gaming policy and the Dutch 

Prevention of money laundering and financing 

of terrorism Act (Wwft) are designed specifically 

for that purpose. 

AUDIT

SUPERVISORY BOARD

EXECUTIVE 
BOARD

NORTH NETHERLANDS

Amsterdam Centre
Amsterdam West-Sloterdijk

Enschede
Groningen

Leeuwarden
Scheveningen

Utrecht
Zandvoort

SOUTH NETHERLANDS

Breda
Eindhoven
Nijmegen

Rotterdam
Valkenburg

Venlo

GAMING 
& 

CASINO 
SERVICES 

B.V.

FINANCE & CONTROL

INFORMATION SERVICES

SECURITY & RESPONSIBLE GAMING

PURCHASING, RISK, PMO

CORPORATE LEGAL & COMPLIANCE
Secretary to the Board 

GAMING & SERVICES

HUMAN RESOURCES

MARKETING & E-COMMERCE

CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS

WORKS COUNCIL
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MISSION & STRATEGY

MISSIONVISION STRATEGYAMBITION

We provide the most 
exciting gaming 
experience, always 
welcoming and engaged.

Gaming is a part of life. We understand the 
needs of our guests 
like no other and 
exceed expectations.

We develop long-term, 
personal relationships 
with our guests. 

Our strategy is based on 
five pillars: 

MISSION & STRATEGY

employees
society
guests
innovation 
partnerships
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STRATEGIC 
    PILLARS

Clear division of tasks between head office 
and casinos 

Sustainable and up-to-date employment terms  

Leadership and talent development 

SOCIETY 
High-grade responsible gaming policy

Social engagement through hospitality, 
social connection and local relevance  

Attention for sustainability 

Innovating and improving 
concepts and products  

Realising online proposition  

Choice for omni-channel approach

PARTNERSHIPS

EMPLOYEES

GUESTS
Investing in guest experience  

Optimum and responsible use of data

Respond to the wishes of new generations  
INNOVATION

Strategic partnerships 
strengthen Holland Casino 
in a dynamic market 

STRATEGIC
         PILLARS

STRATEGISCHE 
        PIJLERS

Heldere rolverdeling tussen 
hoofdkantoor en vestigingen 

Duurzame en moderne arbeidsvoorwaarden 

Leiderschaps- en talentontwikkeling

SAMENLEVING
Hoogwaardig preventiebeleid 

Maatschappelijk betrokken door hospitality, 
sociale verbinding en lokale relevantie 

Aandacht voor duurzaamheid 

Vernieuwing en verbetering 
van concepten en producten 

Realiseren online propositie 

Kiezen voor omnichannel

PARTNERSHIPS

MEDEWERKER

GAST
Investeren in gastbeleving 

Optimaal en verantwoord gebruik maken van data 

Inspelen op wensen nieuwe generaties 
INNOVATIE

Strategische partnerships 
versterken Holland Casino in 
een dynamische markt 
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VALUE CREATION MODELVALUE CREATION MODEL 

Engaged 
Surprising 

Friendly 
Reliable 

STRATEGIC PILLARS 
Employees 
Society 
Guest 

Innovation
Partnerships

CORE VALUES 

BUSINESS ACTIVITY 

ENGAGED EMPLOYEES 

OFFER OUR GUESTS A 
9+ EXPERIENCE 

RETURN FOR OUR 
SHAREHOLDERS 

GOOD REPUTATION AND 
STRONG BRAND  

REALISING SOCIAL OBJECTIVES 
BY CREATING A SAFE GAMING 
ENVIRONMENT 

OUTPUT

Slot machines Gaming tablesFood & Beverage

INPUT

INTELLECTUAL
Responsible gaming policy 
Hospitality
Internal education / training
In-house / own concepts / innovation

PRODUCTION TOOLS 
Gaming tables 
Slot machines 
F&B
Casinos 

HUMAN
Service-oriented employees
Execution responsible gaming policy

FINANCIAL
Solid financial position

SOCIAL AND RELATIONSHIPS 
Embedded in society 
Active relationship / contact with stakeholders
Licences 
Government / legislation 
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REPORT OF 
THE EXECUTIVE 
BOARD
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Holland Casino continued to build on its strong foundations in 2018, with the 
opening of new casinos, a sharp focus on our guest experience and a strong internal 
organisation. CEO Erwin van Lambaart and CFO Ruud Bergervoet explain.

How would you describe this past year?
Erwin van Lambaart: I’ve referred to this past 

period as a triple jump. Following a period of 

crisis, we returned to a structurally upward 

line in 2017 and defined our HC2020 strategy. 

Last year, we continued our recovery at  

full throttle and we made progress in the 

realisation of our strategy. And we remained 

on course, despite of catching up we had to do. 

We will have to make ‘the leap’ in 2019/2020, 

to actually make us the best casino operator  

in Europe. This will place enormous demands 

on the resilience of our organisation. Our 

employees deserve a huge compliment for  

the fact that we continued to perform well  

in these dynamic times. 

We invested more than EUR 56 million in the 

new-build casino and the renovation of other 

casinos, plus slot machines, gaming concepts, 

our future online platform and system and 

process improvements. The (re-)opening of 

our casinos in Groningen and Amsterdam 

West-Sloterdijk will make a significant 

contribution to the continued growth of our 

results in 2019. The unprecedented long, 

warm summer period obviously had an 

impact on the number of visits. However, we 

were able to largely compensate for that in the 

second half of the year, partly on the back of 

targeted guest promotions and campaigns. 

That was quite an achievement. Our NPS  

score (guest satisfaction) also remains high.

Ruud Bergervoet: Last year was a year in 

which we returned to calmer waters and 

worked on our priorities with renewed focus. 

We were able to execute our 2020 strategy 

without any unexpected hurdles, which was 

great. The good thing is that we were able to 

accelerate the process and make investments, 

while our results remained solid.   

What do you consider the highlights  
of 2018?
Van Lambaart: From Las Vegas to Monaco, 

casinos are asking themselves: how do we 

appeal to the next generation? I am very 

proud of the concept we developed in-house: 

the Experience Zone in Utrecht. This is a tailor-

made concept for new players that includes 

explanations of games, reduced stakes and 

         We have to 
        make a leap 
                    in 2019

READY FOR
         THE FUTURE

/2020.
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‘Great to see our 
colleagues in  
Groningen have  
a ‘home’ again 
after the fire.’

entertainment. The atmosphere, setting and experience are 

very deliberately different from the rest of our offerings. This 

concept is very distinctive and it has been highly successful. 

You know it’s special when people from our peer casinos all 

over Europe are now visiting us to see how successful this 

concept is. I also look back with a great deal of pleasure to  

the very stylish opening of our new casino Amsterdam 

West-Sloterdijk, something our 1,500 invitees are still talking 

about to this day. 

Our return to Groningen was a unique achievement. Within  

16 months, we put together an atmospheric, temporary casino 

on Sontplein, the first pop-up casino in the world. It is great to 

see how our 15 colleagues have found a ‘home’ again after the 

fire in 2017. That was a very emotional moment for our 

employees, who have been remarkably flexible in working at 

other casinos after the fire. We also renovated our casino in 

Valkenburg, broke ground for our new casino in Venlo and 

prepared the site for the new casino in Utrecht. In other words, 

we moved full steam ahead.

We are also gaining more and more recognition for our 

achievements. Nijmegen won the ‘best casino in the  

Netherlands’ award. We climbed to third from ninth place  

in our category in the MT500 list of best companies in the 

Netherlands, ahead of companies like Starbucks and Pathé 

cinemas. I’m also hearing more and more talk about  

Holland Casino being considered a top company. That makes 

us proud, but we need to stay modest and continue to take the 

right steps in the years to come. 

Bergervoet: We also completed a lot of important work behind 

the scenes last year. We completed a number of financially and 

operationally complex projects. We finalised the acquisition  

of the service activities of Gaming Support B.V. and we are  

very pleased with how these activities have been integrated.  

We replaced old systems and processes and improved our IT 

support for the casinos. Plus we made serious investments in 

the renewal of our games: we replaced no less than a sixth of 

our slot machines in 2018, so our guests can enjoy the latest in 

games. That is exactly what we stand for, after all.

We also made progress in the way we work with each other. 

We’ve set up multidisciplinary teams in which colleagues from 

different departments work together on specific components of 

our strategy. Each of these teams helps to improve our guests’ 

experience – the so-called guest journey – when they visit 

Holland Casino. This journey will look quite different in the 

future, mainly due to digitalisation and the omni-channel 

approach. 

These results do not come out of nowhere.  
Which internal developments are behind them?
Van Lambaart: The Executive Board, management and 

employees are now closer to each other. We are more unified 

than ever. And we have made major improvements in the 

cooperation with the works council. That creates trust.  

We worked together on a new form of openness in which we 

don’t always have to agree with each other but we can always 

discuss things openly and constructively. The final outstanding 

issues from the collective labour agreement have been opened 

up to discussion and that has created an atmosphere of calm. 

We also devoted attention to the connection with the middle 

management.

We improved the position of shift leaders, who form a crucial 

link in our operations, partly through the organisation of Shift 

leader days. We used those to actively seek a dialogue and 

made them a real part of our strategy.
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Bergervoet: I can see the distance between head office and 

locations shrinking. This is partly the result of intensive 

cooperation on projects and innovations, of sharing results 

and successes, and because of the growing shared trust that  

we are all working towards the same objectives. We have also 

taken steps to improve the coordination of our marketing 

campaigns. The new nationwide campaign ‘the thrill of the 

game’ was innovative and put us on the map much more 

explicitly. Linking our IT, marketing and privacy policy also 

makes us more competitive. It creates a healthy balance and 

ensures that we can provide the best possible service to our 

guests responsibly and safely. 

Which lessons from 2018 are you taking into 2019? 
Van Lambaart: Appreciation and attention for our regular 

guests remains important. We still have to grow in terms of 

new guests, so inflow, flow-through and hospitality are the key 

words for 2019. And we will be keeping a very close eye on how 

the growing competition affects us. We will also continue the 

dialogue with every part of our company.

Bergervoet: We can still improve the responsiveness of the 

Company, while simultaneously increasing the focus on our 

priorities. We now have a solid foundation, so now it’s time  

to make our organisation even more effective and flexible to 

ensure we can compete effectively with other providers. 

How difficult is it to stay on course if the (political) 
environment changes? 
Bergervoet: At the moment, it’s unclear whether the govern-

ment will actually liberalise the market, but we are expected  

to be ready for it. And in the meantime, regulatory pressure is 

increasing. 

Whichever way the 
political winds blow, 
we want to be the 
best casino operator 
in Europe.

What we are seeing in general is that our  

room for manoeuvre and our room for 

entrepreneurship seem to be getting smaller 

and smaller. Even after a possible privatisation 

and the opening up of the online gaming 

market, we will be faced with even tighter 

secondary legislation. The gaming tax has 

been raised temporarily and the prevention 

agreement will put even stricter limitations  

on smoking in the future. We discourage 

smoking at our casinos, as the health of our 

guests and our employees is a priority, but 

that measure will still affect us.

Van Lambaart: Our strategy is solid. We are 

doing what we have to do and we are anti-

cipating future developments. Whichever way 

the political winds blow, we want to be the 

best casino operator in Europe: the most 

hospitable, innovative and safe. That is our 

ambition and nothing will change that.  

We will have to anticipate and respond to all 

kinds of developments and legislation that 

affect us. It is up to us and our colleagues to 

take our healthy company into the future.  

To achieve that, we want to be able to operate 

responsibly and work together on a company 

where élan, innovation, experience and 

reliability go hand in hand. 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(x millions of euro) 2018 2017

Revenue Table games 265.8 255.9

Revenue Slot machines 340.0 332.2

Gaming and non-gaming tips 23.0 23.6

Food & Beverage revenue 24.4 23.6

Other income 3.3 3.9

Revenue before gaming tax 656.5 639.2

Gaming tax -182.4 -170.5

Net revenue 474.1 468.7

Insurance claim 11.4 29.0

Total revenue 485.5 497.7

Depreciation and impairments -32.7 -43.3

Employee benefits -241.6 -225.8

Other operating expenses -129.0 -131.1

Operating expenses -403.3 -400.2

Operating result 82.2 97.5

Financial income and expenses 0.4 0.0

Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 0.1 0.5

Result before corporate income tax 82.7 98.0

Corporate income tax (VPB) -23.2 -24.5

Result after corporate income tax 59.5 73.5

CALCULATION EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation)

(x millions of euro) 2018 2017

Result before corporate income tax 82.7 98.0

Financial income and expenses -0.4 0.0

Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of tax -0.1 -0.5

Depreciation and impairments 32.7 43.3

EBITDA 114.9 140.8

FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENTS
Revenue 

Gross revenue before gaming tax came in at EUR 656.5 million, 

an increase of EUR 17.3 million compared to 2017  

(EUR 639.2 million). The number of visits declined slightly  

to 5.7 million in 2018 (2017: 5.8 million), while average 

spending per visit increased by 4.6% to EUR 114 in 2018,  

from EUR 109 in 2017. 

Revenue from Table games, including the revenue from  

Multi Roulette machines, came in EUR 9.9 million or 3.9% 

higher at EUR 265.8 million in 2018 (2017: EUR 255.9 million). 

The revenue from Slot machines was EUR 7.8 million or 2.3% 

higher at EUR 340.0 million in 2018 (2017: EUR 332.2 million), 

partly driven by the opening of the Amsterdam West-Sloterdijk 

casino and the replacement, renewal and innovation of  

slot machines. 

Gaming and non-gaming tips (including tips for F&B and  

Front Office activities) were down EUR 0.6 million at  

EUR 23.0 million (2017: EUR 23.6 million). The Food & 

Beverage revenue came in EUR 0.8 million higher at  

EUR 24.4 million.

The income of EUR 11.4 million pertains to the remainder  

of the insurance claim in connection with the fire in  

Groningen (2017: EUR 29.0 million). See pages 86 and 87 of  

the financial statements for more information on the financial 

impact of the fire in Groningen.

Expenses

Operating expenses were up 0.8% or EUR 3.1 million at  

EUR 403.3 million in 2018 (2017: EUR 400.2 million).
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As of 2018, the participation in Gaming & Casino Services B.V. 

(GCS) is included in the consolidation, which accounts for some 

of the increase in the following expenses. 

Staff costs increased to EUR 241.6 million in 2018, an increase 

of EUR 15.8 million (7%) from EUR 225.8 million in 2017. This 

increase was due to an increase in the number of employees 

(FTEs) to 2,920 at year-end 2018 (49 of whom are employed at 

GCS), from 2,708 at year-end 2017, in combination with a 2018 

salary increase under the collective labour agreement.

Operating expenses declined by 1.6% or EUR 2.1 million to  

EUR 129.0 million in 2018, from EUR 131.1 million a year earlier. 

The higher cost of premises (EUR 2.9 million) and higher 

marketing costs (EUR 3.0 million) were offset by lower other 

expenses in 2018. In 2017, this item included the one-off 

transfer tax for the conversion of the Company from a 

foundation to an N.V. (public limited company). The lower  

operating costs (EUR 2.4 million) were primarily due to the 

lower maintenance costs resulting from the acquisition of the 

participation in GCS, which is responsible for the maintenance 

of the slot machines. This pertains to a shift from maintenance 

costs to personnel expenses.

In 2018, depreciation and impairments came in  

EUR 10.6 million lower than in 2017. This was due to a  

number of impairments in 2017 primarily related to the fire in 

Groningen (EUR 8.0 million) and an impairment on previously 

made investments for our online proposition (EUR 3.8 million).

A grating roulette cylinder or malfunction in the Mega Millions? We can simply fix that ourselves. 
Since 2018, Holland Casino has had its own maintenance arm for gaming tables and slot 
machines. The people at Gaming & Casino Services B.V. (GCS) carry out all installation,  
maintenance and services activities on slot machines, gaming tables, casino signs and  
accessories for Holland Casino.  

Holland Casino had and still has a stake of 40% in parent company Gaming Support B.V.  
GCS, which is based in Rotterdam, is the result of a demerger from Gaming Support B.V.  
Since 2000, this company carried out maintenance and services activities on Holland Casino’s 
slot machines and table games on an exclusive basis. Holland Casino has now increased its 
interest in GCS to 60%, from 40%. 

In 2017, Holland Casino evaluated its needs with respect to maintenance and services and the 
form of the cooperation. Now that the new GCS works exclusively for Holland Casino, it is easier 
to align and automate processes, and inventories of spare parts can be maintained more 
effectively and at lower cost. This creates cost savings for both parties. Gaming Support B.V.  
can now also focus more effectively on its own business. 

Maintenance and service 
in our ‘own’ hands 

GAMING TAX

(x millions of euros) 2018 2017

Gaming tax Table games 80.0 74.2

Gaming tax Slot machines 102.4 96.3

Total gaming tax 182.4 170.5
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Operating result 

The result before corporate income tax declined to  

EUR 82.7 million, a sharp drop of EUR 15.3 million compared  

to 2017 (EUR 98.0 million). This decline was largely due to  

the lower revenue with respect to the insurance claim  

Holland Casino received (EUR 11.4 million in 2018, from  

EUR 29.0 million in 2017) and an increase in personnel costs  

of EUR 15.8 million. This was offset by higher net revenue of 

EUR 5.4 million (net revenue would have been EUR 12.1 million 

higher at an unchanged gaming tax rate), a decline of  

EUR 2.1 million in operating costs and a EUR 10.6 million 

reduction in depreciation and impairment costs. 

Holland Casino has been subject to corporate income tax  

since 1 January 2016. The result after taxes came in at  

EUR 59.5 million in 2018 (2017: EUR 73.5 million).

Holland Casino pays the State a gaming tax of 30.1% (up to and 

including 2018, this was 29.0%) on the monthly revenue from 

Table games and Slot machines. The 1.1% increase in the 

gaming tax rate meant we paid an extra EUR 6.7 million in 

gaming tax in 2018, which had a direct impact on the gross 

operating result. 

The actual payment of gaming tax over a financial year 

deviates from the figures above, as payments are made a 

month in arrears. In addition to the payment of gaming tax, 

Holland Casino is also legally liable to pay a gaming levy.  

The income from the gaming levy is used to finance the  

Dutch Gaming Commission so it can carry out its  

super visory tasks. In 2018, the total gaming levy  

amounted to EUR 1.0 million (2017: EUR 0.9 million). 

Investments 

In 2018, Holland Casino invested  

EUR 53.3 million in property, plant and 

equipment. These were investments in 

construction and renovation projects, mainly 

those in Groningen, Valkenburg and Venlo and 

other renovation projects (EUR 22.5 million), 

but also in regular replacement investments  

(EUR 12.9 million). In addition, we invested 

EUR 17.9 million in new slot machines  

(2017: EUR 9.9 million). 

Financial position

Solvency 

Equity had increased to EUR 222.8 million by year-end 2018, 

from EUR 211.3 million a year earlier. This was due in part to 

the addition of the undistributed result from 2018 (result 

before remittance of profits) to the equity and the addition of 

GCS, plus the remittance of EUR 48.2 million from the profits 

for 2017. This raised the solvency ratio to 65.1% (2017: 63.9%).

Financing

The existing credit facility was changed in September 2018.  

The total credit facility of EUR 140 million was reduced to  

EUR 120 million, none of which was used in 2017 and 2018.  

The term of the facility was extended by five years, with an 

option of two additional extensions of one year each. We also 

negotiated improvements to various terms, partly due to a 

reduction in the interest margin and the reduction in the 

number of bank covenants. The credit facility has been entered 

into with a consortium of banks comprising ABN AMRO (50%) 

and ING (50%). Holland Casino will use this facility primarily 

for the new-build projects in Venlo and Utrecht. We refer to 

page 117 of the financial statements for an explanation of the 

financial instruments.

Equity 

In 2018, Holland Casino paid a sum of EUR 48.2 million in 

dividend to the State. In 2018, we reached agreements on the 

system for determining the amount of annual dividend to be 

paid. The definitive amount of dividend is determined after the 

balance sheet date (EUR 56.0 million). The remaining result 

(EUR 13,5 million) will be added to the equity.
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MANOUCK KWAKERNAAT: 

‘ I SEE SMILING FACES 
EVERY EVENING’

Manouck Kwakernaat is an enthusiastic 
ambassador for the Experience Zone in 
Utrecht, the new gaming zone we developed 
especially for enthusiastic first-time players.

‘A relaxed atmosphere and vibe that puts people 
at ease and makes it easy for them to ask for 
explanations of the games and have a chat with 
one of us. That is one of the reasons why the 
Experience Zone works so well. I see smiling 
faces every evening and guests tell me they 
have such a great time. That makes me proud. 
The Experience Zone is up and running.  
We worked hard to make it all happen. I had  
to really step on it, because of course I was  
also still working my ‘normal’ hours at the 
traditional tables. But if I go for something,  
I commit 100%. That’s just the way I am.

In the Experience Zone, our colleagues are the 
entertainers for our guests. That has to appeal 
to you. We were helped by a great external 
trainer, and now we can work as a team to make 
every evening a festive event. I want to take that 
enthusiasm to other casinos, so that we can 
start using this concept there too.’

2018 HIGHLIGHTS / EXPERIENCE ZONE
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PLAY TOGETHER, SHARE TOGETHER

New guests, new chances, new future. In 
early July 2018, we opened the Experience 
Zone in Utrecht, a Holland Casino innova-
tion in the field of gaming and experience. 

Everyone should be given the opportunity to 
experience the thrill of the game in a low- 
threshold manner. That is the idea behind 
the Experience Zone, which opened its 
doors in Utrecht last year. The innovation is 
very much in line with the trend of playing 
together with friends. Our ambition is to 
expand the Experience Zone to other 
casinos.  

Every Friday and Saturday evening, guests 
can play Roulette, Black Jack, Diceball  
and other table games with relatively low 
minimum stakes and extra attention 
devoted to explaining all the aspects of the 

games on offer. In the live game arena, the 
‘Stadium’, new players can play with friends 
or other visitors, and with guidance from 
our hosts. The latter are there to support 
and motivate the guests, but also to make 
sure they have fun. We devoted a great deal 
of attention to the design of the Experience 
Zone, which has an atmospheric and trendy 
look and feel. The central bar is where 
cocktails are produced and where guests 
can place orders for the likes of like finger 
foods and snacks. And if you want to share 
a photo on social media, you can do that 
too, because the game zone is the only area 
of the Casino where taking and sharing 
pictures is allowed. 

Other casinos are also developing initiatives 
to respond to the wishes of new groups of 
guests. For instance, in Valkenburg we have 
the Welcome Zone, where guests can play 
with low stakes. And guests can now play 
Live Bingo together in Amsterdam 
West-Sloterdijk, as well as in Breda. 
Holland Casino intends to open at least 
three full Experience Zones in its casinos  
in 2019.

The innovation is a good 
fit with the trend of  
playing with friends.

2018 HIGHLIGHTS / EXPERIENCE ZONE

6 JULY 
2018
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Holland Casino opened its first casino in Zandvoort in 
1976. The Dutch government wanted to offer a legal 
and regulated alternative to illegal gambling. A lot has 
changed since then and Holland Casino is constantly 
changing and adapting to its evolving environment. 

Political, economic and technological developments have a 

major impact on Holland Casino’s future and its licence to 

operate. Our environment and the needs of our guests are 

constantly changing. To maintain and strengthen our leading 

position in the casino market, we have no choice but to swiftly 

anticipate and respond to those developments. Over the past 

few years, we have been working on our strategic long-term 

plan HC2020. Continuously monitoring our environment  

puts us in a position to anticipate and respond to key trends 

and changing market conditions. In 2018, we identified the 

following relevant developments and related challenges in  

our environment:

• draft legislation modernisation casino regime;

• draft legislation remote gaming;

• data technology and privacy legislation;

• ageing of the population.

In our strategy, we describe how we deal with these trends and 

changing market conditions. In the Risk management section 

of this annual report, we explain the measures we take to deal 

with the associated risks.

Modernisation casino regime 

Changes to gaming laws and regulations will have a major 

impact on Holland Casino. The current Gaming Act (Wet op  

de kansspelen – Wok) is already more than 50 years old.  

The Dutch government announced plans to modernise this law 

in its coalition agreement back in 2012. On 12 February 2019, 

the Justice and Security Minister halted the discussion of the 

legislation in the Upper House. The current draft legislation,  

if adopted, would effectively end Holland Casino’s 40-year 

public sector monopoly. The cabinet still intends to liberalise 

the gaming market and cautiously open it up to new parties.  

At the time of writing (spring 2019), it is unclear if the change 

in legislation will be put to the Upper House and what form it 

will take if it is. 

Challenge Holland Casino

It is important for Holland Casino to retain sufficient competi-

tive strength and flexibility to operate in this rapidly changing 

playing field. These changes and uncertainties are reflected in 

our strategic choices and our approach to risk. The Executive 

Board is in regular contact with the Justice and Security 

Ministry and the Finance Ministry to discuss the progress  

of the proposed liberalisation of the market. We are also 

preparing for a range of potential scenarios.

OUR ENVIRONMENT

We must be able  
to respond swiftly 
to developments to 
maintain our leading 
position.
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Introduction Remote Gaming Act

For Holland Casino, the introduction of the Remote Gaming  

Act (Koa) will effectively legalise online gaming services. It also 

means that we would be able to enter the online casino  

market once we have obtained a licence. The Dutch House of 

Representatives voted in July 2016 to adopt the draft legislation 

and the Dutch Upper House followed suit on 19 February 2019. 

The draft legislation includes additional measures regarding 

licence terms and conditions and the reduction of gambling 

addiction. 

Holland Casino will apply for a licence from the Dutch Gaming 

Commission as soon as this is possible. We expect this to be 

sometime in mid-2020. Providers will have to meet the strict 

conditions set out by the Dutch Gaming Commission to qualify 

for a licence. 

Challenge Holland Casino

We see opportunities in operating an online casino and see  

it as our social responsibility to offer safe and responsible 

gaming. With the unique combination of land-based and 

online casinos, we are targeting an omni-channel strategy.  

This will combine a unique and innovative product range and a 

clear focus on our Responsible Gaming Policy (Preventiebeleid 

Kansspelen – PBK). As a trusted party, Holland Casino wants  

to raise the bar in terms of responsible gaming policy. Just as 

we already do in our current 14 physical casinos. Another 

challenge for Holland Casino is that it will be competing  

with a number of foreign players in the online market. 

Data technology and privacy legislation

Our guests’ and employees’ right to privacy and to the 

protection of their personal data is currently laid down in the 

European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), 

which came into force on 25 May 2016. In the course of its 

day-to-day operations, Holland Casino processes the personal 

data of its employees, casino guests and the visitors to its 

website. The processing is the personal data is subject to 

privacy and data protection legislation.

The privacy legislation (GDPR) was tightened last year and 

Holland Casino tightened its own privacy policy in line with 

these changes. One of the effects of the GDPR is that our  

guests and employees have more control over their own 

personal data. 

We drew up a concrete plan of action on the basis of a GDPR 

Gap Assessment conducted by an external party. As a result, 

Holland Casino has been compliant since 25 May 2018. This 

means we are transparent about how we use personal data,  

we ask permission for this use and we only store data that is 

specifically needed for our business objectives. 

Holland Casino has formulated privacy principles, put a solid 

privacy policy in place and appointed a Privacy Officer. We can 

now state that we are in compliance with current privacy 

regulations.

The GDPR gives our guests and 
employees more control over 
their own information.
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Challenge Holland Casino

Holland Casino wants to use the available data safely and 

responsibly. We want to get to know our guests even better  

and execute our Responsible Gaming Policy (PBK) even more 

effectively. And we will of course always operate within the 

parameters of privacy laws and regulations.

Ageing of the population 

The proportion of older people in the overall population is 

increasing (ageing of the population). This has a range of 

consequences for our society.

Holland Casino’s challenge

The average age of both our employees and our guests will 

increase in the years ahead. This trend means we will have  

to make strategic choices. In 2017, Holland Casino reached 

agreement on a new collective labour agreement, which 

includes a number of important agreements on the sustain-

able employability of our employees and employment 

continuity. We reached agreement on the finer details of  

this sustainable, future-proof agreement with our social 

partners in 2018. 

Our current gaming guests are and will remain our top priority. 

But in addition to this, we will develop and test innovative 

concepts we can use to attract new target groups. One example 

of this is the highly successful Experience Zone we launched in 

our Utrecht casino in 2018. 

The ageing of the population will also lead to an increase in the 

number of lonely elderly people. Holland Casino considers it as 

part of its social responsibility to help provide meaningful and 

social ways to spend time. Several of our casinos are already 

doing this, for instance by organising bingo evenings and 

dinners in care homes. 
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Holland Casino attaches a great deal of importance to the 
values, interests and requirements of all our stakeholders. 
We consider it important to maintain an open dialogue 
and conduct formal and informal discussions with our 
stakeholders. This is how we learn what our stakeholders 
expect from us and how we can meet those expectations. 
We monitor and evaluate our stakeholder management on 
a regular basis.

Below you will find an overview of our main stakeholder groups. 

We outline the contacts we had with these groups in 2018, as well 

as the actions we took as a result of those contacts.

STAKEHOLDER
   OVERVIEW

REGULATORS

Expectations 

Regulators such as the Dutch Gaming 

Commission (Ksa), the Dutch Central Bank 

(DNB) and the Dutch Data Protection Agency 

expect us to make sure our guests play 

responsibly and safely. The regulators also 

expect Holland Casino to abide by current laws 

and regulations. This includes an adequate 

Responsible Gaming Policy, an anti-money 

laundering policy and compliance with the 

GDPR.

Type of contact 

Holland Casino has quarterly meetings with 

the Dutch Gaming Commission and scheduled 

meetings at administrative level. We also have 

regular ad hoc meetings. In addition to the 

execution of the Responsible Gaming Policy, 

the Gaming Commission also supervises 

compliance with the Dutch Prevention of 

money laundering and the financing of 

terrorism Act (Wwft). Holland Casino has 

semi-annual meetings with the Dutch Central 

Bank (DNB) and every six months we deliver a 

European Central Bank (ECB) Decree 2010/14 

report. Contacts with the Data Protection 

Agency are on an ad hoc basis.

Topics of discussion in 2018

• Compliance with Dutch gaming laws and 

regulations and financial supervision 

legislation (Wft, Wwft and Sanctions Act)

• Draft legislation on remote gaming

• Meeting with new executive of the Gaming 

Commission

• Game innovation (pilots and skill-based 

gaming)

• Reports on incidents and complaints

• Outcome relevant audit reports on the 2018 

licence year

• Advertising and recruitment activities

• Responsible Gaming

Response

• Holland Casino provides the Dutch Gaming 

Commission (Ksa) with quarterly reports, 

including an overview of income and  

expenses, developments in the field of Table 

games and Slot machines and information 

on themed campaigns and incidents. 

• Holland Casino submitted various audit 

reports and provided an oral explanation  

of same. 

• Holland Casino and the Gaming Commission 

are in talks on Responsible Gaming. 

• Holland Casino reports annually to the 

Gaming Commission on the embedding of 

integrity and trustworthiness of employees 

in the organisation. 

• Holland Casino submitted consultation 

responses and in doing so contributed to 

projects such as the ‘Market scan land-based 

gaming 2018’.
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SHAREHOLDER

Expectations 

Holland Casino is a State shareholding and  

the Finance Ministry is the 100% shareholder. 

The ministry expects us to comply with the 

requirements that apply to State share-

holdings and licence holders. It also expects 

Holland Casino to take any steps required to 

enable the proposed liberalisation of the 

gaming market. 

Type of contact

The Executive Board has regular contacts with 

the Finance Ministry. And there are periodic 

contacts between the Finance Ministry and  

the chairman of the Supervisory Board.  

The Finance Ministry and the Holland Casino 

Executive Board have scheduled meetings 

every quarter. In addition, these parties 

consult on an ad hoc basis regarding specific 

subjects. A steering group including represent-

atives of the Finance Ministry, the Justice and 

Security Ministry and Holland Casino also 

meets regularly to consult on the proposed 

liberalisation of the gaming market and  

the potential subsequent privatisation of 

Holland Casino. 

Topics of discussion in 2018 

• Holland Casino’s financial performance

• Dividend policy

• Change to credit facility

• Evaluation and remuneration of the 

members of the Executive Board and 

Supervisory Board

• Proposed liberalisation of the gaming 

market

• Proposed privatisation of Holland Casino

• Business cases (development new casinos 

and renovation projects)

Response

• The aforementioned consultations ensure 

that Holland Casino can cooperate with the 

shareholder both transparently and to the 

full satisfaction of both parties. 

FINANCIERS

Expectations 

Financiers such as banks expect Holland 

Casino to have an adequate administrative 

organisation and internal controls, to be 

transparent regarding its financial perfor-

mance and reporting and to comply with 

covenants, legislation and regulations.

Type of contact 

The CFO has regular contacts with the banks.

Topics of discussion in 2018

• Financing structure and refinancing

• Market developments

• Liberalisation of the gaming market

Response

• Holland Casino shares its quarterly results 

with the banks

• Holland Casino informs the banks on the 

realisation of the bank covenants

GAMING SECTOR

Expectations 

Major players in the gaming sector, including 

organisations such as the European Casino 

Association, the Dutch Gaming Platform 

(Nederlands Kansspelplatform) and foreign 

casinos, expect Holland Casino to comply with 

gaming legislation and regulations, just like 

other players in the sector. Other parties 

expect Holland Casino to serve as an example 

through its Responsible Gaming Policy and to 

share its knowledge of same with the sector.

Type of contact 

Holland Casino consults regularly with all 

national and international organisations, 

primarily to exchange know-how and experi-

ence and discuss trends and developments.

Topics of discussion in 2018 

• Trends and developments in the range of 

gaming options 

• Draft legislation remote gaming 

• Secondary regulations based on remote 

gaming draft legislation

• Gaming tax

• Responsible Gaming Policy

Response

• Holland Casino has a seat on the board of 

the European Casino Association.

• Holland Casino representatives regularly 

speak at national and international  

conferences in the field of gaming.
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OTHER GOVERNMENT 
INSTITUTIONS

Expectations

The Justice and Security Ministry and the 

Dutch Gaming Commission expect Holland 

Casino to operate in line with the objectives of 

Dutch gaming policy guidelines. The ministry 

and parliament also expect Holland Casino to 

share its current knowledge of the gaming 

market. 

Local authorities expect Holland Casino to 

comply with relevant directives and permit 

requirements when opening or renovating 

local casinos. Provincial and local authorities 

expect Holland Casino to create employment 

for the region and that it strives to be a good 

employer.

Type of contact 

Holland Casino has regular, scheduled 

consultations with the Justice and Security 

Ministry and the various spokespersons in 

parliament. 

The local casino managers and Head Office 

employees have regular contacts with local 

authorities at official and administrative 

levels. The CEO also has ad hoc contacts with 

local authorities at administrative level. 

Topics of discussion in 2018 

• Dutch Gaming Act and secondary regulations 

to be developed 

SOCIETY

Expectations 

The vast majority of our guests greatly enjoy 

an evening out at our casinos. We realise  

that what we provide has its risks, such as 

gambling addiction and money laundering. 

We are very aware of those risks and consider 

it a given that we do our utmost to limit  

those risks. Society expects us to accept our 

responsibility in society. Holland Casino 

chooses to take that responsibility beyond 

mere compliance with laws and regulations. 

Type of contact 

Holland Casino regularly exchanges expertise 

with care providers, experts, researchers and 

relevant organisations about its Responsible 

Gaming Policy. Holland Casino also initiated 

an advisory group, in which we cooperate with 

the Amsterdam UMC teaching hospital, 

Radboud University Nijmegen, the Trimbos 

Institute, ASSISSA, Jellinek, HANDS and the 

AGOG foundation. Holland Casino also actively 

engages with schools and other educational 

institutions. 

Topics of discussion in 2018 

• Responsible Gaming Policy 

• Exchange of know-how on addiction care 

• The opening of the online gaming market 

and the Responsible Gaming Policy 

• Pilot with a view to rolling out extended 

opening hours 

• Responsible Gaming Policy 

• Draft legislation remote gaming and the 

consequences for the Responsible  

Gaming Policy 

• Draft legislation Modernisation Gaming 

Casinos regime 

• Promotional gaming code 

• Construction of casinos in Amsterdam 

West-Sloterdijk, Venlo, Utrecht and  

temporary casino in Groningen 

• Accessibility casinos 

• Charitable organisations and social  

initiatives 

• Building and operating permits

 

Response 

• The Justice and Security Ministry is part of a 

steering group with the Finance Ministry and 

Holland Casino, which regularly discusses 

the proposed liberalisation of the gaming 

market.

• Holland Casino makes an active contribution 

to the consultations regarding secondary 

regulations resulting from the current draft 

legislation.

• Casinos and building and renovation projects 

are determined in close consultation with 

provincial and local authorities. In 2018, 

Holland Casino reached agreement with  

the local authorities in Groningen on a 

temporary casino.

• Attention for sustainability and CSR 

• Development teaching programmes and 

guidance for students 

• Combatting fraud and money laundering 

Response

• In consultation with the Dutch addiction 

care and prevention organisation  

Verslavingszorg Nederland, Holland Casino 

has further tightened its Responsible 

Gaming Policy, which now includes earlier 

inter ventions in the case of young adults. 

• Together with scientific and addiction care 

organisations, Holland Casino is developing 

an online Responsible Gaming Policy.

• Targeted investments in sustainability 

measures in the development plans for 

Venlo, Utrecht and Groningen. 

• In 2018, Holland Casino made contributions 

to various national and local causes, 

including the Elfstedenzwemtocht by 

Maarten van der Weijden. 

• Holland Casino works with local senior 

secondary vocational (MBO) schools and 

other educational institutions and provides 

students’ work experience internships.
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Holland Casino conducts annual assessments of its position with respect
to the opportunities and challenges in the market in which it operates.
Below, you will find a summary of our assessment of our key strengths
and weaknesses and opportunities and threats at the end of 2018.

SWOT ANALYSIS

• Strong brand with very high brand recognition 
• Internationally leading Responsible Gaming Policy 
• Expertise in the field of hospitality 
• Market leader 
• Excellent know-how of the industry 
• Stable financial results 
• High-end casinos in A-locations

• Entry to online gaming market
• Partnerships 
•  Expanding product and services portfolio  

through innovation
• Attracting new target groups
• Liberalisation of the gaming market

• Relatively high level of fixed overhead
• Monopolist
• Dependent on political decisions
• Sensitive to economic developments 

STRENGTHS

OPPORTUNITIES

•  Complex organisation in a constantly changing 
market

•  Liberalisation of the gaming market
•  Limitations on innovations and secondary activities
•  Gaming vs. Gambling: game of chance elements in 

(online) games

WEAKNESSES

THREATS
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The materiality matrix shows which aspects are 
material to Holland Casino and its stakeholders and to 
what extent these aspects need to be addressed in the 
annual report. Relevant aspects are assessed on the 
basis of the level of materiality to both the Company 
and its stakeholders.

Holland Casino’s materiality matrix was drawn up on the  

basis of the risk analysis together with input obtained  

during discussions with stakeholders. This is based on  

Holland Casino’s mission, vision, ambition and strategy. 

MATERIALITY MATRIX 2018
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STRATEGIC PILLAR

INNOVATION

EMPLOYEES

GUESTS

PARTNERSHIPS

SOCIETY

OVERALL HOLLAND CASINO

MATERIAL ASPECT
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 2
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 8 Digital transformation

Innovation

Rebuilding and renovation casinos 

Privacy & Security 

Education & Development 

Being a good employer 

Privacy & Security 

Hospitality & guest experience 

Innovation

Safe & responsible gaming 

Changing legislation 

Social engagement 

Compliance

Political decisions 

Profitability 

Competition 

IT infrastructure

Automation of processes

RELATIONSHIP MATERIAL ASPECTS
         AND STRATEGIC PILLARS
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LIZ WEEKERS: 

‘I KNEW RIGHT AWAY:  
THIS IS WHERE I WANT  
TO WORK’
As a young girl, she used to dream about 
working at a casino and now Liz Weekers is 
making that dream a reality in the newly 
opened Holland Casino in Amsterdam 
West-Sloterdijk.

‘I used to think of casinos as places with  
Las Vegas-style glamour, and I was attracted  
to that. But once I started to learn about the 
industry, I realised it is much more than that. 
Holland Casino has a good responsible gaming 
policy, something people in a lot of places 
around the world could learn from.  
When I heard that a new location was opening,  
I immediately knew I wanted to do my internship 
there. Now I’m employed here, partly in the 
marketing & sales department and partly in the 
casino itself. 
The special thing about this location is that 
there are several colleagues with more than  
one role. We have service staff who are also 
croupiers, slot machine staff who help in F&B 
and managers who work in different depart-
ments. That means you get to know the casino 
through and through and it means we can truly 
offer our guests that 9+ experience. In the 
coming year, we will focus mainly on new 
visitors, with our Live Bingo concept. This offers 
new guests a low threshold introduction to the 
casino. I also often work at the Bingo and it 
really is quite an experience. We will be open  
24 hours a day from February 2019. That’s quite 
logical for a city like Amsterdam.’

2018 HIGHLIGHTS / OPENING AMSTERDAM WEST
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CHAMPAGNE FOR NUMBER 14

A trendy interior, the latest games and a 
luxury restaurant: this is all in line with 
Holland Casino’s strategic renewal drive. 

We have our first new casino in 14 years. 
The new casino in Amsterdam West-  
Sloterdijk was made possible by the release 
of the licence for our Schiphol casino. 
We celebrated the official Grand Opening  
in September 2018 with a lightshow, fire 
dancers, Cirque du Soleil-style acrobatics 
and music from artists including Fedde le 
Grand. More than 1,500 guests, VIPs, 
business contacts and Holland Casino 
colleagues walked the red carpet. 

We shared the opening with colleagues 
across the country via a livestream. 
Colleagues and guests in other  
Holland Casinos also joined in the  
celebrations: the grand opening ceremony 
was broadcast live to those casinos, and of 

course we poured our guests a glass of 
champagne. 

The new casino is Holland Casino’s 14th 
location in the Netherlands, with more than 
500 slot machines. Guests can play at the 
latest roulette and blackjack tables and play 
Live Bingo, while a spacious Multi Roulette 
Arena offers our guests the opportunity to 
play along directly with roulette tables in 
other Holland Casino locations. 

Chef Sebastiaan Veenhuizen, winner of the 
prestigious culinary contest ‘Het Glazen 
Kalf’ in 2017, heads the kitchen and has 
opted for a shared dining concept in line 
with the latest leisure and entertainment 
trends. 

We also executed a major modernisation  
of the interior at our Valkenburg casino in 
2018. Thanks to a drastic renovation of the 
gaming room and restaurant at the casino, 
guests can now dine while enjoying a 
spectacular view of the Geul river valley. 
The casino remained open during the 
renovations. In September 2018, we 
organised a range of festive events to  
mark the official opening of the newly 
renovated part of the casino.

The opening was shared 
with colleagues across  
the country via a 
livestream.

2018 HIGHLIGHTS / OPENING AMSTERDAM WEST

27 SEPT 
2018
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TABLE GAMES

The number of gaming tables increased to 448 in  
2018 (2017: 417 tables), following the opening of the 
new casino in Amsterdam West-Sloterdijk and the 
temporary casino in Groningen. We are gradually 
replacing all our gaming tables with the latest models 
of gaming table. 

We expanded the number of Multi Roulette units across our 

casinos in the Netherlands to 873 units in 2018, from 78 the 

previous year. In Multi Roulette, players can use a screen to  

join the game at an American roulette table at a casino of  

their choice. 

New games

Following the success of the new table game Live Bingo in 

Breda, we have now also made the game available in 

Amsterdam West-Sloterdijk. At Holland Casino Utrecht, we 

added Classic Bingo, which was previously only available at  

our Amsterdam Centre casino.

We have now rolled out the Diceball game across the country. 

We added eight Diceball tables and we plan to increase this 

number in 2019. The dice game is a derivative of the well-

known game Craps. In addition to Diceball, Holland Casino 

Venlo now also offers its guests the dice game Casino Barbut, 

which we developed in-house. Casino Barbut is based on the 

Middle Eastern (street) game Barbut.

Easily accessible games for first-time players 

In Utrecht, we opened an Experience Zone in 2018. This lively 

entertainment zone is aimed at novice players. In an arena-

style set-up, it offers guests the chance to play along with 

various live table games including Roulette, Black Jack and 

New brand campaign 
is all about the details 

‘The thrill of the game’: that was the slogan for the new brand campaign Holland Casino 
launched in 2018. This kicked off with a series of innovative TV commercials that highlighted the 
game elements that really matter: the little ball in Roulette, dice and the playing card. This was a 
new approach for us, as Holland Casino had never before given viewers quite such a close-up 
look at gaming.

The campaign harked back to the original power of the Holland Casino brand: the product 
experience. That is what draws both regulars and first-time visitors to our casinos. But how can 
you film that experience? We put advertising agency INDIE to work to find an answer to that 
question. They came up with an ingenious way to bring Holland Casino’s three main table games 
– American Roulette, the game of dice and card games – to life on the screen. 
Holland Casino asked the innovative Swedish director Oskar Wrangö (Volkswagen, Mitsubishi, 
McDonald’s and IKEA) to direct the production. He sought to highlight the crucial role of the 
tiniest details that ultimately determine whether a guest wins or loses by zooming into the 
roulette ball or the edge of the dice to catch the smallest details in extreme close up.  
Minuscule hyper-sensitive cameras and a robotic arm helped make the tension of the moment 
tangible in viewers’ living rooms, right down to the tiny specks of dust taking to the air when the 
dice strikes the table.

We will continue the campaign in 2019, and extend it to focus  
on the experience of an exciting night out at the casino.
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Punto Banco. Croupiers provide the players with help and 

guidance and we use a large video wall to provide instructive 

animations. Our croupiers and other staff explain the rules  

of the various games and the zone offers table games with 

relatively low stakes, such as Diceball. The Experience Zone is 

just one of the innovations Holland Casino is currently 

introducing in the field of gaming and experience. 

We have also launched initiatives for novice players in other 

casinos. For instance, every casino except Amsterdam 

West-Sloterdijk has a Millennial Zone. Depending on the size of 

the casino and other considerations, this zone can be part of 

the main room or located in a separate area. 

Poker tournaments at Holland Casino

Holland Casino once again hosted a number of major poker 

tournaments in 2018. In April, Holland Casino Centre hosted 

the World Poker Tour (WPT) for the fourth time in a row. 

Over the course of a week, a total of 13 different tournaments 

were played, including the Main Event.

Once again, Holland Casino Rotterdam hosted the World Series 

of Poker, the largest and oldest poker event in the world. 

During this event, players competed in 18 different tourna-

ments, including 11 Ring Events with varying buy-ins and 

formats.

At the end of November 2018, Holland Casino Amsterdam 

Centre hosted the 27th edition of the Master Classics of Poker, 

the largest poker event in the Netherlands. Well-known Dutch 

TV presenter and journalist Alberto Stegeman won the 

tournament.

Holland Casino Breda hosted the Dutch Open Poker Series final 

in December, following a year of poker playing in the various 

casinos around the country.

The biggest 
poker event in 

the Netherlands was 
won by TV producer 

Alberto Stegeman.

33

R
EPO

R
T O

F TH
E EX

EC
U

TIV
E BO

A
R

D



To make sure we can always offer our guests a varied and modern range of games, 
Holland Casino constantly updates and refreshes its slot machines. In 2018, we 
replaced 1,002 of our 6,463 slot machines. We also introduced new game varieties 
on 812 existing machines. 

Holland Casino adds branded themes to 

constantly enrich the overall experience of its 

slot machines. In Amsterdam Centre and 

Utrecht, we are running a pilot with machines 

based on the popular television format The 

Voice. Other branded themes include Game  

of Thrones and Monopoly Millionaire.

Since its opening in May 2018, the Amsterdam 

West-Sloterdijk casino has offered more than 

500 slot machines. The temporary casino in 

Groningen is home to 284 slot machines.  

Our casinos in Breda and Nijmegen are 

currently running pilots with tournament  

slot machines, which enable guests to play 

against each other. This adds a competitive 

element to the game.

Following the opening of Amsterdam 

West-Sloterdijk and the temporary casino in 

Groningen, we now have 180 slot machines 

that offer the chance to win a Mega Millions 

Jackpot of EUR 75,000 (stake EUR 1) to at  

least EUR 1 million (stake EUR 5).

In 2018, the jackpot of almost EUR 2.8 million 

was won in Eindhoven. In the course of the 

year, guests won nine smaller jackpots, one of 

EUR 150,000 and eight of EUR 75,000. 

In addition to the Mega Millions Jackpot, six 

casinos have a total of 52 slot machines that 

offer a Tree of Wealth jackpot, with a national 

jackpot starting at EUR 30,000. 

And finally, in Rotterdam we successfully 

completed the pilot with extended opening 

hours for the slot machines. We are currently 

assessing whether we want to introduce these 

extended opening hours at other casinos.  

The extended hours have been in effect in 

Amsterdam West-Sloterdijk since 1 February 

2019. 

SLOT MACHINES

In April 2018, a guest  
won a jackpot of almost  
EUR 2.8 million in Eindhoven.
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To ensure that Holland Casino provides a complete 
guest experience, we continue to innovate on the  
Food & Beverage (F&B) front. We are introducing an 
ever-increasing range of catering concepts that meet 
the wishes and needs of our current and new guests. 
Our ‘Global’ concept is an excellent example of these 
new concepts. 

Following the successful introduction of Global Kitchen in 

Rotterdam, we launched a second variation of the concept in 

our new Amsterdam West-Sloterdijk casino: Global Dining.  

Like Global Kitchen, this concept is based on Asian,  

Mediterranean and Latin American cuisines. Global Dining  

is a more high-end version, offering guests a number of 

extended dining options. 

In 2018, we completely renewed the F&B facilities in  

Valkenburg. We now offer both an à la carte restaurant and a 

brasserie. Plus we opened a bar with large screens so guests 

can watch live sports and other televised events.

Holland Casino continues to invest in its F&B facilities to meet 

the latest demands in our own restaurants. In 2018, we 

renovated and renewed the kitchens in Breda, Nijmegen and 

Zandvoort. The restaurants at all of our casinos have digital 

menu pillars, giving guests easy digital access to the menu in 

four languages.

FOOD & BEVERAGE We are introducing 
an ever-increasing range 

of distinctive catering .
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HUUB PETERS: 

‘I CARRIED MY  
MOTHER WITH ME’ 

Four years ago, Huub Peters, shift leader  
table games in Enschede, lost his mother  
and aunt to cancer in a short space of time. 
When Holland Casino was partnering Maarten 
van der Weijden’s Elfstedenzwemtocht,  
he immediately knew he had to join in. 

’I wasn’t much of a swimmer at all. But I 
became one, thanks to Maarten van der 
Weijden. What a hero, to swim the entire 
Elfstedenzwemtocht to collect money for  
cancer research. I immediately signed up for the 
City Swim in Sloten and began training, both in 
the pool and in a lake. I appealed to colleagues 
and friends for sponsorship via leaflets and 
social media. And it worked. I collected more 
than EUR 2,000, far more than I expected. 

The City Swim in Sloten was cancelled due to 
poor water quality, but thankfully our group of 
13 colleagues was able to join a swim in the  
IJ in Amsterdam. The ijSWIM was hard, but 
crossing the finish line gave me a huge sense  
of satisfaction. I carried my mother and aunt 
with me. They would have loved it.’

2018 HIGHLIGHTS / ELFSTEDENZWEMTOCHT 
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SWIMMING FOR EACH OTHER 
AND FOR ANOTHER
Holland Casino was quick to support 
Maarten van der Weijden in his quest to 
swim the complete ‘Elfstedenzwemtocht’ 
through Friesland. This move is fully in 
line with our goal of making an active 
contribution to a better quality of life 
for everyone.
 
Maarten van der Weijden personally 
collected the cheque at the Holland Casino 
head office. An additional contribution  
came in the form of EUR 19,500 collected 
via the Zip line at the Mysteryland dance 
music festival, which was sponsored by 
Holland Casino. 

An extreme, heroic tour of three days 
without sleep, to collect money for cancer 
research, made Maarten van der Weijden 
the Netherlands’ national hero in the 
summer of 2018. And while he was unable 
to complete the entire tour – he retired  
on doctors’ advice after 2 ½ days, just 
before reaching Dokkum – he did cover  
163 kilo metres and, helped by a huge 

amount of publicity, collected EUR 5 million 
for the Dutch Cancer Society KWF.

Holland Casino employees – from cleaner 
to CEO – managed to raise EUR 37,903 
through sponsored swims in the ijSWIM in 
Amsterdam in September. 

As a ‘founding father’, Holland Casino was 
one of the first organisations to commit to 
Van der Weijden’s cause. The support for 
the swimmer is a seamless fit with  
Holland Casino’s aim to contribute to a 
better society. Our casinos also support 
various local initiatives. In Venlo and 
Nijmegen, for example, we organise  
dinners for lonely elderly people and 
supported the Heart foundation and the 
MEtakids foundation. In Valkenburg, we 
teamed up with our guests to donate money 
to research by the Paediatrics department 
of the Maastricht University Medical Centre. 
Maarten van der Weijden is also planning 
to make his Elfstedenzwemtocht in 2019, 
once again sponsored by Holland Casino.

Holland Casino wants to  
make an active contribution  
to a better society.

2018 HIGHLIGHTS / ELFSTEDENZWEMTOCHT 

18 AUG 
2018
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Construction and renovation projects 

Holland Casino wants to provide the best possible guest 

experience, which is why we continuously invest in our 

casinos. In September 2018, we finished a complete renovation 

at Holland Casino Valkenburg, during which we renewed both 

the lay-out of the gaming room, the overall look and feel of the 

casino and its catering facilities. 

Following the opening in June 2018, the official and festive 

Grand Opening event of the Amsterdam West-Sloterdijk casino 

took place at the end of September 2018. The opening was a 

huge success, attended by more than 1,500 visitors, and offering 

performances from well-known Dutch artists such as Fedde Le 

Grand, Trijntje Oosterhuis, Berget Lewis and Jan Versteegh.

Construction work for the new casino in Venlo started in 

October 2018 under the watchful eye of the mayor of Venlo. 

The casino will be one of the most modern and innovative 

casinos in Europe.

DEVELOPMENTS AT CASINOS

This is also underlined by the spectacular design’s nomination 

for the World Architecture Festival (WAF) award in the category 

Leisure Led Development. We expect to take the new casino on 

Floralaan at the Tradeport Oost into operation in late 2020. 

Holland Casino will remain open at its current location until 

the new building is ready. 

In Utrecht, on Winthontlaan near the A12, we are building an 

entirely new casino. Guests can find us at the existing location 

on the Overste den Oudenlaan until the opening.

In December 2018, Holland Casino opened the first premium 

pop-up casino in the world on Sontplein in Groningen. It is a 

pop-up, because it will be a casino for just a few years. And it is 

premium, because it turned out to be a casino with a great deal 

of style. We had to close our casino in Groningen after a fire in 

2017. We are currently in talks with the local authorities in 

Groningen about a new permanent location.

The casino in Venlo 
will be one of the  
most modern and  
innovative casinos  
in Europe.
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Economic growth is expected to continue in 2019, although  

the peak in this growth seems to be behind us. What is more, 

(international) political decisions may have a negative impact 

on consumer confidence. Despite this, we believe the strategic 

choices we made in 2017 and 2018 have put us in a good 

position to respond to the challenges we will face in the  

year ahead. 

The Amsterdam West-Sloterdijk and Groningen casinos will 

once again make a full contribution to Holland Casino’s 

operations in 2019. We will continue to make substantial 

investments in innovative gaming concepts, the online casino, 

new F&B concepts, renovation projects, new construction in 

Utrecht and Venlo and the improvement of the leadership and 

culture at Holland Casino, all to maintain our leading position 

in the Dutch gaming market. Other major priorities include  

the continued optimisation of our internal processes and the 

development of new marketing concepts in cooperation  

with partners. 

In addition to this, we also want to explicitly meet our social 

responsibilities and contribute as a company to a sustainable 

society and social engagement.

We will continue to build long-term and personal relationships 

with our valuable guests. One of our challenges is to remain 

relevant to a new generation of guests. This is why the 

continued development of Experience Zones is one of our  

top priorities. In 2019, Holland Casino will also continue its 

preparations for the online gaming market. We want to be 

ready to start as soon as this is legally possible, once the 

Remote Gaming Act comes into force. We expect this to  

OUTLOOK

happen in 2020. We are targeting an omni-channel strategy. 

Our innovative products, our trendsetting Responsible Gaming 

Policy (PBK) and our prevention of money laundering and 

financing of terrorism and privacy policies will play a crucial 

role in this omni-channel strategy. 

We operate in a dynamic playing field. The Upper House has 

put the decision on the privatisation of Holland Casino on  

hold for the time being. However, it is vital for us continue  

to prepare for all changes that may come, so we can respond  

to those changes effectively, flexibly and in an agile manner. 

Our strategic plan HC2020 will enable us to build a strong and 

future-proof Holland Casino able to anticipate and respond to 

any developments we may encounter on our path in the future.
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At Holland Casino, we do everything in our power to 
make sure that the more than 1.1 million guests who 
visit our casinos have a surprising and exciting evening. 

The satisfaction of our guests is expressed in the Net Promoter 

Score (NPS), which we measure by asking our guests to fill out 

a questionnaire. Each week, a randomly selected group of 

6,000 Holland Casino visitors is asked to participate in the 

guest experience survey. Around 700 to 800 people respond  

to this request.

The NPS is a key indicator for customer satisfaction and 

customer loyalty. The most important question we ask is  

how likely it is that our guests recommend Holland Casino  

to others. In 2018, the NPS fell slightly to 29 when compared  

to 2017 (30). The casinos in Scheveningen, Valkenburg and 

Amsterdam-West saw a significant increase in their NPS.  

Of all promoters (the group who gives the casino a 9 or 10  

out of 10), 84% cited the atmosphere as the biggest  

recommendation. 

In 2018, we launched a guest panel of some 7,000 guests, who 

are regularly asked their views on subjects such as advertising 

campaigns, events and other marketing activities. 

Responsible gaming 

We are aware that there are risks associated with games of 

chance. On the basis of its Responsible Gaming Policy  

(Preventiebeleid Kansspelen – PBK), Holland Casino wants  

to provide its guests with the opportunity to participate in  

the gaming we offer safely and responsibly.  

OUR GUESTS

We ensure that our 
guests can play safely 

and responsibly.

Holland Casino’s guest-facing policy focuses on three spear-

heads: responsible gaming, fair and reliable games and 

guaranteeing a safe gaming environment. 

These spearheads are based on the three public objectives of 

the Dutch Gaming Commission (Kansspelautoriteit – Ksa): 

preventing gambling addiction, protection of consumers and 

combatting fraud and criminality. 

Holland Casino considers care for its guests one of its core 

tasks. That also means that we ensure that our guests play 

safely and responsibly. Holland Casino developed the Respon-

sible Gaming Policy together with addiction care organisations 

in the Netherlands. The policy is supervised by the Dutch 

Gaming Commission. The commission is currently drawing  

up a duty of care guideline that is expected to be completed in 

mid-2019. 

In addition, an advisory group of external experts has been set 

up, which regularly evaluates the Responsible Gaming Policy, 

but also discusses recent developments in the market and 

topics such as the arrival of the remote gaming draft legisla-

tion. The advisory body meets twice a year and, in addition  

to Holland Casino, comprises teaching hospital Amsterdam 

UMC, Radboud University Nijmegen, the Trimbos Institute, 

Assissa, Jellinek, HANDS and the AGOG foundation.

After consultation with the advisory group, we implemented a 

new control measure in 2018, following the pilot with extended 

opening hours in Rotterdam. To prevent guests from playing in 

our casinos for too long, we now conduct interim checks to 

establish the duration of their stay. 
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Responsible Gaming Policy 

The Responsible Gaming Policy states that players are in 

principle responsible for their own gaming conduct and  

should not play longer or more frequently than is good for 

them or more than their financial situation allows. 

To make players aware of their gaming conduct,  

Holland Casino provides them with all the information  

it has available to help them assess their own behaviour.

Our employees play a vital role in the execution of this policy. 

They are our eyes and ears on the ground. Employees receive 

extensive training on responsible gaming, which is aimed at 

providing them with insight into the problems associated with 

gambling addiction. They are trained in early recognition of 

potential problem behaviour and learn to make an active 

contribution to the Responsible Gaming Policy by using their 

communication skills. They also learn to recognise and assess 

changes in guests’ behaviour. If necessary, they can send an 

internal signal to their manager or the Security & Responsible 

Gaming department via the central registration system.  

In addition to the employees, the management also plays a  

key role in the Responsible Gaming Policy. They have already 

followed extensive (online) training courses. In 2018, we 

developed a new training course for staff and casino managers, 

and this course will be given together with a behavioural 

expert in 2019.  

Holland Casino’s Responsible Gaming Policy is built on  

four pillars: 

1. Identification and registration

Holland Casino’s guests are required to identify themselves 

upon entry and their visit is recorded in the central visitor 

registration system.

2. Information and awareness 

The policy is primarily aimed at informing guests and  

making them aware of safe and responsible gaming practices. 

This includes sharing information on the subject both online 

and offline. There are a variety of ways to enter into a dialogue  

with guests. 

The frequency of visits may prompt an awareness interview.  

In 2017, Holland Casino tightened the policy on this front in 

consultation with the advisory group. If a guest makes an 

average of 12 (or more) visits a month to Holland Casino over  

a three-month period, this prompts an awareness interview.  

A qualified employee of the Security & Responsible Gaming 

department has a conversation with the guest and discusses 

what constitutes responsible gaming and the risks associated 

with gaming. The number of awareness interviews increased 

to 1,710 in 2018 (2017: 1,043 interviews) due to the tightened 

policy. 

Since young adults in the age group 18 through 23 are consid-

ered to have a higher risk of addiction, we have a stricter policy 

for this age group. For instance, every young adult receives a 

flyer with information on their fourth visit, to make them 

aware of the frequency of their visits and the risks of gaming.  

If the frequency of a young adult’s visits increases over a 

three-month period, we conduct an awareness interview,  

the so-called young adult interview. In 2018, we conducted 

2,197 interviews with young adults (2017: 2,521).

3. Monitoring

We assess the frequency of a guest’s visits and gaming 

behaviour six and 18 months after the initial awareness 

interview – a qualitative analysis of any signals and incidents 

reported and recorded in the systems of the Security & 

Responsible Gaming department. Depending on the outcome 

To build awareness, 
it is important that 
guests agree to visit 
restrictions or entry 
bans voluntarily. 
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of the analysis, the guest may or may not qualify for a 

monitoring interview. During a monitoring interview, we once 

again emphasise the guest’s own responsibility when it comes 

to safe and responsible gaming and regulating their (gaming) 

behaviour. 

In 2018, we conducted 101 monitoring interviews, an increase 

compared to 2017 (61 interviews).

When young adults are involved, we take extra precautions via 

so-called prevention interviews. In 2018, we conducted a total 

of 2,386 prevention interviews, a slight increase compared to 

2017 (2,306). 

4. Intervention

In the more probing monitoring interview, we confront the 

guest with the findings of the monitoring phase and discuss 

any measures that may need to be taken to moderate their 

gaming behaviour, such as visit restrictions or an admission 

ban. In the context of awareness, it is important that guests 

voluntarily agree to a visit restriction or admission ban.  

If necessary, when a guest is no longer considered capable of 

accepting responsibility, Holland Casino will impose a restric-

tive measure. The risk of visit restrictions or admission bans is 

that they may be ineffective if the guest can continue to play 

anonymously at arcades or in illegal facilities. This issue will  

be resolved with the arrival of the Remote Gaming Act 

(Kansspelen op Afstand – Koa). Under the new legislation, 

identity checks will become compulsory for both online 

gaming (via DigiD – digital identification) and in physical 

locations (passport or driving licence). Guests at Holland 

Casino are already obliged to show their passport or driving 

licence upon entry. The same will also apply to gaming 

facilities such as arcades and online gaming. In addition, the 

Remote Gaming Act will make it compulsory for all providers, 

both physical and online, to register visit restrictions in the 

A casino can be sensitive to money laundering, for instance because cash can be exchanged for 
chips and these can then be exchanged for cash again: the so-called exchange transactions. 
Holland Casino has translated laws and regulations relating to the prevention of money  
laundering and financing of terrorism into its Anti-money laundering policy. In 2018, the fourth 
EU anti-money laundering directive was implemented in the Dutch Prevention of money laund-
ering and financing of terrorism Act (Wwft). A number of these legislative changes have a direct 
impact on Holland Casino, such as the criteria used for reporting unusual transactions. In 2018, 
we worked on translating the directive into a clear and efficient way of working for our staff. 

Fleur Kuijper, advisor Wwft & Integrity: “At Holland Casino, we devote attention not only to what 
we do but also why we’re doing it. If we go beyond simply executing the directive to also living it, 
this will help us make the right choices. What this means is that our guests can continue to 
enjoy their gaming, while we will be able to spot visitors who break laws and regulations earlier 
and our colleagues can use their professional skills and get more fulfilment from their work.”

The Dutch Remote Gaming Act is also subject to the Prevention of money laundering and 
financing of terrorism Act. In 2018, Holland Casino therefore worked hard to make its  
Anti-money laundering policy suitable for an online gaming environment.

Anti-money laundering: not just what, 
but also why
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central registration system for gaming exclusions (Centraal 

register uitsluiting kansspelen – CRUKS). This will help us as a 

sector to stop problem players shopping between providers. 

When a player returns after a restrictive measure, a member of 

the Security & Responsible Gaming staff will have an aftercare 

interview with them. In 2018, we conducted 10,777 aftercare 

interviews (2017: 10,485).

 

The maximum duration of a restrictive measure is six months, 

in line with the Remote Gaming Act (Koa). After this period, we 

make contact with players once again via an aftercare inter-

view. This enables us to prevent them from gaming in the 

illegal gaming circuit for a longer period of time. In addition to 

a voluntary admission ban, Holland Casino can also impose a 

(long-term) admission ban.  

In recent years, Holland Casino has increasingly chosen to refer 

players with a visit restriction or admission ban to HANDS. 

This is an independent organisation specialising in addiction 

care by telephone. These days, HANDS initiates the contact 

with the guest, with the guest’s permission, to start the 

support process, rather than the other way around.

As far as employees are concerned, they are not allowed to 

participate in games of chance during and for six months  

after the end of their employment at Holland Casino.

EXECUTION PBK IN FIGURES

2018 2017

Number of interviews 23.950 21.324

Admission restrictions 4.546 4.888

Compulsory admission restrictions 330 432

Admission bans 5.977 5.886

Compulsory admission bans 245 336

In January 2018, we introduced a new incident system, iTrack, 

which is user-friendly and can be used both online and offline. 

This new system has automated a large number of actions, 

which has made the execution of the policy more objective, 

which in turn resulted in an increase in the number of 

Responsible Gaming Policy reports and interviews in 2018. 

The tightening of the policy on the frequency of visits 

combined with the extended opening hours in Rotterdam also 

contributed to the increase in the number of interviews.

Hospitality interview 

The hospitality interview is an additional opportunity to 

assess whether guests are playing responsibly. A hospitality 

interview is a spontaneous conversation between a shift leader 

and a guest, which is not necessarily related to the Responsible 

Gaming Policy. 

Responsible Gaming Policy online 

Holland Casino also wants to provide games of chance online 

and preparations for this are in full swing. We are adapting our 

Responsible Gaming Policy for an online gaming environment, 

in consultation with the advisory group. 

Fair and reliable gaming 

Guests must be able to trust that Holland Casino’s games are 

fair and reliable. Holland Casino can guarantee its guests fair 

gaming because it has reliable and qualified employees, 

gaming equipment that meets objective technical standards 

and works according to pre-determined payment percentages. 

Holland Casino has thorough recruitment and hiring proce-

dures for new employees: every new employee has to apply for 

and submit an official certificate of good conduct (Verklaring 

Omtrent het Gedrag – VOG). We also continuously train and 

Guests must be 
able to trust that 
Holland Casino’s 
games are fair  
and reliable. 
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educate our employees so they can provide games in a safe and 

responsible way.

The NMI, an independent organisation specialised in testing, 

certification and training in the field of measurement systems 

and games of chance, conducts checks on our tables twice a 

year. This includes tests to safeguard the random selection 

process in our gaming systems. The Dutch Gaming Commis-

sion monitors the reliability of our slot machines.

Guaranteeing a safe gaming environment 

We consider it our duty to reduce the chances of fraud and 

criminal acts to the absolute minimum. We do this by 

complying conscientiously with the Dutch Financial Super-

vision Act (Wft), the Prevention of money laundering and the 

financing of terrorism Act (Wwft) and the Sanctions Act 1977.

In addition to video monitoring, Holland Casino now also uses 

sound recordings at the American Roulette tables so we can 

listen to those recordings in the event of incidents or claim 

disputes. And since 2018, the Security & Responsible Gaming 

department also has an indirect connection with police 

incident reporting rooms, which makes it possible to watch live 

and take adequate measures in the event of serious incidents.

Anti-money laundering policy 

The Dutch Gaming Commission is responsible for the super-

vision of Holland Casino and its anti-money laundering policy. 

Holland Casino’s anti-money laundering policy is based on 

three main pillars: risk classification and client screening,  

the monitoring of business relations and the reporting of 

unusual transactions (Dutch Disclosure of Unusual Trans-

actions Act – MOT).

We report unusual transactions to the Dutch Financial 

Intelligence Unit (FIU) and transfers of money are carefully 

checked before they are approved or rejected. If Holland Casino 

has any doubts about the origins of money being used to play, 

we conduct a further investigation and we may impose an 

admission ban on the guest in question. The indicators for 

unusual transaction reporting have been tightened as of  

1 August 2018 in line with the international guidelines of  

the Financial Action Task Force (FATF). 

The number of objective transactions reported in 2018 related 

to 635 deposits (2017: 503), 434 transfers (2017: 442), 777 cash 

transactions and credit card payments of EUR 10,000 or more, 

and foreign currency transactions (2017: 437) and seven other 

reports (2017: 4). The increase in the number of unusual 

transaction reports was due to the tightening of both the  

indicators for reporting unusual transactions and the tightened 

policy of the Dutch Gaming Commission on reports to the FIU.

NUMBER OF ADMISSION BANS *

(after refusal to cooperate in a client investigation)

2018 63

2017 57

2016 50

2015 41

2014 21

*  This pertains to admission bans related to potential money-laundering risks.

HOLLAND CASINO’S REPORTS TO THE FIU (INCLUDING FOLLOW-UP REPORTS)

Reported on the basis of 
objective indicators

Reported on the basis of 
subjective indicators

Total

2018 1.853 1.890 3.743 

2017 1.386 1.741 3.127

2016 1.199 1.475 2.674

2015 894 1.094 1.988

2014 501 903 1.404
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2018 HIGHLIGHTS / VENLO 2

JORDY VREMAN: 

‘I WOULD LOVE TO GET
 THE KEYS TOMORROW!’ 

Jordy Vreman, facilities manager in Venlo,  
has been involved in the process of realising  
a new casino in Venlo since 2015.

‘When I first learned about the plans for Venlo 2, 
as we call it, I was sold immediately. Wow, a 
completely new building for our casino, that is 
so cool, was my first thought. Since then, I have 
been involved in drawing up the requirements 
and wishes for the new building, I have been 
part of the talks on the design and I attend every 
construction meeting. Because you can come up 
with a lot of great plans, but if they are not 
feasible or don’t meet our requirements, they 
are no use to anyone. 

‘The casino will be trendsetting, modern, with a 
striking LED façade. There is a lot of work still 
to be done, but that’s okay. This process gives 
me so much energy. And the moment we broke 
ground was very special. Now it really is going 
to happen, I thought. I would love to get the keys 
tomorrow!’ 
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2018 HIGHLIGHTS / VENLO 2

NEW LANDMARKS:
SUSTAINABLE, VISIBLE  
AND ACCESSIBLE
Breaking ground in Venlo was the official 
start of the construction of the new casino, 
which will open its doors in 2020. But 
that’s not all. Holland Casino is quite 
literally building its future. 

With a 25-metre high LED façade that can 
change to any colour, nobody will be able to 
miss the new Holland Casino on Flevolaan 
in Venlo once construction is complete.  
The design was even nominated for a  
World Architecture Festival Award. 

Guests visiting Holland Casino Venlo are  
not just from the Netherlands, as they also 
come from places such as Belgium and 
Germany. The location at the side of the 
motorway and the parking facilities make 
the new Holland Casino an even better 
alternative for a night out for both national 
and international guests. 

The construction of the casino is in line with 
Holland Casino’s innovation and renewal 
strategy. Holland Casino is also set to add  
a new casino in Utrecht in the future, on 
Winthontlaan. The features of the building 
will include a thermal storage system: 

the casino’s residual warmth can be used 
for other buildings. Holland Casino will 
remain open in its current location on the 
Jaarbeurs site until the opening of the  
new building. 

In December, Holland Casino opened its 
temporary casino in Groningen, at the 
Sontplein. Following the fire at the  
Kattendiep location on 27 August 2017,  
we wanted to open our doors to our guests 
again as soon as possible. Holland Casino 
and the local authorities are still in talks 
about a new permanent location.

The design was  
nominated for  
a WAF award.

16 OCT 
2018
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To offer our guests the highest possible level of  
hospitality, we need skilled and engaged staff. Our 
employees ensure that we can stand out, now and in 
the future. This is why Holland Casino and Gaming & 
Casino Services invest in a safe working environment 
and offers its employees career development opportu-
nities. Our core values – friendly, surprising, engaged 
and reliable – are the guiding principles in this drive.

Culture and leadership are spearheads in our long-term 

strategic plan. In that context, in the first half of 2018 we 

organised three shift leader days and a total of 47 employee 

days to engage people more effectively in our HC2020  

strategy and so we can execute the strategy more  

effectively together. 

Due to the success of this initiative, we are also planning to 

organise management and employee days in 2019. And we  

will also invite the shift leaders to the management days, to 

engage an even broader segment of the management in the 

course we have chosen for our company. During these days, 

attendees talk to each other about Holland Casino’s current 

opportunities and risks, plus everyone is updated on the 

various components of the strategic plan. 

Flow

In 2018, we also started using the employee survey Flow.  

With support from Blauw Research, we conduct a continuous 

theme-based survey to ensure we have insight into changes in 

employee satisfaction. The first results revealed that there is 

room for improvement in the workload employees experience, 

in working on the basis of a shared ambition, in celebrating 

successes and in the translation of Holland Casino’s vision to 

the work floor. We initially follow up on the results at local 

level. For instance, various casinos have now set up focus 

groups to initiate a dialogue with the management.

EMPLOYEES

2018 2017

Employees casinos 3,653 3,475

Employees head office 246 224

Employees GCS 50 0

Total employees (headcount) 3,949 3,699

Employees Table games 1,454 1,409

Employees Slot machines 336 295

Employees Services 651 630

Employees Food & Beverage 764 700

Employees Other 694 665

Employees GCS 50 0

Total employees (headcount) 3,949 3,699

Male employees full time 890 869

Male employees part time 1,271 1,136

Total male employees 2,161 2,005

Female employees full time 139 153

Female employees part time 1,649 1,541

Total female employees 1,788 1,694

Total employees (in fte) 2,920 2,708

Average age (in years) 45 44

OUR PEOPLE

Culture and 
leadership are 
spearheads of 

the strategic 
long-term plan.
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Holland Casino is proud of the employees at our Amsterdam 

West-Sloterdijk and Groningen casinos, who showed remark-

able flexibility in the past period by temporarily working  

at casinos across the country. As of December 2018, the 

Groningen employees are back working in Groningen,  

in the temporary casino. 

New employees 

We want to retain our prominent position in the casino 

market. This is why in 2018 we devoted considerable attention 

to positioning Holland Casino as an employer brand. This 

included the development and use of various online and offline 

materials for labour market communications. When we recruit 

new talents, we do not simply assess whether people have the 

qualities we are looking for; we also assess whether they fit 

into our organisational culture.  

In 2018, we also developed a new HR app to help new 

employees navigate the organisation. 

Growth and development 

Holland Casino and Gaming & Casino Services invest in their 

people to make sure they are the best in their field now and 

remain so in the future. We ensure that our people have room 

to develop and provide a wide range of e-learning modules, 

training courses, education and development programmes.  

In addition to sector-specific training courses in the field of 

table games, slot machines and services, Holland Casino also 

provides generic training modules. 

Training courses and education 

In the course of their career at Holland Casino, employees take 

various specialist training courses. In 2018, we once again 

renewed a number of specialist training courses, including the 

course in table games, plus we introduced a new F&B training 

course. The training courses are blended learning processes, 

which incorporate both online and offline learning. We will 

eventually renew all existing specialist courses. In addition,  

as part of the new collective labour agreement, employees  

have access to a personal education budget of EUR 500 per 

year, which they can use or save up at their own discretion. 

Holland Casino’s learning portal gives employees access to 

more than 1,000 training courses, including free courses.  

In 2018, around 300 employees made use of their career 

budget or the Holland Casino study scheme.  

Holland Casino also invested heavily in employee training at 

subsidiary Gaming & Casino Services B.V.. For instance, various 

employees followed a number of general training courses in 

the fields of electric equipment inspector, fork lift truck driver 

and hydraulic lift operator, emergency and first-aid services 

and client focus. To remain up-to-date on technological 

developments in the field of slot machines, the field and repair 

employees followed training courses at various companies 

such as Novomatic, IGT, Interblock, Aristocrat and Bally.  

In 2018, we also trained a new internal audit team for  

ISO 9001:2015, ISO27001 and for the General Data Protection 

Regulation (GDPR).

Hospitality

Cordiality, social skills and service-focus all play a crucial role 

in realising the highest possible level of hospitality. We use the 

Whether staff work at one  
of the casinos or at the head 
office, we want everyone  
to feel safe.
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HEP (Hoffelijkheid, Emotie en Pro-activiteit) theory of cordi-

ality, emotion and pro-activeness for this purpose. All casinos 

have hospitality coaches to train new employees and keep  

the subject and the theory acquired alive and front of mind.  

All hospitality coaches meet twice a year to exchange experi-

ences. In 2018, we launched a programme of mystery visits to 

test the hospitality level at the various casinos. The mystery 

visits are made by employees from other casinos and they 

share their experiences afterwards. 

Management Development programme

Holland Casino considers development of leadership skills 

within the organisation extremely important and offers its 

employees the opportunity to continue to develop their talents 

and careers. In early 2018, we launched the third edition of the 

Management Development (MD) programme, this time in 

combination with talent development. Every single participant 

in the third edition has since been promoted. 

Same job, new venture

More than 150 employees participated in the ‘same job, new 

venture’ programme in 2018. This is a programme that gives 

employees the opportunity to work in their own job at a 

different casino for a few days. The first exchanges were 

between the casinos in Nijmegen, Venlo, Eindhoven and 

Valkenburg, at their own initiative. The project gives our people 

the opportunity to expand their horizons and at the same time 

encourages the exchange of know-how between the casinos. 

The casinos in Enschede, Amsterdam, Zandvoort and Utrecht 

have also joined the initiative.

Healthy and vital employees

At Holland Casino our goal is healthy and vital employees who 

enjoy coming to work. Figures from the Dutch Central Bureau 

of Statistics (CBS) show that absenteeism in the Netherlands 

increased in 2018. We saw that trend at Holland Casino, too,  

as absenteeism increased to 4.8% in 2018, from 3.7% in 2017,  

in a generally downward trend. This means we did not meet 

our target of 3.5% in 2018, partly on the back of the sustained 

flu epidemic in the early part of the year. 

As in previous years, we supported various local BRAVO 

initiatives in 2018. BRAVO, which helps people stay fit and 

healthy, is short for more exercise (Beweging), no smoking 

(Roken), moderate alcohol intake (Alcohol), healthy diet 

(Voeding) and sufficient relaxation (Ontspanning).  

Holland Casino organised various national sports events that 

employees could participate in. 

Safe and responsible for our guests 

Responsible Gaming Policy 

Our employees play a crucial part in the execution of  

Holland Casino’s Responsible Gaming Policy (PBK). The 

Responsible Gaming training course provides insight into the 

problems around gambling addiction and provides employees 

with training in the early recognition of addictive or problem-

atic behaviour. The basic training course is compulsory for all 

employees. In addition to the basic course, the managers and 

employees at our Security & Responsible Gaming department 

also take supplementary training courses. You will find more 

information about our Responsible Gaming Policy in the 

chapter ‘Our guests’. 

Anti-money laundering policy 

Pursuant to the Prevention of money laundering and financing 

of terrorism Act (Wwft), but also driven by our social responsi-

bility, Holland Casino provides employees with anti-money 

laundering policy training. Employees in specific positions also 

follow additional training courses. 

49

R
EPO

R
T O

F TH
E EX

EC
U

TIV
E BO

A
R

D



Safety and integrity 

Holland Casino attaches a great deal of importance to a safe 

and pleasant working environment for its employees. Whether 

employees work in one of our casinos or at our head office, we 

want everyone to feel safe. The Security & Responsible Gaming 

department plays an important role in this via permanent 

camera supervision and the presence of security staff on the 

casino floor.

Confidential advisers, Integrity hotline and Complaints 

committees

Holland Casino has qualified confidential advisers at all its 

casinos and the head office to provide employees with advice 

and guidance in the event of inappropriate behaviour and 

integrity issues. The confidential advisers are known at the 

casinos and information about integrity issues and inappro-

priate behaviour is available on our intranet and in the form  

of a brochure at all our casinos. 

We also have an Integrity hotline, a complaints committee for 

inappropriate behaviour and a committee for the reporting  

of integrity issues (Commissie Melden Integriteitskwesties).  

In 2018, the committees received and dealt with one report. 

The Security & Responsible Gaming department investigated  

a total of 51 integrity issues, a slight decline compared to  

2017 (54).

Labour terms and conditions 

Collective labour agreement 

In June of 2017, Holland Casino negotiated an agreement with 

the trade unions on a five-year collective labour agreement, 

which runs from January 2016 through December 2020. In 

2018, we settled the last few issues related to flexible/fixed 

contracts and sustainable employability. 

To provide the highest possible level of hospitality, we need 

sufficiently experienced employees with professional 

know-how, a passion for gaming and engagement with our 

guests. This is why permanent contracts are the norm at 

Holland Casino. However, Holland Casino does benefit from a 

certain level of flexibility and we have now laid down more 

specific agreements in that context. 

Career development 

Holland Casino encourages its employees to achieve their full 

potential, so they are and remain optimally deployable now 

and in the future. This is why in January 2019, Holland Casino 

launched a centralised career centre to help and stimulate 

employees. This is a central department, where every employee 

can get advice on and an explanation of the career develop-

ment schemes and opportunities both within and outside 

Holland Casino. The career centre also provides extra support 

and coaching.

The collective labour agreement also includes a number of 

tools employees can use, such as the career development 

budget, the generation pact, a positive demotion scheme and 

sustainable employment hours. It also allows for a combina-

tion of the generation pact and part-time pension. A new 

component in the career departure scheme gives employees 

the opportunity, under specific conditions, to make an external 

career move after guidance from the career centre.

The pension scheme is also part of the collective labour 

agreement. Holland Casino transferred its pension scheme to 

STAP Algemeen Pensioenfonds in 2017, in consultation with 

the executive of the Holland Casino pension fund. 

EMPLOYEES

(people) 2018 2017

Employees cao 3,835 3,643

Employees HAY 64 56

Employees GCS 50 0

Total employees 3,949 3,699
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In 2018, we paid out the final performance-re-

lated (RAU) bonus, due to the solid financial 

results in 2017. We used a payment rate of 3.5% 

and paid out a total of EUR 3.8 million over 

2017. As from 2019 (for the 2018 financial 

year), we have a profit-sharing scheme in place 

as part of the collective labour agreement 

agreed in 2017.

The Works Council 

The Holland Casino works council met five 

times for formal consultation meetings in 

2018. The Holland Casino CEO is a discussion 

partner in talks with the works council and 

attended all of the formal consultation 

meetings. The works council also held regular 

informal talks with the Executive Board last 

year. In addition to the subjects put before the 

works council for their advice or approval,  

the agenda of the meetings also included the 

liberalisation of the (online) gaming market, 

the guarantee agreements in the pension 

scheme and the consequences of the imple-

mentation of the GDPR privacy legislation.  

The works council also discussed the amend-

ment and extension of Holland Casino’s credit 

facility and the evaluation of the term of office 

of works council members and the facilities 

scheme of the works council and the sub- 

committees. 

In May 2018, the Dutch Supreme Court 

rejected the appeal lodged by the works 

council against the ruling of the Enterprise 

Chamber regarding the transformation of 

Holland Casino from a foundation to a public 

limited company. 

In 2018, Holland Casino and the works council 

reached agreement on the terms under which 

the pension scheme was transferred to the 

new pension provider STAP. 

In 2018, the works council approved and/or 

attached a positive recommendation with 

respect to the following requests: 

Approval:

• Amendment complaints committee 

regulations inappropriate behaviour

• Extended opening hours 2018

• Change in working hours in view of the 

extended opening hours – with the excep-

tion of table games – for the Rotterdam 

casino

• Amendment regulations IT facilities

• Amendment policy disciplinary measures

• Amendment work schedule manual

• Revised version privacy regulations

Positive recommendation:

• Regional observation Security & Responsible 

Gaming

• Investments related to the realisation of 

both a temporary and a permanent  

Holland Casino in Groningen

The works council did not issue any negative 

recommendations in 2018.
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2018 HIGHLIGHTS / GRONINGEN

FELLICIA MOLLENAAR: 

‘IT FELT LIKE THE OLD 
DAYS AND A NEW BEGIN-
NING AT THE SAME TIME’
Fellicia lives in Friesland, but the Groningen 
casino captured her heart right from the start. 
So croupier Fellicia Mollenaar was more than 
ready to start work at the brand new pop-up 
casino on Sontplein, after the loss of ‘her’ 
casino in the centre of the city. 

’After the fire, I was welcomed with open arms 
in Leeuwarden, but I had already fallen for 
Groningen. Why do you feel at home some-
where? It’s difficult to put into words. Perhaps  
it is the level-headedness of the people of 
Groningen, their sense of humour, the atmos-
phere among colleagues. We want to build 
something positive together. And this new 
pop-up casino may be smaller, but that also  
has its benefits. For instance, at my table, I am 
right across from the slot machines, so I also 
often have chats with guests playing the slots.  
It is one big space, and it works.

‘Oh my, what is this?’ was my first thought  
when I saw all the photographers at the official 
opening event. I’d been asked to roll the first 
golden ball at the roulette table – that was a 
huge honour! And I had very sweaty hands from 
sheer nerves. The last thing you want to do is 
throw the ball outside the wheel, but thankfully 
it all went well. It was a very special evening.  
I was really happy that we were all together 
again. It felt like the old times and a new 
beginning at the same time.’
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POP-UP WITH STYLE

Holland Casino is back in Groningen with 
the world’s first premium pop-up casino. 
It is a pop-up because it is a temporary 
casino for just a few years. And it is 
premium because it turned out to be a 
casino with style. 

A devastating fire in August 2017 turned  
the lives of the Holland Casino Groningen 
employees upside down. ‘Their’ casino at 
Kattendiep burned down and could not be 
saved. Holland Casino immediately leapt 
into action: we very quickly made arrange-
ments with the local authorities, the local 
neighbourhood and our insurers to take 
stock of the consequences and provide as 
much support as possible. But the fire was 
primarily a small human drama. In one fell 
swoop, 150 work places disappeared. 
Colleagues who had spent years working 
side by side were suddenly working in 
casinos across the country, faced with  
new logistical challenges and dealing with 
the impact on their families. 

While they started work in other Holland 
Casinos around the country, we immediate-
ly started to think about a new temporary 
casino in the city. In the space of around a 
year and a half, Holland Casino and its 

partners managed to build a new, intimate, 
casino on the Sontplein. The total floor 
space of the casino is around 2,200 m2.  
The gaming room is home to 12 gaming 
tables, offering guests the opportunity to 
play American Roulette, Black Jack and 
Ultimate Texas Hold’em. The casino also 
has 284 slot machines and 34 Multi 
Roulettes.

Golden ball 
The festive opening event took place on  
17 December 2018. Croupier Fellicia 
Mollenaar was the first to spin the Ameri-
can Roulette wheel and kicked off play with 
the traditional ‘golden ball’. Special guest 
Victor Mids entertained the guests with his 
illusionist tricks. Guests included the  
mayor of Groningen, Holland Casino CEO 
Erwin van Lambaart, casino managers 
Hans van der Veen and Aad Sterk, as well 
as prominent guests including two Gronin-
gen natives, journalist and theatre reviewer 
Jacques d’Ancona and TV presenter Frits 
Sissing.

Holland Casino is currently in talk with  
the Groningen local authorities about a  
new permanent location in the city.

2018 HIGHLIGHTS / GRONINGEN

18 DEC 
2018
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OUR SOCIETY

As part of society, Holland Casino makes an active contribution to the environment and society as a whole.  
To minimise our impact on the environment, we focus on sustainable procurement and by devoting attention to 
sustainability in new-build and renovation projects. 

We also take the well-being of our employees and our guests 

extremely seriously (you can read more about this in the 

chapters ‘Our people’ and ‘Our guests’). And we support a 

number of local initiatives and national charities every year.  

At the end of 2018, we made a start on the development of an 

umbrella sustainability policy in an effort to arrive at measur-

able targets for the coming years.  

Sustainable purchasing 

Our supply chain accounts for a considerable part of our 

environmental impact. We consider our suppliers as partners 

in the realisation of common goals on the sustainability front. 

We encourage both new and existing suppliers to make 

sustainable choices and by doing so create a sustainable chain. 

This starts in our procurement process with a sustainability 

section in standard requests for a quote. We also add specific 

sustainability criteria, such as environmental criteria, for  

each individual procurement process. In 2018, we initiated a 

programme to boost our cooperation with strategic  

suppliers. 

Our approach to sustainable procurement is based on our 

supplier code, which in turn is based on Holland Casino’s core 

values and internal code of conduct. The basic premises of our 

procurement process are: equal treatment, transparency and 

proportionality.

Ethical procurement 

Holland Casino has signed up to the professional code of the 

Dutch purchasers association (Nederlandse Vereniging van 

Inkopers) and translated this code into four guidelines:

1. Loyalty to Holland Casino;

2. Treat suppliers fairly;

3. Support fair competition;

4. Uphold the reputation of the profession.

Every employee has the responsibility to act in accordance with 

the above guidelines and prevailing legislation.

Energy

In 2018, we worked with a number of technical installation 

companies to organise a pilot to test energy monitoring and 

responsible energy consumption in Valkenburg and Zandvoort. 

We are now planning to roll out the pilot at other casinos.  

We have also reached agreement with our energy partner on 

the purchasing of green energy. 

Food & Beverage

In our restaurants, we choose to use quality products from 

A-suppliers that sell responsible and fair products. We serve 

mainly seasonal products. In 2018, Holland Casino introduced 

a private label branded water, which eliminated a logistical 

flow of 1.5 million bottles of water.

Holland Casino 
sees its suppliers 

as partners in 
corporate social 

responsibility.
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Waste

Waste is separated at all our casinos and at the head office. We 

also look at waste flows that can be collected for re-use, such as 

the coffee grinds we produce. These are separated for collection 

and subsequently turned into pellets that can serve as fuel. 

Sustainable construction and renovation projects

In all large and smaller construction and renovation projects, 

we take into consideration the use and re-use of the correct, 

responsible materials. For instance, in the new-build Holland 

Casino project in Venlo, we are applying the Venlo local 

authority’s cradle-to-cradle principles, which means we also 

look at the optimum use of rain, wind and sun. And the 

new-build project for the new Utrecht casino is devoting 

considerable attention to profitable sustainability. 

Charities & sponsoring

In 2018, we made a start on a re-assessment of our sponsoring 

and partnership policy. This was inspired by our intention to 

create more unity and direction in the multitude of (often 

local) initiatives. We will continue to structure this new policy 

in 2019.

We did not extend the expired sponsorship contract with the 

Dutch bobsleigh team. The cooperation began in mid-2017 and 

was aimed at helping the team get to the Olympic Games in 

Pyongchang. The team sadly failed to qualify. 

In August 2018, Holland Casino supported long-distance 

swimmer Maarten van der Weijden in his Elfstedenzwemtocht 

(see page 36). Holland Casino employees also took part in a 
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number of swimming activities to collect money for the Dutch 

Cancer Society KWF. Other activities, such as income from the 

Zip line we sponsored at dance festival Mysteryland, also 

contributed to this effort. 

Our casinos supported a wide range of good causes in 2018.

Directive publication non-financial information 

Pursuant to the directive on the publication of non-financial 

information, Holland Casino has included a non-financial 

statement in this annual report.

Social and personnel matters 

Holland Casino takes a variety of measures when it comes to 

social and personnel matters (See the chapter ‘Our People’ for 

more information). 

Diversity

We believe it is important to recognise and make the most of 

the differences between people. We treat men and women 

equally and strive to find an equal balance in our workforce.  

In 2018, the division was 54.2% men and 45.8% women. 

Safety 

As a result of a risk assessment and evaluation working 

conditions (RI&E), we made improvements to the structure 

and design of workplaces in 2018. This is an ongoing process 

and we will continue this in 2019. We did not measure the 

psycho-social work burden (PSA), which is part of the risk 

assessment and evaluation (RI&E), in 2018. We last measured 

this in 2017 and will do so again in 2019. Holland Casino takes 

reports of (sexual) intimidation, aggression and violence of 

guests, colleagues and managers very seriously indeed. We take 

a preventative approach by providing aggression-prevention 

training courses. Discussing the impact of incidents and 

increasing the resilience of our employees are important 

components of these training courses. 

Dialogue

Holland Casino has regular consultations with the FNV, De Unie 

and ABC (dissolved in December 2018) trade unions and has a 

works council. We strive for an effective cooperation with the 

works council and our social partners (see page 51).

Labour market 

Having highly qualified personnel is crucial to Holland Casino 

in view of the very specific and responsible work they do. 

In addition to internal sector-specific training courses, we also 

work together with various regional educational institutions. 

We offer trainee opportunities and combined learning and 

experience places to give young people a peek behind the 

scenes and a look at the opportunities in the labour market.  

We also give presentations at schools to boost this cooperation 

with regional schools and offer students a look at the opportu-

nities at Holland Casino. The number of internships and work 

experience places depends on the support each location can 

provide.

At year-end 2018, Holland Casino employed 11 people with 

limited access to the labour market. The number of employees 

with limited access to the labour market that participates 

fluctuates due to staff turnover and due to local availability  

of support.
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From left to right:

Jan Philippen, regional director North 

Ruud Bergervoet, CFO

Anneke Westbroek, General Counsel

Pieter Boers, director Gaming & Services

Karin den Dunnen, director Finance & Control

Daniëlle Justus, director HR 

Noël Leise, regional director South 

Erwin van Lambaart, CEO

Janny Wierda, director Security & Responsible Gaming

Daniël van Dijkman, director Marketing & eCommerce

Jeroen Hellenberg, director Corporate Communications

Not pictured: 

Mario der Weduwen, director IT 

HOLLAND CASINO MANAGEMENT TEAM
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The Holland Casino Executive Board is responsible for the 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, 

which should provide a fair representation of the equity and 

results, and for the preparation of the annual report. This 

responsibility includes selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are 

reasonable in the circumstances. The financial statements have 

been prepared on the assumption of a going-concern. 

The Executive Board is also responsible for the effectiveness of 

the organisation’s internal control systems. We have put in 

place several risk management and control systems (RCS) to 

underpin our statement. The risk management and control 

systems are based on the COSO Integrated Control Framework. 

The risk management and control systems cover all aspects  

of internal control, such as the governance framework 

(including the governance structure, codes of conduct, roles 

and responsibilities and reporting lines), risk identification, 

control measures (including the internal control structure and 

internal controls), information &  communication (including 

reporting and consultation mechanisms) and monitoring 

(including auditing). We work continuously on the improve-

ment of our processes and procedures.

Taking into account the above, the Executive Board believes 

that the internal control systems offer a reasonable degree of 

certainty with respect to the financial reporting risks and the 

internal control systems, that these risks have been reduced to 

an acceptable level and that the financial reporting does not 

therefore contain any material inaccuracies.  

The major risks and how Holland Casino controls these risks 

are outlined in more detail on pages 70 through 79. The main 

findings of audits (internal and external), the Letter of 

Assessment and the Risk Management Monitor have been 

discussed with the audit committee and/or the Supervisory 

Board.

Hoofddorp, 3 April 2019

The Executive Board 

Erwin van Lambaart

CEO

IN CONTROL STATEMENT
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From left to right:

Ms. R.E. Dekker, Mr. W.L.J. Bröcker, Mr. P.F. Roks,  

Mr. J. Baud and Ms. M.M. van Zuijlen.

COMPOSITION SUPERVISORY BOARD
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Mr. W.L.J. Bröcker (1951), Dutch

Current term expires at the first general meeting after  

1 August 2020.

Other positions

• External Advisor Y Group 

• External Advisor IBS Capital Management 

• Member of the Supervisory Board Mauritshuis Museum

• Chairman Stichting Continuïteit BE Semiconductor  

Industries N.V.

• Chairman of the Supervisory Board Berlage Winkelfonds 

Duitsland N.V.

• Chairman of Board Colonial Property Fund

Ms. R.E. Dekker (1972), Dutch 

Current term expires at the first general meeting after  

1 August 2020.

Other positions 

• Director Group Balance Sheet Management a.s.r.  

Verzekeringen

Ms. M.M. van Zuijlen (1967), Dutch 

Current term expires at the first general meeting after  

1 June 2019.

Other positions 

• Consultant, coach, moderator

• Chairman of the Supervisory Board The Hague & Partners

• Member of the Supervisory Board Het Nationale Theater

• Member of the Supervisory Board Chassé Theater

• Member of the Review Committee STIVA

• Independent chair ANWB Bondsraad 

• Member of the Supervisory Council RDW

• Chair remuneration committee PO-Raad

Mr. P.F. Roks (1954), Dutch 

Current term expires 3 April 2019.

Other positions 

• Director Fluxys BBL B.V.

Mr. J. W. Baud (1951), Dutch

Current term expires at the first general meeting after  

19 December 2020.

Other positions 

• Chairman of the Supervisory Board Koninklijke de Kuiper

• Chairman of the Supervisory Board Bavaria

• Member of the Supervisory Board Teslin Capital  

Management

• Member of Investment Committee DOB Africa

• Member of board Stichting Continuïteit Holland Pigments 

(Holland Colours)

• Member of Investment Committee Walvis II and III

• Chairman of the Supervisory Board Utrecht Science Park

• Member of the Board Stichting Continuïteit Philips Lighting

• Member of the Supervisory Board Het Concertgebouw Fonds

• Member of the Supervisory Board Urgenda

• Jury member Family Firms Award
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The Supervisory Board looks back at a year in which 
Holland Casino became stronger and made further 
progress in its preparations for the future. The Super-
visory Board would like to express its appreciation for 
how the Executive Board is managing to stick to and 
continue on its chosen course in what is a constantly 
changing environment. The solid financial results for 
2018 are tangible evidence of this persistence.

The Supervisory Board provided the Executive Board with 

support and guidance on the basis of an open and engaged 

attitude. Holland Casino opened two casinos in 2018: the new 

Amsterdam West-Sloterdijk casino and the temporary casino  

in Groningen.

The preparations for the new-build projects for the casinos  

in Venlo and Utrecht have started. In its role as supervisor,  

the Supervisory Board is closely involved in the innovation 

agenda and devotes specific attention to risk management. 

The Supervisory Board also provided the Executive Board  

with support in the execution of the strategy amidst political 

developments that had a major impact on the Company.  

The Supervisory Board played its own part in the contacts  

with the shareholder and other stakeholders. The working 

relationship with the shareholder is positive and we look 

forward to continuing that cooperation in 2019, when the 

implementation of new legislation will be very high on  

the agenda.

In 2018, the Supervisory Board was closely involved in the 

drawing up of the long-term strategic plan, which was broadly 

shared and discussed across the organisation at the initiative 

of the Executive Board. We devoted specific attention to the 

digitalisation effort made in the internal operations and in  

the preparations for Holland Casino’s participation in online 

gaming: the Play Digital proposition. We would like to  

compliment Holland Casino for continuing to take all possible 

legislative scenarios into consideration, especially in view of 

the delayed decision-making on this front. 

In 2018, Holland Casino devoted specific attention to 

employees and ways to help them to continue to work at the 

Company in good health. This included reaching agreement  

on the last few outstanding items of the collective labour 

agreement. The Supervisory Board has followed this develop-

ment with approval and the contacts between the Supervisory 

Board and the works council were positive and constructive in 

the year under review. The Supervisory Board looks forward to 

continuing this positive cooperation in the future.

About the Supervisory Board 

An external party evaluated the functioning of the Supervisory 

Board at the end of 2018. This showed that the members 

maintain a critical, open and constructive attitude towards 

each other and towards the Executive Board. In addition to the 

formal and informal meetings with the Executive Board, the 

Supervisory Board also had the opportunity to exchange views 

with the full management team during an informal meeting. 

FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRMAN OF THE 
SUPERVISORY BOARD

‘In its role as 
supervisor, the 

Supervisory 
Board is closely 

involved in 
the innovation 

agenda.’
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These informal contacts will continue on a structural basis in 

2019.

Mr. Roks’ term expires at the general meeting of 3 April 2019. 

The Supervisory Board is grateful to Mr. Roks for his efforts on 

behalf of the Supervisory Board and Holland Casino. Mr. Roks 

played an important role in the process of arriving at the new 

collective labour agreement and we are very grateful for his 

dedication on this front. His contribution to the remuneration, 

selection and appointment committee has also been invalu-

able. The preparation for the nomination of a new member  

to the Supervisory Board is ongoing and will be made in 

consultation with the works council and in accordance with 

the relevant legislation and articles of association.

Looking ahead to 2019

This year will be an important one for Holland Casino. The 

Supervisory Board will closely monitor political developments 

and is aware of its responsibilities towards all stakeholders. 

The Supervisory Board looks forward to playing its part in 

continuing to shape the future of Holland Casino, in close 

cooperation with the Executive Board. The Executive Board  

can rely on the support and the independent views of the 

Supervisory Board in this process.

The Supervisory Board wishes to express its gratitude to the 

Executive Board and all Holland Casino employees for their 

undiminished commitment. 

Willem Bröcker

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

‘2019 will be an 
important year for 
Holland Casino.’
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The Supervisory Board supervises and advises the 
Executive Board in the determination and realisation 
of its strategic objectives. In this report, the Super-
visory Board gives account of the execution of its 
supervisory tasks and outlines the main topics of 
discussion.

The Supervisory Board had six scheduled meetings in 2018, 

and the required quorum was present for all the meetings.  

The Board also conducted two formal meetings by telephone. 

The Executive Board attended each of the meetings. 

Topics of discussion at the meetings of the Supervisory Board 

included the current legislative processes and the preparations 

for the introduction of new legislation, the implementation of 

the collective labour agreement, construction and renovation 

projects, the (progress in the) strategic long-term plan, the 

refinancing, the long-term dividend policy and the new 

European privacy directive. 

Annually recurring items on the agenda are the budget for the 

coming financial year, the risks associated with the Company’s 

operations, the quality and effectiveness of the internal control 

system and the financial reporting. Members of the Super-

visory Board also took part in talks with various stakeholders, 

including members of the works council and the shareholder, 

the Finance Ministry. Topics of discussion at the scheduled 

annual meetings with the shareholders included the  

functioning of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board and 

the strategic policy. The Supervisory Board regularly assesses 

its own performance and was evaluated by an external party  

in 2018. 

Committees

The Supervisory Board has three committees: the audit 

committee, the remuneration, selection and appointments 

committee and the privatisation committee. The committees 

meet independently and provide the Supervisory Board as a 

whole with support in their specific fields and make prepara-

tions for the decision-making of the Supervisory Board.  

The committees report on their meetings during the meetings 

of the Supervisory Board. The Holland Casino Executive Board 

and the committees also consult with each other outside the 

scheduled meetings. The tasks of the committees are described 

in the by-laws of the respective committees of the Supervisory 

Board.

Audit committee

The audit committee provides the Supervisory Board with 

support in the supervision of Holland Casino’s internal risk 

management and control systems and the financial reporting. 

The audit committee members are Ms. Dekker (Chair) and  

Ms. Van Zuijlen. In 2018, the committee had four scheduled 

meetings. The main topics discussed at these meetings 

included the financial and audit reports, the structure of the 

Risk Management and Compliance framework, the new 

financing agreement and the introduction of a privacy 

framework. 

Remuneration, selection and appointments committee 

The remuneration, selection and appointments committee’s 

task is to advise the Supervisory Board on the remuneration 

policy, the remuneration structure and the remuneration of 

the individual members of the Executive Board. The committee 

also provides advice on nominations for the appointment of 

SUPERVISORY BOARD REPORT 
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members of the Executive Board. The members of the 

committee are Mr. Baud (chair) and Mr. Roks. The committee 

met twice in 2018. 

Privatisation committee 

The privatisation committee has been assigned the task of 

advising the Supervisory Board on the consequences of the 

liberalisation of the gaming market. Mr. Bröcker (chair) and  

Mr. Baud are the members of the privatisation committee.  

This committee focuses on the preparations for the intro-

duction of the legislation on the modernisation of the gaming 

casino regime. In 2018, the committee met five times and 

conducted two telephone meetings. 

Composition and (re)appointments

In 2018, the Supervisory Board had its full complement of  

five members, two women and three men. The members 

represent a variety of backgrounds and areas of expertise and 

experience.

The current term of Mr. Roks expires at the general meeting  

of 3 April 2019. With respect to the resultant vacancy, the  

works council has a legal right of recommendation. This is  

an enhanced right of nomination for the appointment of a 

third of the members of the Supervisory Board.

In the appointment of new members, we take into considera-

tion a balanced composition, the added value of each  

individual member and diversity, in line with the Dutch 

Corporate Governance Code.

Financial reporting 

The Supervisory Board discussed the annual report and the 

financial statements for 2018 with the Executive Board and 

with the auditor. On 3 April 2019, the minister adopted the 

financial statements. The unqualified auditor’s report is 

included in this annual report on pages 135 through 140. The 

Supervisory Board proposes that, in line with Holland Casino’s 

articles of association, the Executive Board be discharged for 

its management and that the Supervisory Board be discharged 

for their supervision of same.
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Holland Casino attaches a great deal of importance  
to sound management and the supervision of same.  
In this, we carefully consider the interests of our 
stakeholders. Our governance is based on principles 
such as transparency, integrity and clear and  
unequivocal communications. 

Holland Casino has chosen to comply with the Dutch Corporate 

Governance Code (‘the Code’) and has implemented all the 

relevant provisions of the Code. Since Holland Casino is not a 

listed company, it does not apply any provisions drawn up 

specifically for listed companies. On our website we report  

on compliance with this code in line with the ‘comply or 

explain’ principle. 

Governance structure

On 1 May 2017, Holland Casino became a public limited 

company, in which the State holds 100% of the shares.  

Holland Casino was founded in 1974 as a foundation and 

designated as the only government-licensed provider of casino 

gaming in the Netherlands. 

The State exercises its shareholder rights in Holland Casino N.V. 

in accordance with the provisions of the 2013 policy paper on 

state shareholdings. This policy is based on the legal form of 

an equity company with a mitigated two-tier regime. The 

Minister for Legal Protection is responsible for policy matters. 

The Finance Ministry is responsible for the governance of the 

Company. The profit is remitted to the state in the form of 

dividend payments on the basis of the law, the decree, the 

articles of association and other agreements in this context. 

The Executive Board is responsible for the day-to-day  

management of the Company and is subject to the supervision 

of a Supervisory Board. Members of the Supervisory Board are 

appointed by the Finance Minister. The Finance Ministry has 

approval rights and powers of appointment that are laid down 

in the Company’s articles of association. Holland Casino is 

subject to the supervision of the Dutch Gaming Commission 

and operates within the legal parameters of the Dutch Gaming 

Act and the Dutch Casino Games decree. The Dutch Central 

Bank assesses the reliability of the Executive Board and the 

members of the Supervisory Board. 

Laws and regulations 

Holland Casino is subject to the following laws and regulations 

(not exhaustive):

• Gaming Act (Wok)

• Casino Games Decree

• Financial Supervision Act (Wft)

• Prevention of money laundering and financing of terrorism 

Act (Wwft)

• Sanctions Act

• Licensing and Catering Act

• General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)

• Working conditions Act

• Working hours Act

• Code of conduct for promotional games of chance

• Dutch Advertising Code

• Decree on Gaming advertising and addiction prevention

• Slot machine decree 2000

• Gaming Tax Act

• ECB decree on the authenticity and fitness checking and 

recirculation of euro banknotes (ECB/2010/14)
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• Private security firms and detective agencies Act

• Code on advertising alcoholic beverages 

• General local regulations

The Executive Board 

Holland Casino’s Executive Board is responsible for the 

day-to-day management of Holland Casino and for defining the 

Company’s strategy and policies. Holland Casino’s articles of 

association and the Executive Board by-laws include a more 

detailed description of the Executive Board’s responsibilities, 

tasks and operating methods. 

In accordance with the articles of association, the Supervisory 

Board determines the number of Executive Board members. 

The Chairman of the Executive Board, Erwin van Lambaart, 

forms the two-man Executive Board with Ruud Bergervoet. 

Executive Board members are appointed for a term of four 

years, after which they are eligible for re-appointment. 

In addition to the statutory Executive Board, Holland Casino 

also has a Management Team. The Management Team consists 

of staff department directors and regional directors. The 

Executive Board and the Management Team meet every two 

weeks, primarily to discuss strategic topics and to reach 

decisions on same.

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Mr. E. van Lambaart (1963)

Erwin van Lambaart was appointed as Chairman of the 

Executive Board of Holland Casino on 7 March 2016. Prior to 

joining Holland Casino, he worked in the (international) 

hospitality industry and the worlds of theatre, entertainment 

and media at companies including Accor, Stage Entertainment 

and Niehe media. Erwin van Lambaart completed his education 

at The Hague Hotel School. 

Responsibilities: Gaming & Services, Human Resources, 

Marketing & E-Commerce, Corporate Communications, 

Operations, Legal & Compliance, Audit.

Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 

Mr. R. Bergervoet (1963)

Ruud Bergervoet joined Holland Casino as Chief Financial 

Officer (CFO) on 21 March 2017. Prior to joining Holland Casino, 

he held a number of (ad interim) positions as CFO with 

companies including FD Mediagroep, SDU Uitgevers and 

Baarsma Wine Group Holding. He graduated cum laude with  

an Economics degree from the University of Amsterdam.

Responsibilities: Finance & Control, IT, Security & Responsible 

Gaming, Risk Management, Procurement, PMO.

Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board supervises the policies of the Holland 

Casino Executive Board and provides the latter with advice.  

The Supervisory Board supervises and advises the Executive 

Board in the execution of its tasks and does so from a position 

of independence. This independent position is in accordance 

with best-practice provision III.2.2 of the Code. At year-end 

2018, the Supervisory Board had five members. Two of these 

were women and the remaining three were men.  

Mr. W.L.J. Bröcker has been chairman of the Supervisory Board 

since late 2016. 

The Finance Minister appoints the members of the Supervisory 

Board following consultations with the Supervisory Board.  

The functioning of the Board, its committees and the  

individual members of the Board is discussed at least  

once a year. 
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Composition Executive Board and Supervisory Board 

In line with the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, Holland 

Casino applies a diversity policy for the composition of the 

Executive Board, the Supervisory Board and the committees. 

Holland Casino recognises the importance of a balanced 

division of men and women in the Executive Board (and 

Management Team) and the Supervisory Board and strives to 

meet the guideline ensuing from the Dutch Management and 

Supervision Act, included in article 2:166 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

With respect to the balanced division of the seats between 

women and men, the Supervisory Board is in compliance with 

legal standards. The Executive Board currently consists of two 

men. In the event of a vacancy, Holland Casino will try to fill 

said vacancy in line with the legal standard related to creating 

a balanced division.

External auditor 

KPMG has been Holland Casino’s auditor since the financial 

year 2016. KPMG reports to the Executive Board and to the 

Supervisory Board. In 2018, KPMG attended two meetings of 

the audit committee. The by-laws of the committee stipulate 

that the external auditor should attend at least one meeting  

of the audit committee per year. 

Integrity and ethics 

Holland Casino sets high standards when it comes to integrity, 

and employees across all levels of the Company must comply 

with these standards. In addition, Holland Casino has set 

requirements for the services and products of its partners and 

suppliers. These requirements include conditions related to the 

fair and ethically responsible production of food items and 

other products. Holland Casino assesses employees and 

suppliers for integrity and trustworthiness before they are 

appointed or selected.

Remuneration

Each year, the Supervisory Board determines the remuneration 

of the Executive Board, in line with the Holland Casino 

Remuneration policy, which is based on the Remuneration 

framework for state shareholdings and the 2013 Policy paper 

on state shareholdings. The remuneration for the members  

of the Executive Board consists of a fixed and a variable 

component. The sum of the fixed and variable income of the 

Chairman of the Executive Board (CEO) has been maximised at  

EUR 296,000. The variable component for both the CEO and 

the CFO amounts to a maximum of 20% of their fixed income.

The level of the variable remuneration to be paid out depends 

on the realisation of targets set in advance by the Supervisory 

Board. These targets contribute to the realisation of various 

objectives. They have been divided into financial and non- 

financial targets and may include both short-term and medium 

to long-term targets. For 2018, the ratio of financial and 

non-financial targets was set at 50/50. The financial targets 

included the realisation of the budgeted result before extra-

ordinary income and expenses. The non-financial component 

included personal targets and social targets (such as guest  

and employee satisfaction, compliance and corporate social 

responsibility).

The variable remuneration is subject to a claw-back clause.  

In addition to this, the Supervisory Board is authorised  

to adjust the variable remuneration if the payment of  

same is deemed unacceptable according to standards  

of reasonableness and fairness.

The shareholder determines the remuneration of the  

Supervisory Board. The members of the Supervisory Board  

are reimbursed for any expenses they may reasonably incur.
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You will find a detailed explanation of the remuneration policy 

in the financial statements on page 132 of this annual report. 

The ratio of the total remuneration of the highest paid 

employee (the CEO) to the median total remuneration of all 

other employees was 5.2 in 2018 (2017: 4.9). The calculation of 

this ratio included the fixed and variable components of total 

remuneration, as well as pension expenses.

Privacy

Holland Casino requires access to the personal data of its 

guests to execute the Responsible Gaming Policy effectively. 

Because we attach enormous importance to the privacy of  

our guests, we make sure that all administrative processes 

involving the personal data of guests meet legal criteria.  

This obviously also applies to the personal data of our 

employees. The laws governing the protection of personal  

data in the European Union have been revised and the  

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) has come into 

force. Holland Casino has amended its policy to the  

new regulation. 

Compliance with the Prevention of money laundering and 

the financing of terrorism Act, the Financial Supervision Act 

and the Sanctions Act 

As per 1 January 2016, the supervision of compliance with the 

Prevention of money laundering and the financing of terrorism 

Act (Wwft) rests with the Dutch Gaming Commission.  

The Dutch Central Bank is responsible for the supervision of 

compliance with the Financial Supervision Act (Wft) and the 

Sanctions Act.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

1. Introduction 

The gaming market and Holland Casino are subject to change. 

Economic developments, technological applications, changes 

in legislation and the arrival of new providers all offer 

opportunities for our organisation, but also entail  

uncertainties and risks. 

Amidst these developments, risk management is an integral 

part of the daily (operational) activities of Holland Casino.  

Our risk management system helps us realise our strategic 

goals in a controlled manner. Holland Casino creates value by 

optimising and continuously monitoring the balance between 

risks and expected return or results of the defined objectives, 

while at the same time meeting the requirements of (external) 

stakeholders. 

The purpose of integrated risk management is to identify 

material risks, pro-actively set up mitigating measures, and  

to anticipate and adjust to (changing) uncertainties or 

developments in an adequate and timely fashion. 

2. Organisation

Integrated risk management 

Integrated risk management looks at all the risks within the 

entire organisation. This includes both strategic risks and 

tactical and operational risks at various levels of the organisa-

tion, such as in casinos, within departments or in individual 

projects. The risk management process has been designed to 

identify, monitor and assess risks on a continuous basis and  

to weigh whether and what measures to take to mitigate  

those risks.

The risks and results of internal control measures are  

subsequently monitored by the Risk Management department. 

Reports on the status and progress are submitted to the 

(senior) management and the Executive Board on a  

quarterly basis. 

Holland Casino not only devotes attention to the ‘hard side’ of 

risk management (processes, procedures and reports), but also 

to the ‘soft side’ (risk awareness, communications and mutual 

trust). This, together with the mission, core values, strategy 

and objectives, forms the context for the structure of the risk 

management process at Holland Casino.

Integrated risk management enables us to weigh matters 

much more effectively when we are making important 

decisions by identifying any risks (and opportunities) and 

making them explicit. We are able to control risks in our 

day-to-day operations and in the execution of projects both 

comprehensively and efficiently, using a set of interrelated 

measures. Integrated risk management therefore contributes 

to the controlled realisation of the organisation’s objectives. 

Holland Casino strives for the continuous improvement of its 

processes to safeguard the Company as effectively as possible 

against potential risks. Nonetheless, no system can provide 

total certainty that the Company will achieve its strategic and 

financial objectives, nor fully prevent loss, fraud or the 

violation of laws and regulations.

• Mission and core values

• Strategy and objectives 

• Expectations of guests and other stakeholders

PEOPLE & CULTURE

RISK APPETITE

Reporting

Monitoring

Risk assessment

(Re)action

CONTEXT

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

FOUNDATION

G
O

V
ER

N
A

N
C

E

70



Responsibility 

At Holland Casino, risk management and internal control is

structured in line with the three lines of defence model. In this 

model, the first line, consisting of management and risk 

owners, is responsible for the design, effectuation and 

execution of primary and support processes and related 

control measures (hereafter: controls). The first line is also 

responsible for the control of the risks, compliance with laws 

and regulations relevant to these processes and the continuous 

monitoring of these processes and controls. Risk owners are an 

additional link in the chain of risk management. The second 

line of defence, which includes the Risk Management and 

Compliance departments, facilitates and advises line  

management and monitors whether parties actively exercise 

their responsibilities. The third line of defence, Internal Audit, 

monitors and assesses whether the first and second lines 

cooperate effectively. The Executive Board holds final  

responsibility for the integrated risk management system.  

The responsibilities are shown in the visual on this page. 

RISK OWNERS

EXECUTIVE BOARD
• Final responsibility for the structure and correct 

application of integrated risk management
• Defining and annual revaluation of the risk appetite

• Identification and delegation of (possible)  
improvement actions with respect to the risk 

• Optimisation of control and prevention of over- 
control

• Implementation of the correct risk response to manage 
the assigned strategic risk now and in the future  
within the parameters of the risk appetite

• Proposal of measures to mitigate the risk

MANAGEMENT TEAM
• Execution annual strategic risk assessment

• Appointment of Risk Owners for key strategic risks 

RISK MANAGEMENT COMPLIANCE, LEGAL  
& BUSINESS CONTROL

INTERNAL AUDIT

• Facilitate, drive and advise the 
line management in the 
execution of their risk 
management responsibilities 

• Coordination and streamlining  
of risk management activities 

• Facilitate an annual strategic  
risk assessment 

• Coordination of the control 
assessment process

• Management and maintenance  
of an integrated risk register

• Consolidation of assessments  
and reporting on risks and 
controls

• Maintenance of the Risk 
Management Charter 

• Facilitate and advise the line 
management in the execution 
of their risk management 
responsibilities

• Identification of and advice on 
opportunities for improvements 
in the specific risk area 

• Monitoring whether line 
management actively exercise 
their risk management 
responsibilities 

• Independent assessment of the 
structure and effectiveness of  
the integrated risk management 
system. 

MANAGEMENT
• Management of tactical and operational risks
• Design, effectuation and execution of primary  

and support processes and the associated  
controls

• Compliance with relevant and prevailing laws  
and regulations

• Continuous monitoring of processes and controls
• Regular evaluation and optimisation of controls 
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RISK CATEGORY

Risk category Explanation

Compliance and Integrity Holland Casino does its utmost to guarantee the safety of 
guests and employees at all times and is therefore not  
prepared to accept risks on this front. Holland Casino also 
strives to comply with all laws and regulations that apply to 
Holland Casino.

Reputation  Holland Casino monitors its role in society and associated duty 
of care (Responsible Gaming Policy). Holland Casino also wants 
to be considered ‘exciting gaming’ in combination with  
a reliable and safe gaming environment.

Service Our guests and the services we offer our guests are always the 
highest priority at Holland Casino. Holland Casino is prepared 
to accept a responsible level of risk to create a high-quality 
guest experience.

Innovative capability Holland Casino takes responsible risks to keep the guest  
experience innovative and exciting.

Financial  Holland Casino has a healthy financial position and no  
outstanding debt. The Company is therefore willing to accept 
financial risks in a responsible manner.

Holland Casino’s  
risk appetite

The risk appetite indicates the level of risk the Executive Board 
is willing to accept in striving to achieve Holland Casino’s  
strategic objectives. Holland Casino is generally reluctant to 
take risks, but the upcoming changes in guest requirements 
and the market are forcing the Company to respond more 
actively to (external) changes, which means Holland Casino 
is willing to take a certain level of risk in some areas. The risk 
appetite has therefore been set at low.

RISK APPETITE

Very low Low Medium High Very high 

Compliance and Integrity •
Reputation •
Services •
Innovative capability •
Financial •
Holland Casino’s risk appetite •

3. Risk appetite

The risk appetite has been determined for each risk driver and 

consolidated in a total risk appetite per impact area and for 

Holland Casino as a whole. The Executive Board determines  

the risk appetite, taking into account the strategy, mission and 

vision, core values and (business) context of Holland Casino. 

The Board regularly discusses the risk profile with the audit 

committee and the Supervisory Board. The Executive Board 

and the (senior) management take the risk appetite into 

account when taking decisions and manage the risks consist-

ently within the defined risk appetite. Holland Casino’s risk 

appetite was reviewed in 2018 and set at ‘low’. The risk appetite 

is based on the five risk categories in the table on this page. 

Risk appetite

Holland Casino’s risk appetite varies per type of impact area 

and the consolidated rating is summarised in the visual on  

this page. 

4. Overview of main risks

The Holland Casino Executive Board determines the Company’s 

main risks on an annual basis. The most recent status with 

regard to risk management and the progress of defined  

actions is reported on a quarterly basis to the Executive  

Board, the management team and the casino managers. 

Holland Casino takes internal risk management measures to 

control risks. The main risks and internal risk management 

measures are explained below.

Note: the risks are presented gross, or as if no internal mitigating measures 
have been taken. 
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Safe and responsible gaming

Data security & privacy 

Prevention inappropriate behaviour

Risk drivers: Risk drivers: Risk drivers: Risk drivers: Risk drivers:

Brand experience Employment terms and conditions Entering into partnershipsSocial role

Low

REPUTATION

Guest experience Vakkundige & betrokken 
medewerkers

Skilled and engaged employees

Low

SERVICE

Relationship management Innovation through new concepts, 
games and services

Innovation and change culture

Medium

INNOVATIVE 
   CAPABILITY

Cost structureRevenue

Adapting concepts, games 
and services

Efficient and effective support processes 
and services

Innovation business model 

Implementation & integration 
developments (processes & systems)

Investments 

Financial position

Medium

FINANCIAL

Anti-money laundering

Gambling addiction

Very low

COMPLIANCE & 
GAMBLING ADDICTION

PARTNERSHIPS INNOVATION GUESTS EMPLOYEESSOCIETY

R
is

k 
ap

pe
ti

te
 p
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 r

is
k 
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te

go
ry

Risk appetite with respect to the strategic pillars

Risk appetite Very low Low Medium High

RISK APPETITE
RISK APPETITE
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SOCIETAL RISKS

FRAUD BY GUESTS  
AND EMPLOYEES 

Category: Reputation 

Impact: high

The risk 

The activities of Holland Casino mean that 

there is a risk that inadequate monitoring or 

violation of procedures will result in fraud 

(such as the manipulation of slot machines  

or cheating at tables) committed by guests 

and/or employees.

The control measure 

Holland Casino has embedded preventative 

control measures in its working procedures 

and safety protocols in risk areas. In addition 

to a clear division of tasks and functions in 

cash processing procedures and cash storage, 

all procedures are subject to intensive 

supervision. Holland Casino stimulates  

risk awareness in training courses for its 

employees. The Company offers guests the 

option of transferring or depositing cash  

for safety reasons.

LEVEL PLAYING FIELD

Category: Reputation

Impact: high

The risk 

Holland Casino operates in strict compliance 

with laws and regulations (for instance, 

through a trendsetting Responsible Gaming 

Policy) and this, together with (new) competi-

tors entering the market, means there is a risk 

that public sector bodies fail to supervise the 

organisations and activities strictly enough, 

which could result in a lack of a (fair) level 

playing field.

The control measure 

Holland Casino closely monitors develop-

ments in the field of laws and regulations  

and holds regular consultations with all 

stakeholders involved. 

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH  
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING 
LAWS AND REGULATIONS 

Category: Compliance & Integrity

Impact: medium

The risk 

Holland Casino has a social responsibility to 

never be associated in any way with money 

laundering and/or the financing of terrorism. 

However, the nature and number of cash 

transactions in the operational processes  

of the casinos means there is a risk that 

anti-money laundering procedures at  

Holland Casino are not complied with 

sufficiently, which in turn creates a risk of 

non-compliance with laws and regulations.

The control measure 

The Legal & Compliance, Security & Respon-

sible Gaming and Internal Audit departments 

monitor compliance scrupulously. Internal 

training courses, as well as the management’s 

exemplary conduct (tone at the top), 

contribute to employee awareness with 

respect to laws and regulations and how they 

are expected to behave in line with these laws 

and regulations. 
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NON-COMPLIANCE WITH 
RESPONSIBLE GAMING POLICY

Category: Compliance & Integrity

Impact: medium

The risk 

In view of its role in society, Holland Casino 

has a trend-setting Responsible Gaming Policy 

for the prevention of gambling addiction, but 

there is a risk that procedures within Holland 

Casino are not followed adequately and 

therefore a risk of non-compliance with laws 

and regulations and/or internal rules, 

resulting in fines, legal measures and/or 

reputational damage. 

The control measure 

The Legal & Compliance, Security & Respon-

sible Gaming and Internal Audit departments 

monitor compliance scrupulously. Internal 

training courses, as well as the management’s 

exemplary conduct (tone at the top), 

contribute to employee awareness with 

respect to laws and regulations and how they 

are expected to behave in line with these laws 

and regulations. 

FINANCIAL  
REPORTING

Category: Financial

Impact: medium

The risk 

Reliable financial reporting is essential for 

effective and informed decision making and 

for informing external parties. If this reporting 

is incomplete or inaccurate, or is not available 

in a timely fashion, this could lead to the 

inadequate provision of information and 

potential reputational damage.

The control measure 

Holland Casino has an internal control 

framework that documents how the main 

reporting risks are controlled. The key 

measures are monitored intensively to 

safeguard effective operations. Holland Casino 

also carries out periodic re-evaluations of the 

set-up of this internal control framework. 

These checks are used to identify potential 

improvements and to ascertain whether it is 

possible to make processes more efficient.

FINANCIAL RISK  
GENERAL

Category: Financial

Impact: low

The risk 

Holland Casino has limited exposure to 

fluctuating price levels on the procurement 

front due to its business model, with gaming  

as its main product. Due to the fact that the 

Company has virtually no creditors and also 

has no debts, credit risks and cash flow risks are 

limited. On the basis of the Company’s current 

liquidity position, Holland Casino can pay off 

virtually all short-term debts in one go. This 

also means that liquidity risks are low at this 

point in time. However, the liquidity risk is set 

to increase in the coming years due to the high 

level of investments in the new-build casinos in 

Venlo and Utrecht. 

The control measure 

Although the liquidity risk is limited at this 

time, Holland Casino monitors its liquidity  

and working capital position and takes any 

necessary action. The Company works continu-

ously on the optimisation of its organisation.  

In 2018, the credit facility was extended for a 

maximum of seven years (extension of five 

years with an option of two one-year exten-

sions). The size of the credit facility is calculated 

on the basis of a long-term plan with a variety 

of scenarios, so there is still sufficient head-

room for investments in the coming years,  

even in the event of disappointing results.
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GUEST RISKS 

DEPENDENCE CORE GROUP 
OF GUESTS 

Category: Financial 

Impact: high

The risk 

In view of the declining size and ageing of the 

core group of regular guests, Holland Casino 

will have to diversify its guest base. There is a 

risk that Holland Casino takes insufficient 

initiative to generate revenue from other and/

or new guest segments.

The control measure 

Holland Casino constantly develops initiatives 

related to hospitality and marketing, to 

maintain and strengthen the relationship with 

its guests. Holland Casino uses a value-based 

approach to ensure all target groups are 

approached in a manner (spend) appropriate 

to them.

UNAUTHORISED ACCESS  
TO IT SYSTEMS OR DATA 

Category: Compliance & Integrity

Impact: high

The risk 

The complexity of IT systems and associated 

(personal) data means there is a risk of 

unauthorised access to IT systems from 

internal or external sources and/or insuffi-

cient protection of (personal) data, resulting in 

data breaches and/or compliance incidents. 

The control measure 

Holland Casino is implementing a future-proof 

infrastructure and is constantly working to 

renew its application environment. Holland 

Casino has drawn up and implemented 

standards relating to operational security 

measures and the state of our data security is 

reported and assessed periodically.

DIVERSIFICATION
GUEST SEGMENTS 

Category: Service 

Impact: medium

The risk 

Changes in guest groups segments with 

varying requirements (decline in loyal guests 

and increase in millennials) mean there is a 

risk that Holland Casino may fail to provide 

the correct guest experience to the guest 

groups and makes concessions in terms of its 

9+ guest experience, resulting in a decline in 

guest satisfaction and the number of repeat 

visits. 

The control measure 

Continuous initiatives with respect to 

hospitality and marketing to maintain and 

strengthen the relationship with its guests.
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OVER-COMPLIANCE WITH 
LAWS AND REGULATIONS 

Category: Compliance & Integrity

Impact: medium

The risk 

Holland Casino’s interpretation of its role in 

society, its trendsetting Responsible Gaming 

Policy and its strict compliance with laws and 

regulations mean there is a risk that guests 

will prefer to switch to its competitors or the 

online gaming market with less strict 

compliance with the rules, resulting in a  

loss of guests. 

The control measure 

In view of the increasing competition in the 

(online) market, Holland Casino is monitoring 

this market to ensure it can respond to any 

developments in a timely fashion, if this is 

necessary and desired. 

GAMING SAFETY 

Category: Compliance & Integrity

Impact: high

The risk 

In order to comply with internal regulations 

and the requirements of supervisory bodies, 

Holland Casino needs operating procedures 

and internal regulations to safeguard safe and 

reliable games. However, there is a risk of 

non-compliance with procedures, which may 

be detrimental to the safety of the games.  

This in turn may result in reputational 

damage and/or fines/legal measures 

combined with tightened supervision. 

The control measure 

Holland Casino takes its social responsibility 

seriously and considers striving for respon-

sible gaming as one of its core tasks. Holland 

Casino also ensures that preventative control 

measures are embedded in working proce-

dures and safety protocols in risk areas.
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EMPLOYEE RISKS 

INFLEXIBLE COST  
STRUCTURE 

Category: Reputation

Impact: high

The risk 

The relatively inflexible cost structure  

together with the uncertain (price) develop-

ments in the market means there is a risk that 

Holland Casino will not be able to respond 

quickly enough to changes or reductions (in 

guests and/or revenue), resulting in high costs 

in more (economically) challenging times and 

a negative impact on the result. 

The control measure 

Continued reduction of the fixed costs and 

targeted investments to improve returns  

(to strengthen market position).

INSUFFICIENT  
WILLINGNESS TO CHANGE 

Category: Innovative potential 

Impact: high

The risk 

An insufficient willingness to change entails  

a risk that Holland Casino will be unable to 

make the switch to a flexible, competitive, 

guest-centric, result-focussed and innovative 

organisation, resulting in a failure to realise 

the acceleration required for innovative 

potential.

The control measure 

Holland Casino constantly develops varying 

initiatives, including measures to shorten or 

streamline (decision-making) processes, 

improve cooperation and strengthen  

leadership within the organisation.

PARTNERSHIPS RISKS

EXCESSIVE  
TIME-TO-MARKET 

Category: Innovative potential 

Impact: high

The risk 

The complex organisation and governance 

structure at Holland Casino, together with 

changing guest requirements, entail a risk 

that Holland Casino’s time-to-market is too 

long when it comes to new concepts.

The control measure 

Holland Casino constantly develops varying 

initiatives, including measures to shorten or 

streamline (decision-making) processes, 

improve cooperation and strengthen  

leadership within the organisation.

FREEDOM OF CHOICE  
PARTNERSHIPS 

Category: Reputation

Impact: low

The risk 

The level of freedom to act in entering into 

partnerships and the definitive choice of 

partners entails a risk that Holland Casino’s 

casinos enter into partnerships that are not  

in alignment with the core values and this 

could result in conflicts of interest and/or 

reputational damage. 

The control measure 

Holland Casino ensures that its core values are 

publicised and shared broadly and explicitly 

across the organisation and that the activities 

of casinos and head office are prioritised and 

monitored in a joint fashion.
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INNOVATION RISKS 

COMPETITION 

Category: Service 

Impact: medium

The risk 

Increased competition, changing economic 

conditions in the market and potential  

new competitors (for instance, disruptive 

innovations) entail a risk that competitors are 

able to offer better and smarter services and 

thus take away revenue, resulting in a loss of 

existing market position. 

The control measure 

Holland Casino invests in long-term guest 

relationships and sees this as a key  

differentiating factor vis-à-vis its competition. 

In addition, Holland Casino is working to 

boost its market position with fixed cost 

management and specific investments  

geared towards improving returns.

ONLINE PROPOSITION  
FAILS TO MEET GUEST  
REQUIREMENTS 

Category: Service

Impact: high

The risk 

The implications of the future Remote  

gaming legislation and associated status of 

the development of the online casino entail a 

risk that the online proposition that Holland 

Casino develops fails, in qualitative terms,  

to meet the needs of its guests, game require-

ments and/or fails to comply with (new) laws 

and regulations, resulting in insufficient 

growth in (online) guest numbers and the 

omni-channel experience. 

The control measure 

Holland Casino works with (product)  

specialists according to the Agile method. 

These specialists have extensive know-how 

and experience in the continuous adaptation 

of the online casino to the wishes of stake-

holders. 

POLITICAL  
DEVELOPMENTS 

Category: Innovative capability 

Impact: high

The risk 

The uncertainties surrounding the timing and 

substance of political decisions (such as a ban 

on smoking areas, remote gaming legislation, 

privatisation, tax rate and changes in the 

application of catering licences) mean there  

is a risk that Holland Casino will not have 

prepared (quickly) enough for political 

changes, resulting in less than desired market 

development and innovation of the business 

model.

The control measure 

Holland Casino closely monitors develop-

ments in the field of laws and regulations  

and holds regular consultations with all the 

stakeholders involved.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR 2018

In thousands of euro Note 2018 2017

Revenue Table games 265,794 255,872

Revenue Slot machines 340,032 332,187

Gaming and non-gaming tips 23,029 23,600

Admission fees 1,734 1,812

Food & Beverage revenue 24,413 23,622

Other income 1,520 2,145

Revenue before gaming tax 656,522 639,238

Gaming tax -182,354 -170,537

Net revenue 474,168 468,701

Insurance claim 11,418 28,957

Total revenue 1 485,586 497,658

Depreciation and impairments 2 -32,741 -43,267

Employee benefits 3 -241,624 -225,765

Other operating expenses 4 -128,983 -131,130

Operating result 82,238 97,496

Finance income 5 1,185 1,097

Finance expenses 6 -834 -1,060

Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 7 120 457

Result before corporate income tax 82,709 97,990

Corporate income tax 8 -23,248 -24,510

Result after corporate income tax 59,461 73,480

Attributable to:

- Shareholders (net result) 59,395 73,480

- Non-controlling interests 66 -

59,461 73,480

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 2018

In thousands of euro 2018 2017

Result for the year 59,461 73,480

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to the income statement 
in subsequent periods

- Currency translation differences on foreign operations of investees -11 3

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax - 3

Total comprehensive income 59,450 73,483

 Attributable to:

- Shareholders (net result) 59,384 73,483

- Non-controlling interests 66 -

59,450 73,483
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

In thousands of euro Note 31-12-2018 31-12-2017

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 9 6,504 4,742

Property, plant and equipment 10 230,106 208,901

Deferred tax assets 11 10,139 14,283

Fees not yet amortised 12 638 414

Equity-accounted investees 13 1,171 1,342

Total non-current assets 248,558 229,682

Current assets

Inventories 14 953 711

Receivables and accrued income 15 6,651 35,626

Tax receivables 11 742 1,014

Fees not yet amortised 12 170 236

Cash and cash equivalents 16 85,326 63,601

Total current assets 93,842 101,188

Total assets 342,400 330,870

Equity 17

Share capital 45 45

Legal reserve 6,504 4,448

Currency translation reserve -100 -89

Fair value reserve 1,898 1,898

Retained earnings 154,671 131,483

Unappropriated result 59,395 73,480

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 222,413 211,265

Non-controlling interests 346 -

Total equity 222,759 211,265

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 18 9,349 8,656

Deferred tax liabilities 20 1,941 4,502

Other liabilities 21 5,905 4,138

Total non-current liabilities 17,195 17,296

Current liabilities

Provisions 18 1,828 1,223

Trade and other payables 21 79,610 85,423

Current tax liabilities 20 20,632 15,634

Other liabilities 21 376 29

Other current liabilities 102,446 102,309

Total equity and liabilities 342,400 330,870
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

In thousands of euro
Share 

capital
Legal 

reserve

Currency 
translation 

reserve

Fair 
value 

reserve
Retained
earnings

Un- 
appropiate

result

Non-
controlling

interest Total

Balance as at 1 January 2017 - 5,800 -92 1,898 102,515 74,161 - 184,282

Result for the financial period from  
1 January to 30 April 2017 - - - - - 25,981 - 25,981

Balance as at 30 April 2017 - 5,800 -92 1,898 102,515 100,142 - 210,263

Effect conversion to N.V. on 1 May 2017 45 - - - -45 - - -

Balance as at 1 May 2017 (after effect 
conversion)

45 5,800 -92 1,898 102,470 100,142 - 210,263

Result for the financial period from  
1 May to 31 December 2017 - - - - - 47,499 - 47,499

Appropriation of result - - - - 74,161 -74,161 - -

Other comprehensive income for the year - - 3 - - - 3

Total comprehensive income 45 - 3 - 74,116 -681 - 73,483

Dividend 37 - - - - -46,500 - - -46,500

Changes related to development costs 9 - -1,352 - - 1,352 - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2017 45 4,448 -89 1,898 131,483 73,480 - 211,265

Balance as at 1 January 2018 45 4,448 -89 1,898 131,483 73,480 - 211,265

Result for the financial year - - - - - 59,395 66 59,461

Appropriation of result - - - - 73,480 -73,480 - -

Other comprehensive income for the year - - -11 - - - - -11

Total comprehensive income - - -11 - 73,480 -14,085 66 59,450

Dividend 37 - - - - -48,236 - - -48,236

Changes related to development costs 9 - 2,056 - - -2,056 - - -

Acquisition of subsidiary with non-
controlling interests - - - - - - 280 280

Balance as at 31 December 2018 45 6,504 -100 1,898 154,671 59,395 346 222,759
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

In thousands of euro Note 2018 2017

Result after corporate income tax 59,461 73,480

Adjustments for: 

Profit of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 13 -120 -457

Settlement of a pre-existing relationship 4 3,610 -

Depreciation and amortisation 2 32,741 43,267

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 4 -460 -185

Net finance costs/income 5.6 -351 -37

Corporate income tax expenses 8 23,248 24,510

Movements in:

Receivables 15 1,492 -2,563

Insurance claim received fire Groningen 15 47,835 5,000

Insurance claim to be settled fire Groningen 15 -19,726 -33,109

Inventories 14 -208 -7

Other assets 11 232 -197

Trade and other payables 21 -1,071 -3,217

Provisions 18 1,262 -1,947

Other liabilities 20, 21 4,829 916

Cash flow from operating activities 152,774 105,454

Taxes paid 8 -19,394 -21,953

Net cash flow from operating activities 133,380 83,501

Interest received 5 37 37

Foreign currency conversion gains 5 1,148 1,060

Investments in intangible assets 9 -3,051 -3,819

Investments in property, plant and equipment 10 -58,192 -71,567

Proceeds from sale of investments 4 1,328 240

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 13 -3,750 -

Dividends received 13 - 210

Net cash flow from investing activities -62,480 -73,839

Finance costs paid 6 -939 -649

Dividends paid 36 -48,236 -46,500

Net cash flow from financing activities -49,175 -47,149

Net cash flow 21,725 -37,487

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 16 63,601 101,088

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 16 85,326 63,601
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED ON 31 DECEMBER 2018

General information 

Holland Casino, registered at the Chamber of Commerce number 68662289, operates casino games and slot machines in 

the Netherlands and is officially registered in The Hague, the Netherlands (head office address: Neptunusstraat 71,  

2132 JP Hoofddorp).

Acquisition subsidiary 

On 3 January 2018, the entity Gaming & Casino Services B.V. (“GCS”) (Chamber of Commerce number 70505179) was 

founded. GCS was founded by legal demerger, under which all service activities were transferred by universal title to GCS 

from Gaming Support B.V. Holland Casino N.V. subsequently acquired additional shares in GCS from Van Linden Beheer 

B.V., following which Holland Casino owned 60% of the shares in Gaming & Casino Services B.V. and Van Linden Beheer 

owned the remaining 40%. The financial details of Holland Casino and GCS were subsequently recognised according to the 

full consolidation method.

Holland Casino’s consolidated financial statements for 2018 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and any interests 

in associated participations and entities over which Holland Casino exercises joint control. Holland Casino’s primary 

business is the operation of casino games.

The gaming tables and machines that Holland Casino has in its casinos are extremely specialised and are covered by 

various strict laws and regulations.

Transferred consideration 

The table below is a summary of the fair values on the acquisition date of the main categories of the consideration 

transferred.

Valuation participation Gaming & Casino Services 420

Depreciation participation Gaming Support -280

Settlement of a pre-existing relationship 3,610

3,750

This acquisition was made in several phases. The demerger of the existing participation under which Holland Casino sold 

40% of Gaming Support and acquired 40% in GCS. The revaluation of the existing 40% interest in GCS to fair value did not 

result in a book profit. Holland Casino subsequently acquired an additional 20% in GCS from Van Linden Beheer. 

Settlement of a pre-existing relationship

The reason for this acquisition was primarily the expected fiscal benefit on the services to be taken, as Holland Casino can 

form a fiscal unit with GCS. Holland Casino allocated EUR 3,610,000 of the transferred payment to the compensation of 

the fiscal damage. This amount was recognised under operational expenses (see note 4).

Acquisition-related costs 

Holland Casino incurred costs of EUR 174,000 in connection with external legal costs and due-diligence costs. These costs 

were recognised under operating costs in 2017.
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Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities accepted 

The table below is an overview of the amounts recognised for assets acquired and liabilities accepted at the acquisition 

date. These costs are already included in 2017 under operational costs.

Property, plant and equipment 251

Inventories 34

Trade receivables 626

Provisions -36

Trade and other payables -176

Balance of identifiable assets and liabilities 699

60% majority interest 420

Determination of fair values 

The valuation methods used to determine the fair value of material assets were as follows.

ACQUIRED ASSETS VALUATION METHOD 

Property, plant and 
equipment

Market comparison method and cost method: the valuation model assumes market prices for comparable items, if 
available, and depreciated replacement costs, when applicable. Depreciated replacement costs comprise adjustments 
for physical wear and tear and functional and financial ageing.

Inventories Market comparison method: the fair value is determined on the basis of the estimated sales price under normal 
business circumstances, less the estimated cost of sale, and a reasonable profit margin on the basis of the efforts 
required to prepare and sell the inventories.

The trade receivables comprise gross contractual amounts due of EUR 626 thousand, of which EUR 0 thousand was 

expected to be uncollectable at the acquisition date.

Fire in Groningen

In 2017, fire broke out in the casino in Groningen and the building and the inventory were completely destroyed. 

The fixed costs of the Groningen casino for the period after the fire (September through December 2017) were recognised 

under ‘Other operating expenses’ (see note 4). These expenses were offset by the lost revenues from the Groningen casino 

in the same period that was covered by the insurance policy (for a maximum period of 104 weeks). In 2017, Holland Casino 

filed a claim for the lost revenues and this was settled in full in 2018. The financial statements for 2017 included the lost 

revenues from the last four months as a claim on the insurer (EUR 1.1 million). In 2018, the remaining 20 months  

(EUR 5.4 million) of this lost revenue were recognised as revenue in the income statement (under income).

The damages related to the impairment loss of property, plant and equipment, with the exception of the land, was covered 

by the insurer up to the estimated reconstruction value (see note 10).

The claim related to the lost revenues and the reconstruction value was recognised as revenue in the income statement in 

2017 and 2018 (see note 1).

Holland Casino received a total of EUR 52.8 million from the insurance company, with EUR 5 million of this received in 

2017 and EUR 47.8 million received in 2018. This was a conditional claim, the condition of which will most likely be 

realised (reconstruction).
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The insurance claim recognised in the income statements for 2017 and 2018 can be broken down as follows:

THE INSURANCE CLAIM RECOGNISED IN THE INCOME STATEMENTS FOR 2017 AND 2018

Recognised under 2018 2017

Lost revenues:

September through December 2017 income 1.1

January 2018 through August 2019 income 5.4

Estimated reconstruction value:

Property (building & repair costs) income 13.5

Inventories income 8.9

Slot machines income 5.5

27.9

Reimbursement demolition and fixed costs: 

Demolition and clearance costs (third parties) operating expenses 0.9 2.0

Coverage of fixed and extra costs operating expenses 7.4 2.1

Remainder of insurance claim income 6.0

Total 19.7 33.1

Total recognised under income 11.4 29.0

Total recognised under operating expenses 8.3 4.1

Total 19.7 33.1

Reporting period 

These financial statements are for the year 2018, ended on the reporting date of 31 December 2018.

Going concern 

Holland Casino’s consolidated financial statements for 2018 were drawn up by the Executive Board on the assumption 

that Holland Casino will continue as a going concern.

Application of article 2:402 of the Dutch Civil Code 

Holland Casino’s financial details have been incorporated in the consolidated financial statements. In accordance with 

article 402 Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, the Company income statement therefore only states the share of the result 

after taxes of the companies in which Holland Casino participates and the other results after taxes.

For the correct interpretation of these statutory financial statements, the Company’s consolidated financial statements 

should be read in conjunction with the Company financial statements, as included on pages 121 through 132.

Statement of compliance with IFRS 

These consolidated financial statements for the year 2018 were prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS), as endorsed by the European Union, and with article 2:362, Part 9 of the Dutch Civil Code.  

The Executive Board approved the financial statements for publication on 3 April 2018. Holland Casino’s Company 

financial statements were drawn up making use of the exemption of article 2:402 of the Dutch Civil Code.

These are the first Holland Casino financial statements drawn up under the application of IFRS 15 ‘Revenues from 

contracts with customers’ and IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’. Changes in significant accounting policies are described  

on page 90 and 91.

Relevant accounting policies 

Below is an explanation of the key accounting policies used for the valuation of assets and liabilities and the  

determination of the results of Holland Casino.

These principles have been applied consistently for all periods presented in these financial statements.
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POLICIES USED FOR THE PREPARATION OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, with the exception of the following 

items, which were valued at fair value at each reporting date: 

• derivative financial instruments: measured at fair value with any changes in valuation recognised in the result;

• non-derivative financial instruments: measured at fair value with any changes in value recognised in the income 

statement. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euro (functional currency), with all amounts rounded off to the 

nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

Income and expenses are attributed to the year in which they were received or incurred. Profits are included only to the 

extent that they have been realised on the reporting date. Losses that originated prior to the end of the year under review 

are included if their existence was known prior to the preparation of the financial statements.

Foreign currency

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into euro at the prevailing exchange rates at the reporting date. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the time of the transaction. Foreign currency 

differences are recognised in the income statement. Exchange rate differences and provisions arising from foreign 

exchange transactions are recognised under financial income and expenses.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign activities, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from acquisitions,  

are translated into euro at the exchange rate on the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are 

translated into euro at the exchange rate on the transaction dates. 

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve, 

except to the extent that the translation difference is allocated to non-controlling interests. 

Key estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 

affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and income and expenses.  

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed 

to be reasonable under the circumstances. The actual results and circumstances may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are  

recognised in the period in which the estimate is reviewed, or in future periods if the review relates to future periods.

The key estimates and assumptions are primarily related to:

• the useful economic life and valuation of property, plant and equipment 10;

• the provision for employee benefits 18;

• lease classification 4;

• control investees 13;

• assets and liabilities not recognised in the statement of financial position 22.
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Fair value

The determination of the fair value of both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities is required for a number of 

valuation principles and explanatory notes.

In the calculation of the fair value of an asset or liability, Holland Casino makes the maximum possible use of observable 

market data. The fair values are divided into various levels on the basis of a fair value hierarchy, depending on the inputs 

used for the application of the valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows:

• Level 1: quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2: inputs other than the quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);

• Level 3: input for the asset or liability that is not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair value 

hierarchy, then the fair value measured is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the 

lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. Holland Casino recognises any transfers between levels  

of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the change occurred.
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NEW IFRS STANDARDS

With effect from 1 January 2018, Holland Casino applied two new standards, these being IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ 

and IFRS 15 ‘Revenues from contracts with customers’.

IFRS 9 – Financial instruments
IFRS 9 includes requirements for the recognition and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities and some 

contracts for the purchase and sale of non-financial items. This standard replaces IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments:  

recognition and measurement’.

As a result of the application of IFRS 9, Holland Casino made the following changes in IAS 1 Presentation of the financial 

statements, which requires the presentation of any impairment of financial assets in a separate line in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income. Holland Casino does not apply this requirement at this time, in view of the 

immaterial scope of said impairment. Holland Casino’s previous approach to impairments of trade receivables 

(hereinafter referred to as credit losses) was to recognise these under operating expenses.

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 

IFRS 9 includes three significant classifications for financial assets: valued at amortised cost price, fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets under 

IFRS 9 is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and the contractual cash flow 

characteristics. IFRS 9 eliminates previous IAS 39 classifications of held until end of term, loans and receivables and 

available for sale.

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities.

The application of IFRS 9 had no significant impact on Holland Casino’s accounting policies with respect to financial 

liabilities.

The following table and the accompanying notes below said table describe the original measurement categories under  

IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each category of Holland Casino’s financial assets and 

financial liabilities on 1 January 2018.

Original classification  
under IAS 39

New classification  
under IFRS 9

Original carrying 
amount under 

IAS 39

New carrying 
amount

 under IFRS 9

Financial assets

Receivables a Loans and receivables Amortised cost  699  686

Insurance claim to be settled a Loans and receivables Amortised cost  28,109  28,109

Cash and cash equivalents a Held to maturity Amortised cost  63,601  63,601

Financial liabilities

Trade payables b Other financial liabilities Other financial liabilities  25,375  25,375

Debts payable to Gaming Support b Other financial liabilities Other financial liabilities  928 928

a. Receivables and insurance claim to be settled, which were classified as loans and credit losses under IAS 39, are now 

classified at amortised cost price.

b. Payables and debts to Gaming Support which were classified as ‘other financial liabilities’ under IAS 39 are now 

classified as ‘financial liabilities at amortised cost price’ under IFRS 9.

90CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2018 Home



Impairment of financial assets 

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (‘ECL’) model. The new impairment model 

applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost price. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognised earlier than under 

IAS 39.

The balance of receivables at year-end 2017 was EUR 764,000. EUR 78,000 is expected to be irrecoverable.

Holland Casino has drawn up a provision matrix to determine its credit losses (see note 23). This defines credit losses as 

the weighted average credit losses on the basis of historical experience and any current developments.

Holland Casino has not recognised any credit losses for cash and cash equivalents.

Hedge accounting

Holland Casino does not use hedge accounting.

Transition to IFRS 9

Holland Casino made use of the exemption that allows it to not restate comparative figures for previous periods with 

respect to classification and measurement (including impairments).

Differences in the book values of financial assets and financial liabilities that arise from the application of IFRS 9 are 

recognised in reserves and retained earnings as per 1 January 2018. Holland Casino does not currently state this separately 

in the financial statements, due to the immateriality of said differences.

Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 is more a reflection of the requirements of IAS 39 than those of IFRS 9.

IFRS 15 – Revenues from contracts with customers 

IFRS 15 provides an extensive framework to determine whether, how much and when to recognise revenues.  

IFRS 15 replaces IAS 18 Revenues, IAS 11 Construction contracts, and interpretations related to these standards.  

Under IFRS 15, revenues are recognised when a customer gains control of goods or services. Determining the timing  

of the transfer of control – at a certain moment or in time – requires the exercise of judgement.

Holland Casino has applied IFRS 15 according to the retrospective method. The majority of Holland Casino’s revenues 

pertain to revenues from the execution of services. Following an extensive analysis of its revenue flow, Holland Casino 

concluded that the application of IFRS 15 will not entail any significant changes.
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NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET APPLIED

Holland Casino has not voluntarily applied any new standards, amendments to existing standards or interpretations of 

standards before they have come into force. Holland Casino has studied the consequences of the next new standard that 

has been published but does not apply to the 2018 financial year:

IFRS 16 Leases 

Holland Casino is obliged to apply IFRS 16 Leases with effect from 1 January 2019. Holland Casino has assessed  

the estimated impact of the initial application of IFRS 16 on its consolidated and Company financial statements,  

as described below.  

The actual impact of the application of this standard on 1 January 2019 may change, due to the fact that:

• Holland Casino has not yet completed the testing and evaluation of internal control measures related to its new  

IT systems; and 

• the new accounting policies may change in the period between now and the date on which Holland Casino presents its 

financial statements for the first time on the date of initial application.

IFRS 16 introduces a single model for the recognition of leases in the statement of financial position of lessees. A lessee 

recognises a right of use for its right to use the underlying asset and a lease obligation to reflect the obligation to make 

lease payments. There are exemptions for the recognition of short-term leases and lease contracts for low-value items. 

The recognition of lease contracts by lessors remains comparable to recognition according to current standards. In other 

words, lessors will continue to classify lease contracts as financial or operating lease contracts.

IFRS 16 replaces existing provisions with respect to the recognition of lease contracts, including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 

Determining whether an agreement contains a lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the 

substance of transactions in the legal form of a lease.

Leases in which Holland Casino is a lessee 

Holland Casino will recognise new assets and liabilities for operating lease contracts. The nature of the costs related to 

these lease contracts will now change, as Holland Casino will recognise a depreciation expense for the associated right of 

use and interest expenses on said lease obligations.

Holland Casino previously recognised its operating lease expenses according to the straight-line method over the term of 

the lease and recognised assets and liabilities only inasmuch as there was a time difference between the actual lease 

payments and the recognised expenses.

Holland Casino will also no longer take provisions on operating lease contracts it considers loss-making as described in 

note 18. Holland Casino will instead recognise the payments on the basis of the lease contract in its lease obligations. 

Holland Casino does not expect the application of IFRS 16 to have any significant impact on its financial lease contracts.

On the basis of the information currently available, Holland Casino estimates that it will recognise additional lease 

obligations of EUR 184 million as per 1 January 2019. Holland Casino does not expect the application of IFRS 16 to have an 

impact on its ability to meet the revised maximum threshold of its loan covenant, as described in note 19.

Transition 

Holland Casino plans to apply IFRS 16 for the first time on 1 January 2019, making use of the modified retrospective 

approach. As a result of this approach, the cumulative effect of the introduction of IFRS 16 will be recognised as an 

adjustment of the opening balance of the retained earnings on 1 January 2019, without any adjustment of the  

comparative information.

On initial application, Holland Casino plans to use the practical exemption with respect to the definition of a lease 

contract. This means that IFRS 16 will be applied to all contracts Holland Casino entered into before 1 January 2019 and 

that have been identified as lease contracts in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.
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Other standards 

Holland Casino does not expect the following amended standards to have any significant impact on its consolidated 

financial statements.

• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments.

• Prepayment features with negative compensation (amendments to IFRS 9).

• Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures (amendments to IAS 28).

• Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement (amendments to IAS 19).

• Annual improvement to IFRS 2015-2017 Cycle – various standards.

• Amendments to the conceptual framework for IFRS standards.

• IFRS 17 Insurance contracts.

In view of the fact that the above-mentioned amended standards and interpretations are not expected to have any 

significant impact on Holland Casino’s consolidated financial statements, we do not explain the estimated quantitative  

or qualitative impact in greater detail.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED  
INCOME STATEMENT 

Revenues 

Revenues are recognised on the basis of IFRS 15 and qualify as revenues from contracts with customers.

Revenues are measured at fair value of the payments received or to be received. The majority of Holland Casino’s activities 

(as listed below) generate revenues that qualify as revenues from the execution of services. These revenues are recognised 

at the moment that the customer has enjoyed the service and insofar as the result can be reliably estimated.

Revenues Table games 

The revenues from table games is the difference between the stakes received and the amounts paid out.

Revenues Slot machines 

The revenues from slot machines is the difference between the money inserted in the slot machines and the amounts 

paid out, corrected for progressive jackpots not yet paid out.

Food & Beverage revenue

Food & Beverage revenue is recognised at the moment that the amount of revenue can be reliably determined and the 

payment has been received or is likely to be received.

Gaming and non-gaming tips

This relates to tips received at the table games and the slot machines, as well as tips received by food and beverage and 

other staff. This revenue is recognised daily, after the gaming chips have been counted.

Lease contracts 

At the start of an agreement, Holland Casino establishes whether said agreement is or includes a lease contract. At the 

start of or at the re-evaluation of an agreement that includes a lease contract, Holland Casino separates payments and 

other fees required by the agreement into payments for the lease element of the agreement and payments for the other 

elements based on their relative fair values. If Holland Casino concludes that it is not practically feasible to separate 

payments in a financial lease in a reliable fashion, an asset and a liability are recognised for an amount equal to the fair 

value of the underlying asset. The liability is subsequently reduced as payments are made and implicit financing costs 

related to the liability are recognised on the basis of Holland Casino’s marginal interest rate.

Leased assets 

Lease contracts that transfer virtually all the risks and benefits of ownership to Holland Casino are classified as financial 

lease agreements. At initial recognition, the leased asset is valued at fair value or present value of the minimum lease 

payments, depending on which is lower. After initial recognition, the asset is valued in accordance with the applicable 

accounting policy for the asset in question. 

Other lease contracts pertain to operational leases; these are not recognised in the statement of financial position.

Lease payments 

Lease payments related to operational leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term 

of the lease. Incentives for the closing of a lease agreement are recognised in the result over the term of the lease, as an 

integral part of the total lease expenses. 

The minimum lease payments arising from a financial lease are recognised partly as financing costs and partly as 

repayment of the outstanding liability. The financing costs are allocated to each period of the total lease term in such a 

way that this results in a constant periodic interest rate on the residual balance of the liability. 
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Holland Casino acts as the lessee in the operational leasing of slot machines and cars. The leased slot machines and cars 

are not capitalised. Lease payments related to operational leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line 

basis over the term of the lease.

Staff benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount that 

Holland Casino would be expected to pay if the Company had a legally enforceable or constructive obligation to pay the 

amount as a result of services rendered by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Holland Casino’s net obligations with respect to long-term employee benefits are explained in more detail elsewhere in 

the financial statements. These liabilities are discounted to determine the present value. Revaluations are recognised  

in the results in the period in which they occur.

Pension scheme 

Holland Casino has a pension scheme that is classified as a defined contribution scheme. This is a scheme in which a 

contribution is determined in advance, which is paid to an independent entity (‘Stichting Pensioenfonds Holland Casino’ 

through to 1 July 2017; from 1 July 2017, this is ‘Stichting Algemeen Pensioenfonds Stap’) and in which Holland Casino 

subsequently has no legal or constructive obligation to make additional payments. The periodic payments to the pension 

fund are recognised in the income statement. Amounts due but not yet paid (if applicable) are recognised as a short-term 

liability at the reporting date.

GCS’s existing scheme is a defined contribution pension plan. The accrual of the intended pension entitlements is 

financed each calendar year by means of premium payments. The amount of capital that can be used for the purchase  

of a pension is equal to the investment value on the retirement date. On the basis of a settlement agreement, the group 

has no additional obligation beyond the annual premium payments. 

Share in profit of equity-accounted investees 

Any adjustments in the valuation of equity-accounted investees are recognised in the income statement. Currency 

exchange differences on foreign activities of participations are recognised in the income statement. The currency 

exchange differences on foreign activities of the investees are charged to other comprehensive income. The accumulated 

currency exchange differences on foreign activities of the investees are charged to the result in the statement if the 

interest in the participation is sold. Dividends received from investees are charged to the statement of financial  

position item.

Finance income

Holland Casino’s finance income includes the interest income from deposits and positive account balances at banks,  

as well as the exchange rate results mentioned below. 

Exchange rate results 

The exchange rate results realised on foreign currency transactions with guests in the casinos consist of a number of 

netted flows. These are transaction charges and provisions charged on credit card transactions, provisions paid to 

GWK-Travelex, and differences between foreign currency exchange rates. The exchange rate result is recognised under 

finance income and expenses in the income statement.

Interest income is accounted for on the basis of the effective interest method.
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Finance expenses

Holland Casino’s finance expenses comprise the following:

• interest expenses from financial commitments recognised at amortised cost;

• commitment, utilisation and agency fees;

• amortisation financial fees;

• interest expenses related to the revaluation of provisions. 

Interest expenses are recognised using the effective interest method.

Value added tax (turnover tax) / gaming tax

Holland Casino is exempt from VAT on games of chance as defined in the Dutch Gaming Tax Act (Wet op de kansspel-

belasting). The revenue from games of chance is subject to gaming tax. Holland Casino’s Food & Beverage activities are 

subject to VAT. This means it is only possible to deduct a limited amount of input tax for total income and expenses.  

For this reason, capital expenditures and costs, for which input tax is not or not fully deductible, are either capitalised 

including VAT, or recognised in the income statement.

Income taxes

The income tax is the sum of the income taxes and deductible income taxes and deferred income tax in the reporting 

period. The income tax is recognised in the result, except insofar as this relates to items that are recognised directly in the 

equity or in other comprehensive income.

Interest and fines relating to income taxes, including the uncertain handling of income taxes, are recognised on the basis 

of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Current income taxes

Current income tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the financial year 

and any adjustments to taxes payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current income tax is 

determined on the basis of the best estimate of the tax income or expense, taking into account potential uncertainty 

relating to income taxes. Current income tax is calculated on the basis of the prevailing tax rates on the reporting date or 

which have already been materially decided on said reporting date. Current income tax also includes potential taxes 

payable on dividends. Current tax claims and liabilities are only netted if certain criteria are met.

Deferred income taxes

Deferred income taxes are recognised for the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets and  

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the taxable carrying value of these items. Deferred tax liabilities are not 

recognised for:

• temporary differences relating to the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that does not involve a 

merger and that does not affect the commercial and taxable result at the time of the transaction;

• temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, insofar as Holland Casino is 

in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is unlikely that the temporary 

difference will be reversed in the foreseeable future;

• taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax deductible losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 

differences, to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will become available in the future that these can be 

offset against. Prospective taxable income is determined on the basis of the reversal of relevant taxable temporary 

differences. If the amount of the taxable temporary differences is not sufficient to recognise a deferred tax credit, 

prospective taxable income – adjusted for the reversal of existing temporary differences – is taken into account on the 

basis of the business plans of individual subsidiaries within Holland Casino. Deferred tax assets are evaluated at every 

reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax credit will be realised.  

Such reductions are reversed as soon as it is probable that the taxable income will increase in the future.
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Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-evaluated at every reporting date and are recognised as soon as it is probable that 

taxable income will become available in the future that it can be offset against.

Deferred tax assets are valued on the basis of the tax rates that are expected to be applicable at the end of the temporary 

differences on the basis of tax rates determined or materially determined on the reporting date.

The valuation of deferred income tax reflects the tax consequences of how Holland Casino expects to realise or settle the 

carrying value of its assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period. It is also assumed that the carrying amount of 

the real estate investments that are measured at fair value will be realised through sale. This assumption has not been 

refuted by Holland Casino.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only netted if certain criteria are met.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED  
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Assets

Intangible assets

Expenditures on research activities are recognised in the results at the moment they are incurred. Expenditures on 

development activities are only capitalised if the expenditures can be reliably calculated, the product or process is 

technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are likely and Holland Casino intends to and has sufficient 

resources to complete the development and actively use or sell the asset. Other development costs are recognised at the 

moment they are incurred. After initial recognition, capitalised development costs are valued at cost price less cumulative 

amortisation and cumulative impairment losses.

Other intangible assets acquired by Holland Casino with a finite life are measured at cost price less cumulative 

amortisation and cumulative impairment losses.

The general useful life of intangible assets is three years. Assets related to ‘Play Digital’ and Holland Casino’s IT 

environment have a different useful life of five years.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are buildings, land holdings, building conversions, slot machines, gaming tables, and 

fixtures and fittings. Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost price less cumulative depreciation and, where 

applicable, cumulative impairment losses. Straight-line depreciations are effected in line with the estimated expected 

useful life and calculated on the basis of purchase cost less the estimated residual value. Depreciations are recognised 

from the moment the asset is taken into use. Land holdings are not depreciated.

Expenditures on repairs and (major) maintenance are capitalised (using the component approach) if it is likely that the 

asset item will generate additional future economic benefits and if the cost price of the asset item can be reliably 

calculated. All other costs are charged directly to the income statement.

Tangible fixed assets under construction are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value. The production price 

consists of material costs, direct labour costs, installation costs, the attributable part of the indirect production costs 

based on a normal level of operating activity, and related interest costs. The direct realisable amount is based on the 

expected sales price less any costs to be incurred for completion and sale.

THE ESTIMATED ECONOMIC LIFE CAN GENERALLY BE BROKEN DOWN AS FOLLOWS:

Buildings 20 years

Building conversions 12 years

Plant and equipment 5-12 years

Slot machines and Multi Roulettes 7 years

Fixtures and fittings 3-8 years

Impairments

The carrying amount of a fixed asset is tested against the recoverable amount periodically if there are indications of a 

potential impairment. The net realisable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The sale 

value is the estimated sale price in the context of normal operations less the estimated cost of completion and the 

estimated cost required to realise the sale. The value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

expected to be realised on continued use of an asset and of its disposal at the end of its useful life. The aforementioned 

test is carried out at the level of cash flow generating units. If the net realisable value is lower than the carrying amount, 

an impairment in the amount of the difference is recognised in the income statement and the carrying amount of the 
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asset is reduced to its net realisable value. In addition and in so far as applicable, the straight-line depreciation over the 

remaining useful life is adjusted. If there are indications that a previously applied impairment needs to be reversed, the 

carrying amount of the asset is raised to the net realisable value.

Impairments on participations recognised according to the equity method are determined by comparison of the realisable 

value of the participation with its carrying amount. An impairment is recognised in the income statement and is reversed 

in the event of a positive change in the estimates used for the determination of the realisable value.

Equity-accounted investees 

The 40% interest in Gaming Support B.V., the associated company of Holland Casino, is accounted for in the financial 

statements using the equity method. This was initially recognised at historical cost and the carrying amount was  

adjusted to the share in the result. Dividends received are deducted from the carrying amount. Associated companies  

are consolidated from the moment significant influence is acquired until the moment that influence no longer exists.  

The results of transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the 

interest in the investee. Any impairments of Gaming Support B.V. are not eliminated.

Losses on associated investees are recognised to the total of the net investment in the participation, taking into account 

the carrying amount, as well as any loans issued to the investee. A provision is taken for the share in any additional losses 

only in the event that Holland Casino has accepted liability for said losses.

Unrealised profits resulting from transactions with Gaming Support B.V. are eliminated in proportion to Holland Casino’s 

interest in Gaming Support B.V. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised profits, but only in so far 

as there is no indication of potential impairment.

Principles of consolidation 

General

The accounting policies for the valuation and result determination of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to 

align with Holland Casino’s accounting policies. 

Subsidiaries

The financial data of Holland Casino and its subsidiaries is recognised according to the full consolidation method.  

A subsidiary is an entity in which Holland Casino essentially exercises a controlling influence over business and financial 

policies. The interest of other shareholders in the consolidated equity and consolidated result is stated in the statement  

of financial position under equity (minority interest) and in the income statement under result attributable to minority 

shareholders. The financial statements of subsidiaries are recognised in the consolidated financial statements from the 

date on which Holland Casino first exerts control until the date on which it no longer has control.

Minority interests 

Upon initial valuation, minority interests (interests without majority control) are valued at the proportional share in the 

net identifiable assets of the acquired party on the acquisition date. Changes in Holland Casino’s interest in a subsidiary 

that do not result in the loss of majority control are recognised as equity transactions. 

Loss of control

In the event that Holland Casino loses control over a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities and any related minority 

interests and other equity components are no longer recognised in the statement of financial position. The potential book 

profit or book loss is recognised in the profit or loss. If Holland Casino still has an interest in the former subsidiary, said 

interest is valued at fair value from the moment control is lost.
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In the event that Holland Casino loses control over a subsidiary but retains a financial interest, Holland Casino 

deconsolidates all assets and liabilities and the remaining interest is initially recognised at fair value. The remaining 

difference will be recognised in the income statement.

Elimination of transactions upon consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, as well as any unrealised profits or losses from intra-group transactions, will be 

eliminated. Equity-accounted unrealised profits from transactions with investees will be eliminated in proportion to the 

interest Holland Casino holds in said investees. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised profits,  

but only in so far as there is no indication of impairment.

Subsidiaries

Under IFRS 10, Stichting Beheer Fooiengelden (SBF) is a 100% subsidiary of Holland Casino in economic terms.  

SBF’s individual assets and liabilities are consolidated in Holland Casino’s financial statements.

Under IFRS 3, Gaming & Casino Services B.V. is a 60% subsidiary in economic terms. GCS’s individual assets and liabilities 

are consolidated in Holland Casino’s financial statements.

Assets held for sale

Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs for sale. Upon classification 

as assets held for sale, any impairments are recognised in the income statement. If necessary, external valuations are used 

to determine the value of assets.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in-

first-out (FIFO) principle. This lower net realisable value is calculated on the basis of individual assessments of the 

inventories.

Trade and other receivables

These receivables are initially recognised at fair value. Following initial recognition, receivables are measured at  

amortised cost price on the basis of the effective interest rate method, less any provisions deemed necessary to cover  

the risks of bad debts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at face value. Any bank balance not freely available to Holland Casino is taken into 

account in the valuation.

Equity

The issued share capital consists of the nominal amounts paid on the issued shares. The remainder of the equity consists 

of a legal reserve, currency translation reserve, fair value reserve and retained earnings. The item legal reserves comprises 

a legal reserve for related parties and a legal reserve for capitalised development costs. The currency translation reserve is 

related to the conversion of foreign currency ensuing from the related parties. The fair value reserve is a legal reserve and 

pertains to the revaluation of property, plant and equipment.

For additional information, please see note 17.

Liabilities

Liabilities are initially stated at fair value. Following initial recognition, unless otherwise indicated, liabilities are 

measured at amortised cost on the basis of the effective interest method.
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Provisions

Provisions are taken only for legally enforceable obligations and constructive obligations that exist on the balance sheet 

date. Provisions are calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows on the basis of a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects the current market estimates of the time value of money and of the specific risks associated with the obligation. 

The interest added to the provision is recognised as a financing expense.

Provision for decommissioning costs

This provision covers the anticipated contractual decommissioning costs for the restoration of leased properties and land 

to their original state. The provision for decommissioning costs is taken for the associated costs at the time the obligation 

to decommission arises.

Provision employee benefits (long-service award liability)

Holland Casino’s net liability based on long-term employee benefits, with the exception of pension schemes, is the 

amount of future benefits that employees have earned in exchange for the services they have rendered in the period  

under review and previous periods. This liability is estimated using the projected unit credit method and is discounted to 

present value. The discount rate is the yield at the balance sheet date on AA-rated bonds with a term that approximates 

that of Holland Casino’s liabilities.

Restructuring provision

A restructuring provision is taken when Holland Casino has approved a detailed and formalised restructuring plan and 

made a start on the restructuring or announced it publicly. No provision is taken for future operating losses.

Provision for onerous contracts

The provision for onerous contracts is stated at the present value of the expected costs of the termination of the contract 

or, if this is lower, the present value of the expected net costs of continuing the contract. Before a provision is taken, 

Holland Casino first recognises any impairment on the assets associated with the contract.

Provision career budget

The provision for the career budget is created on the basis of a personal budget awarded to every employee. The budget is 

free to spend as long as it contributes to job development and is fiscally permitted. This provision is measured at face 

value, corrected for the part that, based on historical evidence, will not be used.

Loans and borrowings

Drawn loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value. They are subsequently recognised at amortised cost 

price on the basis of the effective interest method. Directly attributable transaction costs are capitalised and netted 

against the drawn loans. If there are no longer any outstanding debts on the liability side of the statement of financial 

position, these transaction costs are capitalised and recognised in assets as ‘fees not yet amortised’. The effective interest 

expenses (in the event there were loans during the year) are attributed to the period to which they pertain and recognised 

in the income statement.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value and directly attributable transaction costs are 

recognised in the result at the time they are incurred. Derivative financial instruments are subsequently valued at fair 

value and any changes in same are recognised in the result.

Uncashed chips liability

The liability relating to coins, chips and tokens that have not been exchanged is recognised at face value, less that portion 

of the coins, chips and tokens visitors are no longer expected to cash in.

Jackpot liability

The liability relating to the jackpot is stated at the fair measured value of the jackpots.
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Favorites programme 

The Favorites Card gives visitors the opportunity to save up for (gaming) money or discounts on food or drinks. Points are 

collected on the slot machines and at the bar or in the restaurant. In selected casinos, points are also collected at the live 

gaming tables.

Holland casino has a number of cards (Welcome, Black, Platinum and Diamond Card) with increasing levels of associated 

privileges. This liability is carried at the number of outstanding points at year-end based on a nominal amount per point.

Recognition of the amount allocated to the loyalty programme is deferred and is only carried as income once  

Holland Casino has fulfilled its obligation to deliver products at a discount ensuing from the programme, or when it is 

likely that the points ensuing from the programme will no longer be exchanged. The income is allocated to the loyalty 

programme and the other components of the sales transaction.

Determination of fair value

The fair value is the amount for which an asset can be traded or a liability can be settled on the valuation date in an 

orderly transaction between well-informed relevant parties in the primary or, if the primary is not available, most 

advantageous market that is accessible for Holland Casino on that date. The fair value of a liability reflects the risk  

of non-compliance.

A number of Holland Casino’s accounting policies and explanatory notes require the determination of fair values,  

both for financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

When it is available, the Company determines the fair value of a financial instrument with the aid of the price quoted on 

an active market for that instrument. A market is considered active if transactions for assets or liabilities take place with 

sufficient frequency and volume to issue pricing information on a continuous basis.

If there is no quoted price on an active market, the Company determines the fair value by using valuation methods that 

make maximum use of relevant observable inputs and make as little use as possible of unobservable inputs. The chosen 

valuation method includes all factors that market parties must take into account in deciding the price of the transaction.

If an asset that is recognised at fair value has a bid and offer price, Holland Casino measures its assets and long positions 

against the bid price and its liabilities and short positions against the offer price. 

The best foundation for the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is usually the transaction price, 

meaning the fair value of the payment given or received. If Holland Casino determines that the fair value at initial 

recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is no longer supported by a quoted market price on an 

active market for an identical asset or liability, and it is also not based on a valuation method in which all unobservable 

inputs are judged to be insignificant in relation to the valuation, the financial instrument is recognised at fair value at 

initial recognition, adjusted to defer the difference between fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price.  

The difference is then recognised in the income statement over the term of the instrument, but no later than when the 

valuation is fully substantiated by observable market data or the transaction is complete.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS

The statement of cash flows comprises the cash flow from operational, investment and financing activities. The 

operational cash flow is stated according to the indirect method and on the basis of a comparison between the starting 

and closing balance of the financial year under review. To this end, the result is adjusted for changes that have not 

resulted in income or expenses during the financial year. The investment and financing cash flows are stated according  

to the direct method.

Holland Casino has opted to state dividends and interest received as investment cash flow and financing costs paid as 

financial cash flow, since these are the result of the Company’s investment and/or financing activities. Dividend paid out 

is stated as financial cash flow.

The payment for the acquisition of GCS was recognised under cash flow from investment activities. GCS had no cash or 

cash equivalents that could be settled against said payment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
In thousands of euro, unless otherwise indicated

1. REVENUE

2018 2017

Revenue Table games 265,794 255,872

Revenue Slot machines 340,032 332,187

Revenue before gaming tax 1 605,826 588,059

Gaming tax -182,354 -170,537

Gaming and non-gaming tips

Gaming tips 21,719 22,263

Tips 1,310 1,337

23,029 23,600

Admission fees 1,734 1,812

Food & Beverage revenue

Food & Beverage (gross) 55,503 53,784

Free non-alcoholic drinks (at sales price) -31,090 -30,162

24,413 23,622

Other income

Parking fees 1,300 1,934

Miscellaneous 220 211

1,520 2,145

Net revenue 474,168 468,701

Insurance claim 2 11,418 28,957

Total revenue 485,586 497,658

1.  The revenues from Table games and Slot machines are subject to gaming tax. The current gaming tax rate is 30.1% of revenues (2017: 29%).
2.  For an explanation, please see the General information.
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2. DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENTS

2018 2017

Depreciation intangible assets -1,289 -1,508

Depreciation property, plant and equipment -31,452 -29,950

-32,741 -31,458

Impairments intangible assets - -3,817

Impairments property, plant and equipment - -7,992

- -11,809

Total depreciation and impairments -32,741 -43,267

In 2017, Holland Casino took an impairment on intangible fixed assets for the Play Digital project, as a result of the 

continued absence of relevant legislation and the rapidly changing online gaming market. Holland Casino restarted and 

reassessed the project and decided to go in another direction. As a result of this, the old project was fully terminated, 

which resulted in an impairment.

The impairment of property, plant and equipment pertains to the depreciation of the building and inventory in 

Groningen. The casino burned down in August 2017, and the property, plant and equipment, excluding the land,  

are considered a write-off.

3. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

2018 2017

Salaries -184,938 -174,005

WAO/WIA disability benefits -940 -840

Social security charges -26,191 -22,873

Pension costs -18,080 -16,748

Indirect employee benefits -9,493 -10,443

Addition (release) restructuring provision - -234

Addition (release) long-service award provision -602 -622

Addition (release) personal career budget provision -1,380 -

-241,624 -225,765

Social security charges

These charges include the employer’s share of social insurance premiums of EUR 16.4 million (2017: EUR 14.1 million). 

This item also includes the Healthcare Act-related costs of EUR 9.8 million (2017: EUR 8.8 million)

Pension costs

This pertains to the employers’ contribution due in the financial year.

Effective 1 July 2017, Holland Casino transferred its pension scheme to Stichting Algemeen Pensioenfonds Stap, from 

Stichting Pensioenfonds Holland Casino. By virtue of the provisions of pension scheme, this is qualified as a defined 

contribution scheme. Holland Casino has recognised the contributions due to Stichting Pensioenfonds Holland Casino 

and Stichting Algemeen Pensioenfonds Stap as an expense in the income statement.

The regulations of Stichting Algemeen Pensioenfonds Stap do not provide in any way for additional deposits or 

withdrawals from the fund. Each year, the pension fund determines the cost-covering premiums required for the nominal 

pension accrual in the relevant year. The cost-covering contribution is equal to the sum total of the actuarial premium of 

the pension accrual in the relevant year, the risk premiums, the solvency surcharge and the cost surcharge. This cost-

covering premium therefore does not include any elements relating to the pensions accrued in the past or the financial 

position of the fund. Holland Casino is not liable for deficits or surpluses in the pension fund. The risk of deficits or 

surpluses is entirely for the account of the participants in the pension scheme.
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The parties to the collective labour agreement decide each year whether the pension scheme can still be financed as of  

1 January of the subsequent year from the agreed-upon premiums or whether it is necessary to make adjustments to the 

scheme. The parties use a statement from the pension fund on the expected accrual percentage that is (financially) 

realisable from the premiums agreed for the subsequent year. In addition to the adjustment of the accrual percentage,  

the parties to the collective labour agreement can also decide on an alternative adjustment to the scheme. A prerequisite 

for the adjustment is that the cost-covering premium must at all times remain within the agreed premium bandwidth.  

If the parties to the collective labour agreement fail to reach agreement themselves, the pension fund will decide and 

introduce any required adjustment to the accrual percentage.

The pension scheme is a conditionally indexed average pay scheme with a pensionable age of 67 and a minimum tax 

franchise.

The following applies to the subsidiary:

GCS’s premise is that the pension costs to be recognised in the reporting period are equal to the pension premiums owed 

to the pension fund in the same period. Holland Casino will recognise a liability insofar as the premiums owed have not 

been paid on the balance sheet date. If the contributions paid on the balance sheet date exceed the contributions due, 

Holland Casino will recognise an accrued asset insofar as the pension fund will repay said amount or settle this against 

premiums due in the future. 

In the event of a surplus on the balance sheet date, a receivable is recognised if the Company has control of this surplus,  

if it is likely that this surplus will flow towards the Company and the receivable can be reliably determined.

The existing agreement is a defined contribution scheme. The accrual of the intended pension claims is continuously 

financed in the calendar year through pension payments. The amount of capital that can be utilised for the purchase of a 

pension is equal to the investment value on the retirement date. The return on premium payments is not guaranteed.  

The annual premium payments amount to 4.7% of the pensionable salary that is based on gross salary. On the basis of  

the implementation agreement, the group has no liabilities other than the annual premium payments.

Indirect employee benefits

These costs include the cost for selection and recruitment, training, staff canteen, uniforms and rental of parking spots for 

Holland Casino’s staff.

Staffing

In 2018, Holland Casino had an average of 3,866 employees (2017: 3,597 employees), excluding stand-by staff and trainees. 

The distribution across departments was as follows:

STAFF NUMBERS PER DEPARTMENT (AVERAGE)

2018 2017

Table games 1,443 1,401

Slot machines 317 292

Services 641 608

Food & Beverage 734 640

Other 685 656

GCS 46 -

3,866 3,597

The number of employees stood at 3,949 at year-end 2018 of which GCS 50 (year-end 2017: 3,699).
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4. OTHER OPERATIONAL EXPENSES

2018 2017

Business expenses -54,848 -57,204

Accommodation expenses -30,547 -27,680

Marketing expenses -22,537 -19,487

IT expenses -22,322 -22,153

Disposals of property, plant and equipment 460 185

Other running costs 811 -4,791

-128,983 -131,130

Business expenses

Business expenses pertain primarily to maintenance expenses, lease expenses slot machines, consultancy costs,  

Food & Beverage procurement and auditing fees.

Other operating expenses

In addition to the usual other income and expenses (on balance income of EUR 1.0 million), this item comprises the 

following:

In August 2017, the Groningen casino burned down, and the entire building and inventory are considered a write-off.  

The fixed expenses of the Groningen casino have been recognised under the various expense types. Wherever these 

expenses relate to the insurance claim, these (EUR 5.0 million) have been deducted under ‘other operating expenses’.  

The extra expenses were directly recognised in the claim. See General information for further details.

The VAT disadvantage that existed before Holland Casino realised the participation with GCS has been charged to the 

result as a settlement of an previously existing relation in the amount of EUR 3.6 million. 

As Holland Casino no longer meets the conditions for the restructuring tax exemption following the liquidation of the 

Foundation, Holland Casino paid an amount of EUR 4.6 million in real estate transfer tax on the value of the demerged 

real estate in 2017. This was recognised under ‘Other operating expenses’ in 2017.

5. FINANCE INCOME

2018 2017

Interest income from deposits and balances with banks 37 37

Foreign currency conversion gains 1,148 1,060

1,185 1,097

6. FINANCE EXPENSES

2018 2017

Interest expenses on financial liabilities at amortised cost price -170 -216

Finance expenses (commitment fee, utilisation fee, etc.) -401 -458

Amortisation financial fees -219 -236

Interest expenses as a result of the unwinding of discount and/or 
discounting of provisions -44 -150

-834 -1,060

7.  SHARE OF PROFIT OF EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES

2018 2017

Gaming Support B.V. 120 457

120 457
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8.  CORPORATE INCOME TAX CHARGED TO THE RESULT

2018 2017

Current corporate income tax -21,665 -19,895

Deferred corporate income tax -1,583 -4,615

Total corporate income tax -23,248 -24,510

The deferred tax asset was created on 1 January 2016 and recognised in the result due to Holland Casino’s corporate 

income tax liability as of 1 January 2016.

RECONCILIATION RESULT AND THE TAXABLE AMOUNT 

2018

Result before corporate income tax 82,709

Permanent differences:

Limited deductible costs 637

Energy and environmental deduction -97

Investee exemption 3,490

Remaining deduction previous year -2,004

2,019

Temporary differences:

Higher depreciation on disposals for tax purposes -569

Lower depreciation for tax purposes 2,462

Lower expenses for tax purposes related to provision 115

2,026

Taxable amount 86,743

Total current corporate income tax to be paid (effective) 21,665 26,2%

The Act on the modernisation of corporate income tax obligations for state-owned companies (Wet modernisering 

Vpb-plicht overheidsondernemingen) came into effect on 1 January 2016. This legislation is aimed creating a level playing 

field by making state participations liable for corporate income tax in the same way as private companies. For Holland 

Casino, this means that it is liable for corporate income tax as of 1 January 2016. To this end, Holland Casino drew up an 

opening statement of financial position as of 1 January 2016 for tax purposes. The corporate income tax is calculated on 

the basis of the prevailing tax rates in the Netherlands, taking into account the fiscal provisions that create permanent 

differences between the Company valuation and the fiscal valuation. For Holland Casino, these permanent differences 

consist of the participation exemption pertaining to the result from its participation Gaming Support B.V. and  

Gaming & Casino Services B.V. and the limitation of deductible costs.

Aside from these temporary differences, Holland Casino also had to deal with a fiscal reinvestment reserve in 2017. Due to 

the fire in Groningen, the insurer has paid for the damage to the building and inventory on the basis of the estimated 

reconstruction value. This created an administrative book profit in respect of the depreciation of the assets based on the 

historical cost price. As the insurance payment is expected to be utilised in its entirety for the reconstruction and refitting 

of a new casino, Holland Casino created a fiscal reinvestment reserve for this income. In December 2018, Holland Casino 

opened a temporary casino in Groningen.
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BREAKDOWN OF DEFERRED CORPORATE INCOME TAX

1-1-18 Movement 31-12-18

Intangible assets 373 -95 278

Property, plant and equipment 11,591 -3,655 7,936

Provisions 2,319 -394 1,925

Reinvestment reserve -4,502 2,561 -1,941

Balance deferred amount corporate income tax 9,781 -1,583 8,198

The deferred tax asset was created on 1 January 2016 for the 2016 result and recognised in the result due to the 

introduction of Holland Casino’s corporate income tax liability as of 1 January 2016. Holland Casino drew up a fiscal 

opening statement of financial position as per 1 January 2016 with the Dutch Tax Authority.

In 2017, Holland Casino recognised a new deferred tax asset for the amount added to the reinvestment reserve. A part of 

the reinvestment reserve was used in 2018 for new investments in other operating assets. The remaining part pertains to 

the buildings and will be used when this is possible.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION
In thousands of euro, unless otherwise indicated

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Development 
costs  Software 

Assets under 
construction  Total 

Cost of acquisition 13,487 2,596 2,090 18,173

Cumulative amortisation -11,129 -2,302 - -13,431

Balance as at 31 December 2017 2,358 294 2,090 4,742

Investments – internally developed 774 1,286 991 3,051

Assets under construction / taken into use 812 - -812 -

Depreciation -1,053 -236 - -1,289

Impairments (cost of acquisition) -983 -39 - -1,022

Impairments (cum. amortisation) 983 39 - 1,022

Balance as at 31 December 2018 2,891 1,344 2,269 6,504

Cost of acquisition 14,090 3,843 2,269 20,202

Cumulative amortisation -11,199 -2,499 - -13,698

Balance as at 31 December 2018 2,891 1,344 2,269 6,504

Holland Casino’s intangible assets consist of the capitalised costs related to a number of items including: the online casino 

project Play Digital (EUR 2.0 million, recognised under ‘assets under construction’), the Procure-to-Pay tool and the 

development of future-proof architecture (Holland Casino’s IT landscape). The capitalised costs consist of internal and 

external hours, consultancy costs and software. 

The intangible assets generally have a useful life of three years. The assets related to the Play Digital project and the  

IT landscape have a different useful life of five years.

In 2017, Holland Casino took an impairment for the Play Digital project, as a result of the continued absence of relevant 

legislation and the rapidly changing online gaming market. Holland Casino restarted and reassessed the project and 

decided to go in another direction. As a result of this, the old project was fully terminated, which led to an impairment 

that has been recognised in the income statement. The amount under ‘assets under construction’ pertains largely to  

the costs incurred in 2017 and 2018 as a result of the reassessment and the resultant change of direction of the new  

Play Digital project. 

On 19 February 2019, the Dutch Upper House of parliament approved the regulation of the online gaming market.  

This means that playing for money online is expected to become legal in mid-2020 for providers who have a licence from 

the Dutch Gaming Commission. Holland Casino will apply for a licence.
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and 
buildings

Building 
conversions

Plant & 
Equipment

Slot  
machines

Fixtures 
and fittings

Assets under 
construction  Total 

Cost of acquisition 49,170 68,098 102,383 85,248 111,064 53,084 469,047

Cumulative depreciation -11,201 -46,118 -74,812 -41,828 -86,187 - -260,146

Balance as at 31 December 2017 37,969 21,980 27,571 43,420 24,877 53,084 208,901

Acquisitions through business 
combinations

- - 3 - 248 - 251

Investments - 5,382 9,120 17,939 13,497 7,336 53,274

Assets under construction / taken into use 11,417 11,434 12,232 8,150 -43,233 -

Depreciation -1,525 -3,501 -6,072 -12,234 -8,047 - -31,379

Disposals / assets no longer in use  
(cost of acquisition)

- -218 -1,356 -7,836 -3,342 - -12,752

Disposals / assets no longer in use  
(cum. depreciation)

- 217 1,332 6,982 3,280 - 11,811

Balance as at 31 December 2018 36,444 35,277 42,032 60,503 38,663 17,187 230,106

Cost of acquisition 49,170 84,679 121,584 107,583 129,617 17,187 509,820

Cumulative depreciation -12,726 -49,402 -79,552 -47,080 -90,954 - -279,714

Balance as at 31 December 2018 36,444 35,277 42,032 60,503 38,663 17,187 230,106

The amount for the investment in ‘assets under construction’ is largely related to the new-build projects (Utrecht and 

Venlo), and the renovation projects (Scheveningen).

The reclassification of ‘assets under construction’ to the various asset categories pertains primarily to the investment in 

Amsterdam West (EUR 32.8 million) and slot machines (EUR 7.3 million).

Holland Casino has issued certain securities for the credit facilities for land and buildings. These securities have a book 

value of EUR 33.2 million. See note 19.

11. TAX ASSETS

2018 2017

Deferred tax assets

Corporate income tax 10,139 14,283

Current income tax assets

Corporate income tax - 40

Current tax assets

Value added tax 742 974

10,881 15,297

For additional information on the composition of deferred corporate income tax, see note 8.

12. FEES NOT YET AMORTISED

2018 2017

Fees not yet amortised, long term 638 414

Fees not yet amortised, short term 170 236

808 650
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Costs incurred in connection with a new credit facility are deducted from the liabilities ensuing from any outstanding 

loans and amortised over the remaining term using the effective interest rate method. In 2018, the current credit facility, 

including the term, was changed. As a result, new financial fees were capitalised. The term of the current fees was also 

adjusted to five years due to the renegotiation of the contract. At year-end 2017 and 2018, there were no outstanding 

loans, so these costs were recognised under ‘fees not yet amortised’. See note 19 Loans and borrowings for more 

information.

13. EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES

On 3 January 2018, the company Gaming & Casino Services B.V., hereinafter referred to as ‘GCS,’ was founded in legal 

demerger, as a result of which all service activities (maintenance of and trade in slot machines and related equipment) 

were transferred from Gaming Support B.V. to GCS under universal title. Holland Casino holds 40% of the shares, with the 

remaining shares held by a director/majority shareholder Van Linden Beheer B.V. As a result of this transaction, the 

existing interest in Gaming Support has been reduced by 40% of the split equity.

GAMING SUPPORT B.V.

Balance as at 31 December 2017 1,342

Depreciation participation GCS -280

Result Gaming Support (incl. translation differences) 120

Dividends received -

Currency translation differences from result investee -11

Balance as at 31 December 2018 1,171

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION GAMING SUPPORT B.V.

31-12-2018

Current assets 2,890

Non-current assets 3,858

Current liabilities 3,217

Non-current liabilities 604

Income 9,555

Profit 299

Equity Gaming Support B.V. as at 31-12-2018 2,927

Participation Gaming Support B.V. (40% of the equity of Gaming Support B.V.) 
in the Holland Casino financial statements 1,171

The following transactions were effected in 2018: no sales to Gaming Support and the use of services in the amount of 

EUR 4.3 million (in 2017: no sales to Gaming support and use of services in the amount of EUR 13.8 million).  

These amounts are including VAT. Amounts still due to Gaming Support B.V. amounted to EUR 0.6 million at year-end 

2018 (2017: EUR 0.9 million). 

These transactions were effected at market conditions and prices that were not more favourable than those that would be 

agreed with independent third parties.

Stichting Beheer Fooiengelden

The following table gives an overview of the financial data of Stichting Beheer Fooiengelden as stated in the  

Holland Casino financial statements. The participation’s statement of financial position consists of a bank balance  

and an obligation to Holland Casino:

TIPS

Bank balance 1-1-2018 940

Bank balance 31-12-2018 3,359
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14. INVENTORIES

2018 2017

Inventories 953 711

953 711

Inventories are largely consumables and raw materials for Holland Casino’s Food & Beverage activities, as well as items 

for use as non-cash prizes for the slot machines and other inventory items such as brochures.

15. RECEIVABLES AND ACCRUED INCOME

2018 2017

Receivables 261 699

Due from credit card companies 1,184 1,004

Pension contributions paid in advance 2,125 2,000

Other receivables 1,087 851

Insurance claim to be settled - 28,109

Prepayments 1,994 2,963

6,651 35,626

Insurance claim to be settled 

The amount in 2017 pertains to the insurance claim related to the fire in Groningen in August 2017. This claim was 

resolved completely in 2018.

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018 2017

Cash in transit 9,021 9,931

Cash held by casinos 40,769 34,322

Bank balances 35,536 19,348

85,326 63,601

17. EQUITY

Minority shareholders

As per 31 December 2018, the interest held by third parties in the equity of Gaming & Casino Services B.V. is recognised 

under minority shareholders.

18. PROVISIONS

Decommissioning 
costs

Employee
benefits

Onerous 
contracts Restructuring

Personal 
Career budget Total

Balance as at 31 December 2017 2,614 6,579 84 602 - 9,879

Addition/release 597 684 - - 1,380 2,661

Withdrawals - -579 -84 -598 -58 -1,319

Unwind of discount -16 -28 - - - -44

Balance as at 31 December 2018 3,195 6,656 - 4 1,322 11,177

As at 31 December 2017

Long-term part of provisions 2,614 6,042 - - - 8,656

Short-term part of provisions - 537 84 602 - 1,223

As at 31 December 2018

Long-term part of provisions 3,195 6,154 - - - 9,349

Short-term part of provisions - 502 - 4 1,322 1,828
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The decommissioning provision has been set aside to cover the costs of the (potential) closure and dismantling of the 

premises currently occupied by Holland Casino Eindhoven, Nijmegen, Rotterdam, Schiphol and Utrecht. Holland Casino 

Utrecht is expected to relocate to new premises in 2020 upon which the current casino will be decommissioned.  

A provision has been set aside to cover the costs that will be incurred in this scenario.

The provision for employee benefits was created to cover future long-service award liabilities.

The discount rate was also raised to 1.4% in 2018 from 1.3% in 2017. The withdrawals from the provision pertain to 

long-service awards actually paid out in 2018. The measurement of this provision takes into account factors such as 

mortality rates and the likelihood of employees leaving the Company.

The provision for onerous contracts was set aside for the expected costs ensuing from the termination of lease contracts. 

This provision pertains to the location Hoofdweg 640 in Hoofddorp. The lease for Hoofdweg 640 was terminated as per  

1 February 2018 and this provision was released.

In 2017, Holland Casino added EUR 0.2 million to the restructuring provision in connection with the closure of  

Holland Casino Schiphol (13 March 2017). As per year-end 2018, this provision had been almost completely unwound.

The provision for the career budget stems from the collective labour agreement. The aim of this budget is to bolster 

employees in terms of development, deployability and their position on the internal and external labour markets.  

Over a period of three years, employees accumulate a personal budget of maximum EUR 1,500, which they can then use 

– within the fiscally permitted parameters and rules - to take courses. Based on historical data, this provision has been 

taken for 50% of employees. 

19. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Holland Casino had no outstanding bank loans at the end of the 2018 financial year.

In 2018, the current credit facility was amended and reformulated. The credit facility was reduced to EUR 120 million with 

the option to increase it by EUR 20 million (accordion feature). The remaining changes primarily pertain to an extension 

of at least five years, two extension options of a year each, a change in the margin and a reduction in the number of 

covenants. 

At year-end 2018, the credit facility stood at EUR 120 million (2017: EUR 140 million), consisting of an ancillary facility 

(EUR 30 million) and a revolving credit facility (EUR 90 million). The interest rate is set on the basis of EURIBOR + margin 

(between 0.60% and 1.65%, previous year: between 0.95% and 2.0%)

Taking into account the room for bank guarantees amounting to EUR 9.5 million, the unused portion of the credit facility 

amounted to EUR 110.5 million at year-end 2018 (year-end 2017: EUR 130.5 million).

Costs incurred in connection with a new credit facility are deducted from the liabilities from outstanding loans and 

amortised over the remaining term on the basis of the effective interest method. At year-end 2017 and 2018, Holland 

Casino had no outstanding loans so these costs were recognised under ‘fees not yet amortised.’

Holland Casino has drawn up a covenant, which is tested on an annual basis. This pertains to the Net Senior Debt to 

EBITDA ratio, which must be lower or equal to 2.5. In 2018 and 2017 this was -0.4 and -0.2, respectively.

Holland Casino has issued a guarantee with respect to the credit facility, namely a first mortgage on the buildings in 

Breda, Enschede, Scheveningen and Valkenburg.
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20. TAX LIABILITIES

2018 2017

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred corporate income tax 1,941 4,502

Current tax liabilities

Corporate income tax 2,232 -

Other current tax liabilities

Gaming tax 13,154 10,811

Value added tax 93 -

Payroll tax 5,153 4,823

18,400 15,634

22,573 20,136

At year-end 2018, Holland casion had no provisional tax liabilities.

21. TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

2018 2017

Other non-current liabilities

Lease incentives  5,905  4,138

 5,905  4,138

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31-12-2018 31-12-2017

Trade payables 15,932 25,375

Debts payable to Gaming Support 636 928

Holiday days, holiday pay and salaries 18,453 17,771

Jackpots 13,332 12,199

Uncashed chips liability 3,327 2,797

Outstanding investments 4,830 7,191

Outstanding costs 11,748 8,120

Other liabilities 11,352 11,042

79,610 85,423

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

2018 2017

Lease incentives 376 29

376 29

The item lease incentives pertains to the lease discounts on the buildings in Amsterdam, Hoofddorp and Rotterdam. 

These will be recognised over the term of the lease.

The item ‘costs to be paid’ relates primarily to open orders and invoices that had not yet been approved as per  

31 December 2018.

The item ‘Other liabilities’ includes the liability for the loyalty programme in the amount of EUR 3.2 million  

(2017: EUR 3.0 million) and a liability for depots in the amount of EUR 1.7 million (2017: EUR 2.3 million).  

For the rest, it pertains to multiple smaller items.
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22. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

In millions of euro Total 2018 < 1 year
> 1 year and  

< 5 years
> 5 years

Liabilities arising from:

Rent buildings 155,9 13,3 53,0 89,6

Lease slot machines 5,9 4,2 1,7 -

Lease cars 1,1 0,6 0,5 -

IT services 15,1 5,2 9,9 -

Investments 2,6 2,6 - -

180,6 25,9 65,1 89,6

Total 2017 < 1 year
> 1 year and  

< 5 years
> 5 years

Liabilities arising from:

Rent buildings 111,6 11,4 41,9 58,3

Lease slot machines 11,3 5,1 6,2 -

Lease cars 1,4 0,7 0,7 -

IT services 6,0 4,0 2,0 -

Investments 8,9 8,9 - -

139,2 30,1 50,8 58,3

Rental contracts

Holland Casino’s rental contracts run until 31 December 2035 at the latest.

Lease

Since 2014, Holland Casino has leased slot machines on the basis of operational lease agreements with a maximum term 

of five years. Holland Casino has the right to purchase the slot machines, but not by definition for an amount lower than 

the fair value.

In 2018, Holland Casino recognised a total of EUR 5.8 million in lease payments for slot machines in its income statement.

Holland Casino leases cars on the basis of operational leases with a maximum term of five years.

IT services

In 2014, Holland Casino entered into a five-year contract with KPN for the provision of IT services. In 2016, multi-

functional printing equipment was added to this contract. Holland Casino agreed on a new contract with KPN at year-end 

2018, for a term of two years starting on 1 July 2019. 

Investments

Holland Casino had entered into obligations for regular investments and investment projects for approximately  

EUR 2.6 million at the reporting date (2017: EUR 8.9 million).

Bank guarantee

Holland Casino has issued a total of EUR 9.5 million in bank guarantees (2017: EUR 9.5 million), including EUR 6.5 million 

in accordance with the requirement of the Dutch Central Bank (DNB), EUR 1.0 million for the lease of the building in 

Amsterdam and EUR 2.0 million for the withdrawal of large amounts of operating cash. Holland Casino believes there  

is very little chance that it will have to comply with the requirements of these guarantees in the next 12 months given  

the Company’s strong solvency position.
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Framework contract Playtech

In 2014, Holland Casino entered into a framework contract with Playtech for the development of the intangible asset  

Play Digital (its online casino platform). The contract stipulates that a forecast should be made each year for the expected 

gross gaming revenues, which Playtech will use to invoice according to a graduating scale. The payment will be adjusted 

each quarter (by means of a debit or credit invoice) on the basis of the actual gross gaming revenues.

This contract will come into force as soon as the Dutch Remote Gaming Act (Kansspelen op afstand – Koa) has passed  

into law and revenues are being generated.

Legal disputes

Holland Casino had several legal disputes pending at the balance sheet date. Holland Casino does not expect these liability 

claims to result in a material outflow of funds and had therefore not set aside a provision as per the reporting date.

Holland Casino is currently in constructive talks with the owner of the Ven complex (Holland Casino Amsterdam West-

Sloterdijk) and we are close to reaching a settlement on the ongoing legal dispute. The resultant financial settlement of 

this dispute will be accounted for in the 2019 financial statements.

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUE AND RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

In the context of its normal business operations, Holland Casino is exposed to credit, liquidity and market risks.  

Holland Casino did not change its risk management from the previous year, despite the consolidation of GCS.

The Executive Board is responsible for Holland Casino’s risk management. The audit committee provides the Supervisory 

Board with support in the supervision of Holland Casino’s internal risk management and control systems and financial 

reporting. This committee consists of Mrs. R. Dekker (chairman) and Mrs. M. M. van Zuijlen. In 2018, the committee held 

four scheduled meetings. The main issues dealt with at these meetings included the annual report and the profit 

remittance policy.

Categories and fair values

Financial assets are recognised in the category loans and receivables, while financial liabilities are recognised in the 

category other financial liabilities. The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are virtually the same as the 

carrying amounts.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to Holland Casino when a client fails to meet his contractual obligations.  

Holland Casino’s outstanding receivables are limited in size, which limits this risk. To keep this risk limited,  

Holland Casino has initiated measures to make sure only business clients with an adequate reputation in terms of 

creditworthiness can visit the casinos on account. Cash transactions (including exchange transactions involving foreign 

currencies) are only effected with highly-qualified credit institutions. The carrying amount of the financial assets 

represents the maximum credit risk.

RECEIVABLES 31 DECEMBER 2018

In thousands of euro

Days Weighted-average loss rate Gross carrying amount Expected credit loss Net carrying amount

0-30 0.5% 217 -1 216

30-60 4.6% 44 -2 42

60-90 18.3% 4 -1 3

>90 100.0% 0 0 0

265 -4 261
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Holland Casino will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations paid in cash or 

other financial assets. 

At year-end 2018, Holland Casino had a large amount of cash or cash equivalents (EUR 84.5 million, with EUR 34.7 million 

in accounts with ABN AMRO Bank and ING Bank) and an unused credit facility of EUR 120 million.

Holland Casino’s exposure to liquidity risk is therefore minor and as per 31 December 2018 the Company had not hedged 

this risk using (derivative) financial instruments. You will find more information on Holland Casino’s liquidity in note 24 

on capital management.

Market risk

Market risk refers to the risk that Holland Casino’s income or the value of financial instruments is negatively affected by 

changes in market prices, such as currency exchange rates, interest rates and share prices. Holland Casino strives to keep 

its market risk within acceptable boundaries while optimising returns. At year-end 2018, Holland Casino had no positions 

in derivatives. 

Currency risk

Holland Casino exchanges chips and tokens for foreign currency for (foreign) guests in its casinos. In view of the fact that 

this foreign currency cash is periodically deposited with GWK-Travelex, Holland Casino does run the risk of exchange rate 

losses, and is therefore exposed to currency risk. To hedge this risk, Holland Casino takes the following measures:

• Holland Casino charges transaction costs on currency exchange transactions and

• applies a margin to exchange rates, which absorbs any exchange rate fluctuations for a week ahead (the maximum 

period between the transaction and the moment the funds are deposited).

In 2018, Holland Casino recorded a positive currency exchange result in the amount of EUR 1.2 million  

(2017: EUR 1.1 million); this is recognised under other income in the income statement. The positive currency exchange 

result shows that Holland Casino mitigates its currency risk sufficiently.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that is run in the event of changes in the value of financial instruments as a result of changes 

in market interest rates. Holland Casino’s interest rate risk policy focuses on managing its net financing costs ensuing 

from fluctuations in market interest rates. Holland Casino has a credit facility in the event of the threat of liquidity 

shortages. Given Holland Casino’s healthy liquidity position, the Company has chosen not to hedge this credit facility 

using (derivative) financial instruments. Holland Casino therefore held no derivatives as per the reporting date.

Sensitivity analyses

Changes in currency exchange rates have little impact on the results of Holland Casino due to the above-mentioned 

measures. Changes in interest rates have little impact on the results of Holland Casino due to the fact that as per 

 31 December 2018, the Company had no interest-bearing payables or receivables on its statement of financial position.

24. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Holland Casino’s capital management policy is focused on maintaining a strong capital position that inspires confidence 

in society as a whole, among employees, the government, potential investors and other stakeholders. This in turn 

safeguards the future development of the Company’s business activities. At year-end 2018, Holland Casino’s capital 

consisted of share capital, legal reserves and other reserves.

In order to make investments that will enable the Company to realise higher and sustainable returns, in September 2018 

Holland Casino extended the current credit facility with total credit of EUR 120 million, which had still not been used by 

year-end 2018. Holland Casino entered into this credit facility with a banking consortium consisting of ING (50%) and  

ABN AMRO (50%).
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Holland Casino has reached agreement with the Finance ministry with regard to the profit transfer on the result of 2017 

after the reporting date; EUR 48.2 million was remitted in 2018.

Determining the ratio of borrowed capital to equity is part of Holland Casino’s capital management. This was as follows:

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

2018 2017

Non-current liabilities 17,195  17,296

Current liabilities 102,446  102,309

Total liabilities 119,641  119,605

Less: Cash and cash equivalents 85,326  63,601

Net liabilities 34,315  56,004

Equity 222,759  211,265

Net liabilities / equity ratio 0.2 0.3

The current ratio of borrowed capital to equity confirms that Holland Casino has maintained its solvency.  

Holland Casino’s future policy will be aimed at maintaining this solid financial position.

In view of its current liquidity position, Holland Casino had no outstanding (derivative) financial instruments as per  

31 December 2018 to hedge its liquidity and market risk.

RELATED PARTIES

Related parties Nature of the relationship and relevant transactions Relevant note

Executive Board Executive Board members remuneration Remuneration directors (see page 132)

Supervisory Board Supervisory Board membership remuneration
Remuneration Supervisory Board  
(see page 132)

Stichting Beheer Fooiengelden Gaming and non-gaming tips See below

Gaming Support B.V. Participation See page 112

Van Linden Beheer B.V. Shareholder participations See page 112

The State of the Netherlands (until 1 may 2017) Pseudo-shareholder / dividends Retained earnings on page 128

The State of the Netherlands (from 1 may 2017) Shareholder / dividends Dividend payment on page 128

Stichting Beheer Fooiengelden (SBF), the organisation responsible for the management of gaming and non-gaming tips, is 

a 100% Holland Casino subsidiary in economic terms. The goal of the SBF is to execute the cash tip scheme as included in 

the collective labour agreement, such on behalf of both Holland Casino and its employees. This makes the SBF inextricable 

from Holland Casino. Each week, Holland Casino transfers all the tips received to SBF and the remaining bank balance is 

repaid to Holland Casino once all salaries have been paid. As per the reporting date, the balance of the SBF bank account 

stood at EUR 3.4 million. This amount has been consolidated in Holland Casino’s financial statements. The Executive 

Board of the SBF consists of four directors, two directors acting on behalf of Holland Casino and two directors acting on 

behalf of the trade unions.

Holland Casino has an interest in a participation (Gaming Support B.V.), in which it exerts significant influence, but does 

not exercise decisive control in terms of business operations or financial policies. Transactions with this party are 

executed under market conditions and at prices that are not more favourable than those that would be agreed with 

independent third parties. On the basis of this relationship, this participation is recognised as a related party. 
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The table above provides an overview of the main relationships with related parties. Transactions took place between a 

number of these entities and Holland Casino in the reporting period. The conditions of the transactions with managers in 

key positions and their related parties were not more favourable than available conditions or conditions of which can 

reasonably be assumed were available for comparable transactions on a commercial, objective basis with entities that 

were not connected to managers in key positions.

Subsequent events 

There were no significant events after the balance sheet date.
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COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT FOR 2018

COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT FOR 2018

In thousands of euro Note 2018 2017

Share in results from participating interests, after taxation 26 219 421

Other income and expenses, after taxation - -

Net result 219 421
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT  
31 DECEMBER 2018

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION PER 2018

In thousands of euro, before profit appropriation Note 31-12-2018 31-12-2017

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 28 6,504 4,742

Tangible fixed assets 29 229,853 208,901

Deferred tax assets 30 10,139 14,283

Fees not yet amortised 31 638 414

Equity-accounted investees 32 1,691 1,342

Total non-current assets 248,825 229,682

Current assets

Inventories 33 920 711

Receivables and accrued income 34 6,614 35,626

Tax receivables 30 742 1,014

Fees not yet amortised 31 170 236

Cash and cash equivalents 35 84,468 63,601

Total current assets 92,914 101,188

Total assets 341,739 330,870

Equity 36

Share capital 45 45

Legal reserve 6,504 4,448

Currency translation reserve -100 -89

Fair value reserve 1,898 1,898

Retained earnings 154,671 131,483

Unappropriated result 59,395 73,480

Total equity 222,413 211,265

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 37 9,323 8,656

Deferred tax liabilities 39 1,941 4,502

Other liabilities 40 5,905 4,138

Total non-current liabilities 17,169 17,296

Current liabilities

Provisions 37 1,828 1,223

Trade and other payables 40 79,461 85,423

Current tax liabilities 39 20,492 15,634

Other liabilities 40 376 29

Total current liabilities 102,157 102,309

Total equity and liabilities 341,739 330,870
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

General information

The Company financial statements are part of the Holland Casino 2018 financial statements.

With respect to the Company income statement, Holland Casino made use of the exemption by virtue of section 402 of 

Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Basis for presentation

The Company financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with the provisions of Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch 

Civil Code. For the measurement of assets and liabilities and the determination of the result of its Company financial 

statements, Holland Casino makes use of the option offered in section 362, Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.  

This means that the principles for the measurement of assets and liabilities and the determination of the result 

(hereinafter ‘accounting principles’) for the Company financial statements of Holland Casino are the same as the 

principles applied to the consolidated EU-IFRS financial statements. These consolidated EU-IFRS financial statements have 

been drawn up according to the standards established by the International Accounting Standards Board and approved by 

the European Union (hereinafter ‘EU-IFRS’). See pages 88 to 103 for an explanation of these principles. 

Participations in group entities

Participations in group entities are measured according to the equity method in the Company statement of financial 

position. See the principles for consolidation in the consolidated financial statements for an explanation.

Result participations

The share in the result from participating interests pertains to the share of the Company in the results of these 

participations. Results on transactions with transfer of assets and liabilities between the Company and its participations 

are eliminated insofar as these can be considered not realised. 

Tax entity

Holland Casino and its subsidiaries form a tax entity for the levying of VAT. Each of the companies is liable for the tax 

owed of all the companies involved in the tax entity.

The Company and its subsidiaries settle via the current account positions.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT
In thousands of euro, unless otherwise indicated

25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

2018 2017

Salaries -180,835 -174,005

WAO/WIA disability benefits -940 -840

Social security charges -25,844 -22,873

Pension costs -18,039 -16,748

Indirect employee benefits -9,394 -10,443

Addition (release) restructuring provision - -234

Addition (release) long-service award provision -524 -622

Addition (release) personal career budget provision   -1,380 -

-236,956 -225,765

For an explanation, please see note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Staffing 

In 2018, Holland Casino had an average of 3,820 employees (2017: 3,597 employees), excluding stand-by staff and trainees. 

The distribution across departments was as follows:

EMPLOYEE NUMBERS PER DEPARTMENT (AVERAGE)

2018 2017

Table games 1,443 1,401

Slot machines 317 292

Services 641 608

Food & Beverage 734 640

Other 685 656

3,820 3,597

The number of employees stood at 3,899 at year-end 2018 (year-end 2017: 3,699).

Over the financial year 2018, the average number of employees converted to FTEs stood at 2,814 (2017: 2,623).  

Of these, 0 employees were employed outside the Netherlands (2017: 0 employees).

26.  SHARE IN RESULT FROM PARTICIPATING INTERESTS

This pertains to the share of Holland Casino in the results of its participations, with an amount of EUR 0.1 million 

pertaining to group entities.
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27. AUDITING FEES

The following auditing fees for KPMG Accountants were charged to the Company, its subsidiaries and other companies it 

consolidates, in accordance with Parts 1 and 2 of section 382a of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code (see model JR):

AUDITING FEES

2018 2017

Audit of the financial statements -261 -250

Other audit engagements -38 -15

Tax-related advisory services (KPMG Meijburg & Co) -39 -41

-338 -306

The fees mentioned in the table for the audit of the financial statements 2018 (2017) pertain to the total fees for the audit 

of the financial statements 2018 (2017), regardless of whether the activities took place in the financial year 2018 (2017).
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
In thousands of euro, unless otherwise indicated

28. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For an explanation, please see note 9 in the consolidated financial statements.

29. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and 
buildings

Building 
conversions

Plant & 
equipment

Slot 
machines

Fixtures 
and fittings

Assets under 
construction Total 

Cost of acquisition 49,170 68,098 102,383 85,248 111,064 53,084 469,047

Cumulative depreciation -11,201 -46,118 -74,812 -41,828 -86,187 - -260,146

Balance as at 31 December 2017 37,969 21,980 27,571 43,420 24,877 53,084 208,901

Investments - 5,382 9,121 17,939 13,428 7,335 53,205

Assets under construction / taken into use - 11,417 11,434 12,232 8,150 -43,233 -

Depreciation -1,525 -3,501 -6,071 -12,234 -7,995 - -31,326

Disposals / assets no longer in use  
(cost of acquisition) - -218 -1,356 -7,836 -3,320 - -12,730

Disposals / assets no longer in use  
(cum. depreciation) - 217 1,332 6,982 3,272 - 11,803

Balance as at 31 December 2018 36,444 35,277 42,031 60,503 38,412 17,186 229,853

Cost of acquisition 49,170 84,679 121,582 107,583 129,322 17,186 509,522

Cumulative depreciation -12,726 -49,402 -79,551 -47,080 -90,910 - -279,669

Balance as at 31 December 2018 36,444 35,277 42,031 60,503 38,412 17,186 229,853

For a specific explanation, see note 10 in the consolidated financial statements.

30. TAX ASSETS

For an explanation, see note 11 in the consolidated financial statements.

The tax asset approaches the fair value. The duration of the deferred tax asset is 16 years, of which EUR -0.4 million  

short term and EUR 8.6 million long term.

31. FEES NOT YET AMORTISED

For an explanation, see note 12 in the consolidated financial statements.

32. PARTICIPATIONS

Balance as at 31 december 2018 2018

Gaming Support B.V. 1,171

Gaming & Casino Services B.V. 520

1,691

PARTICIPATIONS

Legal adress Share in issued capital %

Gaming & Casino Services B.V. Rotterdam 60

Stichting Beheer Fooiengelden Den Haag 100*

Gaming Support B.V. Rotterdam 40

*  Stichting Beheer Fooiengelden (SBF) is a foundation and the shareholding is therefore not applicable. According to IFRS 10, SFB is viewed as a 
100% subsidiary in economic terms and is therefore included in Holland Casino’s consolidated financial statements.
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PARTICIPATIONS

Balance as at 31 December 2017 1,342

Reduction of participation Gaming Support due to demerger GCS  -280 

Valuation participation Gaming & Casino Services 420

Result Gaming Support (incl. translation differences)  120 

Result Gaming & Casino Services B.V. 100

Dividends received -

Currency translation differences from result investee  -11 

Balance as at 31 December 2018 1,691

 

33. INVENTORIES

2018 2017

Inventories 920 711

920 711

For an explanation, see note 14 in the consolidated financial statements.

34. RECEIVABLES AND ACCRUED INCOME

2018 2017

Receivables 261 699

Due from credit card companies 1,184 1,004

Pension contributions paid in advance 2,000 2,000

Other receivables 1,084 851

Insurance claim to be settled - 28,109

Prepayments 2,085 2,963

6,614 35,626

All receivables have an expected duration of less than one year.

The fair value of the receivables recorded approaches the carrying amount, given the short-term character of the 

receivables and the fact that Holland Casino has set aside provisions to cover the risk of bad debts.

The costs paid in advance consist of costs paid in advance pertaining to operating expenses and marketing expenses for 

the financial year 2018. Holland Casino had no receivables in participations in which Holland Casino can exercise 

meaningful influence at year-end 2018.

35. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018 2017

Cash in transit  9,021  9,931

Cash held by casinos  40,769  34,322

Bank balances  34,678  19,348

 84,468  63,601

The cash and cash equivalents are freely available.
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36. EQUITY

On 31 December 2018, the authorised share capital consisted of 2,250 ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 100. 

The issued and paid-up capital amounts to EUR 45,000 in the form of 450 shares with a nominal value of EUR 100 each.

The remainder of the equity consists of a legal reserve, a currency exchange difference reserve, a revaluation reserve, a 

retained earnings and minority interests. The legal reserve item comprises a legal reserve for participations and a legal 

reserve for capitalised development costs. The currency exchange difference reserve pertains to the exchange differences 

of foreign currency resulting from the participation. The revaluation reserve is a legal reserve and pertains to the 

revaluation of property, plant and equipment. Holland Casino has formed a revaluation reserve for these buildings in case 

the fair value is higher than the acquisition value. In accordance with Article 17 of the Casino Games Decree (Beschikking 

casinospelen 1996) and Article 14 of Holland Casino’s Articles of Association, an amount has been set aside from the 

aggregate net profit generated by all our casinos for allocation to Equity, which is recognised as ‘other reserves’.

In 2018, the Finance minister determined the profit remittance. An amount of EUR 48.2 million of the 2017 result was 

remitted to the State. The net profit was added to the equity in accordance with the provision related to the appropriation 

of profit as recorded in the other information section of this annual report.

The revaluation of the existing 40% share in Gaming Support B.V. did not lead to a change in fair value.

Unappropriated result

Appropriation of the result for the financial year 2018

The 2018 financial statements were adopted by the General Meeting of Shareholders on 3 April 2019. The General Meeting 

of Shareholders adopted the Executive Board’s proposal for the appropriation of the result. 

Proposal for the appropriation of the 2018 result.

The Executive Board, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, will propose to the General Meeting of Shareholders to 

appropriate the result after taxes over 2018 as follows: pay an amount of EUR 46.0 as dividend and add the remaining 

amount of EUR 13.5 to the other reserves.

Revaluation reserve

In the conversion to IFRS, Holland Casino opted for the deemed cost approach; this is an option that can only be applied 

once upon the first application of IFRS. In addition to this, Holland Casino has chosen to value a number of the buildings 

it owns and the related land holdings at fair value. The Company has set aside a revaluation reserve for these buildings for 

in the event that the fair value is higher than the purchase value. The revaluation pertains solely to the land holdings.
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37. PROVISIONS

Decommissioning 
costs

Employee 
benefits

Onerous
contracts Restructuring

Personal 
career

budget Total

Balance as at 31 December 2017 2,614 6,579 84 602 - 9,879

Addition/release 597 580 - - 1,380 2,557

Withdrawals - -501 -84 -598 -58 -1,241

Unwind of discount -16 -28 - - - -44

Balance as at 31 December 2018 3,195 6,630 - 4 1,322 11,151

As at 31 December 2017

Long-term part of provisions 2,614 6,042 - - - 8,656

Short-term part of provisions - 537 84 602 - 1,223

As at 31 December 2018

Long-term part of provisions 3,195 6,128 - - - 9,323

Short-term part of provisions - 502 - 4 1,322 1,828

For an explanation, see note 18 of the consolidated financial statements.

38. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

For an explanation, see note 19 of the consolidated financial statements.
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39. TAX LIABILITIES

2018 2017

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred corporate income tax 1,941 4,502

Current tax liabilities

Corporate income tax 2,187 -

Other current tax liabilities

Gaming tax 13,154 10,811

Payroll tax 5,151 4,823

18,305 15,634

22,433 20,136

At year-end 2018, Holland Casino had no provisional tax liabilities.

40. TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Other non-current liabilities 

For an explanation, see note 21 of the consolidated financial statements. 

Trade and other payables 2018 2017

Trade payables 15,911 25,375

Debts payable to group companies 1,283 -

Debts payable to Gaming Support 636 928

Holiday days, holiday pay and salaries 18,361 17,771

Jackpots 13,332 12,199

Uncashed chips liability 3,327 2,797

Outstanding investments 4,830 7,191

Outstanding costs 11,549 8,120

Other liabilities 10,232 11,042

79,461 85,423

For an explanation, see note 21 in the consolidated financial statements.
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41. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

In millions of euro Total 2018 < 1 year
> 1 year and  

< 5 years
> 5 years

Liabilities arising from:

Rent buildings 153,4 12,7 51,1 89,6

Lease slot machines 5,9 4,2 1,7 -

Lease cars 1,1 0,6 0,5 -

IT services 15,1 5,2 9,9 -

Investments 2,6 2,6 - -

178,1 25,3 63,2 89,6

Total 2017 < 1 year
> 1 year and  

< 5 years
> 5 years

Liabilities arising from:

Rent buildings 111,6 11,4 41,9 58,3

Lease slot machines 11,3 5,1 6,2 -

Lease cars 1,4 0,7 0,7 -

IT services 6 4,0 2,0 -

Investments 8,9 8,9 - -

139,2 30,1 50,8 58,3

For an explanation, see note 22 of the consolidated financial statements.

Tax entity

Holland Casino and its subsidiaries form a tax entity for the levying of VAT. Each of the companies is liable for the tax 

owed of all the companies involved in the tax entity.

The Company and its subsidiaries settle via the current account positions.

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - FAIR VALUE AND RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The management of financial instruments at a consolidated level is not significantly different than at Company financial 

statements level. We therefore refer to note 23 in the consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTIES

Related parties Nature of the relationship and relevant 
transactions

Relevant note

Gaming & Casino Services B.V. Participation See page 126 and 127

The other related parties are the same as those in the consolidated financial statements. Please see note 24.

The following transactions were effected in 2018: no sales to GCS and the use of services in the amount of EUR 9.0 million. 

These amounts are excluding VAT. Amounts still due to GCS amounted to EUR 1.3 million at year-end 2018 . 

These transactions were effected at market conditions and prices that were not more favourable than those that would be 

agreed with independent third parties.
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REMUNERATION KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL HOLLAND CASINO

Holland Casino’s key management personnel consist of its directors and supervisory directors.

2018 2017

Directors

E. van Lambaart fixed salary 239,3 234,6

other remuneration 2 27,6 33,6

regular remunerations 266,9 268,2

variable salary 1 45,5 46,9

pension costs 22,8 22,3

335,2 337,4

Drs. R.J. Bergervoet (from 21-3-2017) fixed salary 221,6 169,4

other remuneration 2 24,3 13,7

regular remunerations 245,9 183,1

variable salary 1 42,1 33,9

pension costs 19,8 14,5

307,8 231,5

2018 2017

Supervisory directors

Mr. W.L.J. Bröcker Supervisory Board membership fee 3 29,9 29,6

Mrs. drs. M.M. van Zuijlen Supervisory Board membership fee 3 21,5 21,7

Committee fee 2,0 2,0

Mrs. drs. R.E. Dekker Supervisory Board membership fee 3 21,5 21,4

Committee fee 2,8 2,8

Mr. P.F. Roks Supervisory Board membership fee 3 21,5 21,7

Mr. J.W. Baud Supervisory Board membership fee 3 21,5 21,1

120,7 120,3

The remuneration for supervisory directors includes a fee for expenses.

Holland Casino has not extended any loans, advances or guarantees on behalf of the members of the Executive Board or the Supervisory Board.

1.  Variable salaries are based on the current financial year, while payment is made in the subsequent financial year.
2.  This amount includes the additional tax liability for a lease car, employer’s contributions and a one-time payment of 3.5% over 2016 as part of 

the collective labour agreement.
3 The remuneration for supervisory directors in 2017 includes a structural increase of 2.0% and a one-time payment of 3.5% over 2016.

Hoofddorp, 3 April 2019

Executive Board: Supervisory Board:

E. van Lambaart Mr. W.L.J. Bröcker

Drs. R.J. Bergervoet Mrs. drs. M.M. van Zuijlen

 Mrs. drs. R.E. Dekker 

 Mr. P.F. Roks

 Mr. J.W. Baud
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OTHER INFORMATION

The Supervisory Board signed the consolidated financial statements for the financial year 2018 and released them for 

publication on 3 April 2019. The Supervisory Board will present the financial statements for adoption to the General 

Meeting of Shareholders on 3 April 2019.

Profit appropriation 

The Casino Games Decree 1996 and the Holland Casino Articles of Association were amended on 1 April 2006. These form 

the final part of the Economic Affairs Ministry’s transfer of policy responsibility for casino games, together with the 

distinction between governance and policy desired by the Security and Justice Ministry and the Finance Ministry.  

Article 17 of the Casino Games Decree and Article 14 of the Articles of Association are relevant to the appropriation  

of profit/loss.

Holland Casino’s Articles of Association were amended on 15 December 2017.

ARTICLE 17 CASINO GAMES DECREE 

The net profit generated by all operations undertaken under this license, this being the difference between gross income 

and the sum of cash prizes and running costs, shall be remitted to the state, where applicable after deduction of any 

retention of profit to be allocated to equity, such subject to approval of the Finance Ministry and insofar as liquidity  

so permits.

ARTICLE 10 ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

10.1  The Company may only make payments on shares insofar as its equity is greater than the amount of the issued and 

paid-up capital, plus the reserves that must be maintained by virtue of the law.

10.2  Distribution of profit shall occur after the adoption of the financial statements that shows this is justified, such 

without prejudice to the other provisions of these articles of association.

10.3  The profit is at the disposal of the General Meeting. The General Meeting may decide to reserve profit or distribute 

said profit to the shareholders.

10.4  The General Meeting can resolve to make an interim payment from the reserves or from the profits of the current 

financial year. With the exception of the situations described in article 10.5, the resolution cited in the previous 

sentence requires a proposal to do so from the Executive Board that has been approved in advance by the 

Supervisory Board. The General Meeting may submit a written request to the Executive Board, asking it to make a 

proposal for payment as referred to in the previous sentence. If the General Meeting has rejected a proposal for 

payment by the Executive Board, the General Meeting can submit a new written request, asking the Executive Board 

to submit a proposal for an interim payment within eight weeks, which proposal should be approved by the 

Supervisory Board.

10.5  The General Meeting is free to decide on an interim payment from the reserves or the profits of the current financial 

year without a prior proposal from the Executive Board:

 a.  If the proposal described in the last sentence of article 10.4 is rejected by the General Meeting; and

 b.  if the Executive Board has not submitted a proposal for an interim payment approved by the Supervisory Board 

within six months of receiving a written request for same from the General Meetings.

10.6  An interim payment is only permitted if an interim equity statement indicates that the requirements of article 10.1 

have been met.
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10.7  The interim equity statement pertains to the position of the equity at the earliest on the first day of the third month 

before the month in which the resolution to make a payment is announced. The statement is drawn up in 

compliance with measurement methods considered acceptable in society. The equity statement amounts are 

recognised in accordance with the laws and the articles of association. They are signed by the members of the 

Executive Board and the members of the Supervisory Board. If the signature of one or more members is missing, 

that will be noted with the reason. 

10.8  The General Meeting is authorised to decide that a payment will be made partly or entirely in a form other  

than cash. 

10,.9  In the calculation of the division of the amount to be paid on shares, the shares held in its capital by the Company 

do not count, unless these shares or depositary receipts for shares have a right of usufruct or a right of lien on behalf 

of a party other than the Company, pursuant to which the entitlement to profit is paid to the holder of the right 

usufruct or lien.

10.10  At the calculation of the amount to be paid on each share, only the amount from the required payment to the 

nominal amount of shares is eligible.

10.11  Payments are payable no later than thirty days after being adopted, unless the General Meeting decides on another 

day.

10.12  Payments that have not been settled five years and a day after becoming claimable are retained by the Company and 

are added to the reserves.

These articles of association do not include a provision relating to losses. In the event of losses, these are deducted from 

the equity. Any negative equity is reduced each year by the positive net result over the financial year.

Holland Casino remitted a part of the profit from 2017 to the State of the Netherlands. The profit remaining following the 

remittance of profit was added to the equity. This agreement has been recognised in the financial statements.  

Holland Casino has made agreements with the Finance Ministry on a minimum annual dividend pay-out in 2018.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To: the General Meeting of Shareholders and the Supervisory Board of Holland Casino N.V.

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2018 included in the annual report  

Our opinion

In our opinion: 

• the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Holland Casino 

N.V. as at 31 December 2018 and of its result and its cash flows for 2018 in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code;

• the accompanying Company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Holland Casino N.V. 

as at 31 December 2018 and of its result for 2018 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

What we have audited

We have audited the financial statements 2018 as included on page 80 up to 132 of the annual report of Holland Casino N.V. 

(the ‘Company’) based in The Hague. The financial statements include the consolidated financial statements and the 

Company financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements comprise: 

1. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018;

2. the following consolidated statements for 2018: the income statement, the statements of comprehensive income, 

changes in equity and cash flows; and

3. the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

The Company financial statements comprise:

1. the Company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018;

2. the Company income statement for 2018; and

3. the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the ‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section 

of our report.

We are independent of Holland Casino N.V. in accordance with the ‘Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties’ (Wta, Audit firms 

supervision act), the ‘Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten’ (ViO, Code of 

Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence 

regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the ‘Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels 

accountants’ (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics). 

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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AUDIT APPROACH

Summary

MATERIALITY

• Materiality of EUR 6.0 million
• 1.3% of net revenue of EUR 474 million

GROUP AUDIT

• 99% of consolidated total assets
• 100% of consolidated total revenue

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

• Revenue table games and slot machines and cash and cash equivalents

OPINION

Unqualified opinion

Materiality

Based on our professional judgement we determined the materiality for the financial statements as a whole at  

EUR 6.0 million (2017: EUR 6.0 million). The materiality is determined with reference to net revenue (gross revenues  

after deduction of gaming tax) of which it represents 1.3% (2017: 1,3%). We consider net revenue as the most appropriate 

benchmark as this has over the years been a stable benchmark that gives fair representation of the scope of the 

Company’s business activities. We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that  

in our opinion are material for the users of the financial statements for qualitative reasons. 

We agreed with the Supervisory Board that misstatements in excess of EUR 300,000 would be reported to them, as well as 

smaller misstatements that in our view must be reported on qualitative grounds.

Scope of the group audit

Holland Casino N.V. is at the head of a group of components. The financial information of this group is included in the 

financial statements of Holland Casino N.V.

Our group audit mainly focused on significant components. We identified only Holland Casino N.V. as a significant 

component based on the nature of the activities and the significant risks. 

We have:

• performed audit procedures ourselves at group component Holland Casino N.V.; and

• performed analytical procedures for the non-significant group components.

Our audit approach resulted in a coverage of 99% of the consolidated total assets and 100% of the consolidated total 

revenues.

By performing the procedures mentioned above at group components, together with additional procedures at group level, 

we have been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the group’s financial information to provide 

an opinion about the financial statements.
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Audit scope in relation to fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations

In accordance with the Dutch Standards on Auditing we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the 

financial statements taken as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.  

In determining the audit procedures we will make use of the evaluation of management in relation to fraud risk 

management (prevention, detection and response), including ethical standards to create a culture of honesty.

In our process of identifying fraud risks we assessed fraud risk factors, which we discussed with management and the 

Supervisory Board. Fraud risk factors are events or conditions that indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or 

provide an opportunity to commit fraud. We also assessed factors related to the risk of non-compliance with laws and 

regulations which could have a direct or indirect impact on the financial statements. 

Based on the auditing standards we addressed the following presumed fraud risks that were relevant to our audit: 

• fraud risk in relation to the revenue recognition for table games and slot machines and cash and cash equivalents; and

• fraud risk in relation to management override of controls. 

Our audit procedures included an evaluation of the internal controls relevant to mitigate these risks and supplementary 

substantive audit procedures, including detailed testing of (administrative) journal entries and documentation in relation 

to cash and cash equivalents. 

Our audit procedures differ from a specific forensic fraud investigation, which investigation often has a more in-depth 

character. 

Our procedures to address fraud risks and/or risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations did not result in findings 

to be included in this auditor’s report. 

We assessed these findings, including remedial actions taken by management, which procedures are considered 

satisfactory in the context of our audit.

For details we refer to the key audit matter on this topic as included in this auditor’s report.

Our key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

financial statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the Supervisory Board. The key audit matters are 

not a comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our 

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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REVENUE TABLE GAMES AND SLOT MACHINES AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Description
Due to the significant amount of cash and cash equivalents in circulation, and the related sensitivity to fraud, one of the core tasks of our audit is 
to determine the accuracy and completeness of these transactions, plus the cash and cash equivalents being held by cashiers at the casinos.

Our response
Our audit activities concentrated primarily on testing the effectiveness of the functioning of the internal control measures with respect to the 
availability and safekeeping of cash and cash equivalents, as well as the supervision of the cash processing. These internal control measures 
include the daily counting procedures, the segregation of duties in the cash processing procedures and camera supervision. In the course of 
the year, we made a number of unannounced visits to attend the counting of cash and cash equivalents to ensure that procedures had been 
followed and the outcome was recorded in the cash ledgers. We also determined that the financial administration and these cash ledgers were in 
agreement.

Our observation
Based on the procedures we carried out, we obtained sufficient audit evidence with respect to the correctness and completeness of the cash and 
cash equivalents transactions and the balance of the inventories of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year.

Report on the other information included in the annual report 

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report contains other information 

that consists of:

• introduction (page 3 through 5);

• about Holland Casino (page 6 through 10);

• report of the Executive Board (page 11 through 58);

• governance (page 59 through 79);

• other information (page 133 through 140); and

• additional information (page 141 through 146). 

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:

• is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements; and

• contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of the 

financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material misstatements. 

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the 

Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is substantially less than the scope of those performed in our 

audit of the financial statements. 

The Executive Board is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the information required in 

accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

DESCRIPTION OF RESPONSIBILITIES REGARDING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Responsibilities of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board for the financial statements

The Executive Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 

with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, the Executive Board is responsible for such 

internal control as the Executive Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements  

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the Executive Board is responsible for assessing the Company’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks mentioned, the Executive Board 

should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Executive Board either 

intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The Executive Board 

should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern in the financial statements.  

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
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Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate 

audit evidence for our opinion. 

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not detect all 

material errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified 

misstatements on our opinion. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the appendix of this 

auditor’s report. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

The Hague, 3 April 2019

KPMG Accountants N.V.

R.R.J. Smeets RA

Appendix:  

Description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
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APPENDIX

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit, in 

accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit included 

among other things:

• identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than the risk resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

• obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control;

• evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the Executive Board;

• concluding on the appropriateness of the Executive Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 

we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause a company to cease to continue as a going 

concern;

• evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures; and

• evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 

fair presentation.

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising and performing 

the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures to be carried out for 

group components. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the group components or operations. On this basis,  

we selected group components for which an audit or review had to be carried out on the complete set of financial 

information or specific items. 

We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

From the matters communicated with the Supervisory Board, we determine the key audit matters: those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report  

unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, not 

communicating the matter is in the public interest.
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OTHER 
INFORMATION
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

OVERVIEW BRANCHES

HOLLAND CASINO HEAD OFFICE

Neptunusstraat 71

2132 JP Hoofddorp

+31 23 565 95 65

HOLLAND CASINO AMSTERDAM CENTRUM

Max Euweplein 62

1017 MB Amsterdam

+31 20 521 11 11

HOLLAND CASINO AMSTERDAM WEST 

La Guardiaweg 61

1043 DE Amsterdam 

+31 20 304 83 04

HOLLAND CASINO BREDA

Kloosterplein 20

4811 GP Breda

+31 76 525 11 00

HOLLAND CASINO EINDHOVEN

Heuvel Galerie 134

5611 DK Eindhoven

+31 40 235 73 57

HOLLAND CASINO ENSCHEDE

Boulevard 1945 105

7511 AM Enschede

+31 53 750 27 50

HOLLAND CASINO GRONINGEN (temporarily branch)

Europaweg 10 (Sontplein 

9723 AS Groningen

+31 50 317 23 17

HOLLAND CASINO LEEUWARDEN

Heliconweg 56

8914 AT Leeuwarden

+31 58 750 22 22

HOLLAND CASINO NIJMEGEN

Waalkade 68

6511 XP Nijmegen

+31 24 381 63 81

HOLLAND CASINO ROTTERDAM

Weena 624

3012 CN Rotterdam

+31 10 206 82 06

HOLLAND CASINO SCHEVENINGEN

Kurhausweg 1 

2587 RT Den Haag 

+31 70 306 77 77

HOLLAND CASINO UTRECHT

Overste den Oudenlaan 2 

3527 KW Utrecht

+31 30 750 47 50

 

HOLLAND CASINO VALKENBURG

Kuurpark Cauberg 28

6301 BT Valkenburg a/d Geul 

+31 43 609 96 00

HOLLAND CASINO VENLO

Magalhaesweg 4

5928 LN Venlo

+31 77 750 26 00

HOLLAND CASINO ZANDVOORT

Badhuisplein 7

2042 JB Zandvoort

+31 23 574 05 74

GAMING & CASINO SERVICES B.V.

Industrieweg 29

3044 AS Rotterdam

+31 10 524 11 50
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY
FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY

Amounts in millions of euro, unless otherwise indicated 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Income statement

Revenue before gaming tax 1 656.5 639.2 607.4 575.3 520.2

Gaming tax -182.4 -170.5 -161.9 -153.0 -137.1

Net revenue 474.1 468.7 445.5 422.3 383.1

Insurance claim 11.4 29.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total revenue 485.5 497.7 445.5 422.3 383.1

Operating expenses excl. exceptional income and expenses -403.3 -400.2 -363.9 -351.0 -345.5

Exceptional income and expenses - - - - -22.9

Financial income and expenses 0.4 - -0.2 -0.8 -2.7

Share of profit of equity-accounted investees net of tax 0.1 0.5 0.3 0.3 -

Total expenses -402.8 -399.7 -363.8 -351.5 -371.1

Result before corporate income tax 82.7 98.0 81.7 70.8 12.0

Corporate income tax 2 -23.2 -24.5 -7.6 - -

Result after corporate income tax 59.5 73.5 74.1 70.8 12.0

Total other comprehensive income. net of tax - - - -0.1 -

Total comprehensive income 3 59.5 73.5 74.1 70.7 12.0

Statement of financial position

Equity 222.8 211.3 184.3 110.1 54.9

Non-current liabilities 17.2 17.3 12.6 10.1 43.4

Statement of financial position total 342.4 330.9 305.5 241.5 214.9

Investments in property. plant and equipment during the year 53.3 71.6 65.3 26.8 18.0

Cash flow from operating activities 133.4 83.5 101.2 100.5 69.7

EBITDA excl. exceptional income and expenses 114.9 140.8 106.5 106.3 77.1

EBITDA 114.9 140.8 106.5 106.3 54.2

EBIT 82.2 97.5 81.6 71.4 14.7

1.  The revenue before taxes from the years 2013 through 2016 have been adjusted for comparison purposes. The currency exchange results are now 
presented under the financial income and expenses.

2. Not legally liable for corporate income taxes until 2016. 
3.  The comparable figures in the financial years through 2014 have been drawn up in accordance with the guidelines of the Dutch Accounting 

Standards Board (Nederlandse Raad voor de Jaarverslaggeving – RJ), and from 2015 in accordance with IFRS.

Revenue categories (as a percentage of the total)

Revenue Table games 40.5 40.0 41.7 40.5 41.1

Revenue Slot machines 51.8 52.0 50.3 51.1 49.7

Gaming and non-gaming tips 3.5 3.7 3.8 4.0 4.2

Food & Beverage revenue 3.7 3.7 3.6 3.3 3.9

Other income 0.5 0.6 0.7 1.0 1.1

Ratios

Profit margin (in percentages) 12.6 15.7 16.7 16.8 3.1

Employee benefits (as a percentage of operating expenses. excl. 
exeptional income and expenses)

59.9 56.4 57.0 57.4 59.1

Comparison with previous year (in percentages)

Revenue before gaming tax 2.7 5.2 5.6 10.6 3.4

Operating expenses 0.8 10.0 3.7 -4.7 -2.6

Operating expenses excl. exceptional income and expenses 0.8 10.0 3.7 1.6 -4.1
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

SCOPE AND BOUNDARIES OF THE REPORT

This is the annual report of Holland Casino N.V., a State shareholding. This report covers the 2018 financial year, which 

runs from 1 January 2018 through 31 December 2018. This report covers all of Holland Casino’s activities and its staff,  

but it does not report on any of its subcontractors and/or suppliers. 

PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION

Holland Casino’s annual report consists of the Report of the Executive Board, the Report of the Supervisory Board and the 

consolidated and Company financial statements of Holland Casino N.V. The financial information for 2018 in this annual 

report was prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The financial information in 

this annual report was drawn up in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. The Report of the Executive 

Board was prepared with due observance of Section 391 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

CHOICES AND SCOPE

In this report, Holland Casino has also reported on a number of material and socially relevant topics, such as governance, 

our role in society and our role as employer. We have reported on our Responsible Gaming Policy, our anti-money 

laundering approach, our Human Resources policy and Risk Management. These topics served as a basis for the selection 

of the non-financial indicators. 

GRI (Global Reporting Initiative) is the international standard for CSR (Corporate Social Responsibility) reporting.  

Holland Casino’s annual report has been drawn up on the basis of the GRI-4 guidelines and in line with the core option. 

The GRI Index (GRI-4) is available on our website. Holland Casino has not received external assurance on the GRI-4 

guidelines, as it did not ask its auditor to provide such assurance. 

Holland Casino participates in the Transparency Benchmark (TB), an annual study of the content and quality of Dutch 

corporate social reporting, and in 2017 finished in 128th place out of 254 participants (2016: 110th of 253). The format of 

the Transparency Benchmark and the Crystal Prize changed in 2018. From 2018 onwards, the benchmark switched from 

an annual to a biennial study, while the expert panel and jury will continue to award the Crystal prize on an annual basis.

TRANSLATION

This report is a translation of the original report in Dutch. In the event of any discrepancies, the original report in Dutch 

shall prevail.

FEEDBACK REGARDING THE REPORT

We welcome your feedback on how we can improve our report. Please send an e-mail with your questions or comments to 

jaarverslag@hollandcasino.nl.
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LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AO/IB Administrative organisation and internal control 

AVG  General Data Protection Regulation

B.V. Private company  

BW Netherlands Civil Code 

Cao Collective Labour Agreement

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

COSO The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

CRUKS Central register of (temporary) gaming bans

FIU Financial Intelligence Unit

GCS Gaming & Casino Services B.V.

GDPR General Data Protection Regulation

GRI  Global Reporting Initiative

IFRS  International Financial Reporting Standards 

Koa Remote gaming

Ksa Gaming Commission

MOT Reporting of unusual transactions Act

N.V. Limited company 

NMi   Independent organisation specialised in testing, certification and training in the field  

of measurement systems and games of chance  

NPS Net Promotor Score

OR Works Council

PBK Responsible gaming policy  

Rau Performance-related bonus

RCS Risk management and control system 

RvC Supervisory Board

SW Sanctions act

TB Transparency benchmark

WDR Profit-sharing scheme

Wft Financial Supervision Act 

Wok Betting and Gaming Act

Wwft Prevention of money laundering and the financing of terrorism Act 

145CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2018 Home



COLOPHON

©Holland Casino 

Hoofddorp, 3 April 2019

HOLLAND CASINO

Postbus 355

2130 AJ Hoofddorp

jaarverslag@hollandcasino.nl 

www.hollandcasino.nl 

TEXT EDITORS

Holland Casino Corporate Communicatie 

Holland Casino Finance & Control 

CFF Communications

TRANSLATION

Piggott & Partners

PHOTOGRAPHY

Floris Heuer, Michel Schnater e.a.

DESIGN AND PRODUCTION

Enof Creatieve Communicatie


	Knop Volgende: 
	Pagina 2: 
	Pagina 3: 
	Pagina 4: 
	Pagina 5: 
	Pagina 6: 
	Pagina 7: 
	Pagina 8: 
	Pagina 9: 
	Pagina 10: 
	Pagina 11: 
	Pagina 12: 
	Pagina 13: 
	Pagina 14: 
	Pagina 15: 
	Pagina 16: 
	Pagina 17: 
	Pagina 18: 
	Pagina 19: 
	Pagina 20: 
	Pagina 21: 
	Pagina 22: 
	Pagina 23: 
	Pagina 24: 
	Pagina 25: 
	Pagina 26: 
	Pagina 27: 
	Pagina 28: 
	Pagina 29: 
	Pagina 30: 
	Pagina 31: 
	Pagina 32: 
	Pagina 33: 
	Pagina 34: 
	Pagina 35: 
	Pagina 36: 
	Pagina 37: 
	Pagina 38: 
	Pagina 39: 
	Pagina 40: 
	Pagina 41: 
	Pagina 42: 
	Pagina 43: 
	Pagina 44: 
	Pagina 45: 
	Pagina 46: 
	Pagina 47: 
	Pagina 48: 
	Pagina 49: 
	Pagina 50: 
	Pagina 51: 
	Pagina 52: 
	Pagina 53: 
	Pagina 54: 
	Pagina 55: 
	Pagina 56: 
	Pagina 57: 
	Pagina 58: 

	Knop Vorige: 
	Pagina 2: 
	Pagina 3: 
	Pagina 4: 
	Pagina 5: 
	Pagina 6: 
	Pagina 7: 
	Pagina 8: 
	Pagina 9: 
	Pagina 10: 
	Pagina 11: 
	Pagina 12: 
	Pagina 13: 
	Pagina 14: 
	Pagina 15: 
	Pagina 16: 
	Pagina 17: 
	Pagina 18: 
	Pagina 19: 
	Pagina 20: 
	Pagina 21: 
	Pagina 22: 
	Pagina 23: 
	Pagina 24: 
	Pagina 25: 
	Pagina 26: 
	Pagina 27: 
	Pagina 28: 
	Pagina 29: 
	Pagina 30: 
	Pagina 31: 
	Pagina 32: 
	Pagina 33: 
	Pagina 34: 
	Pagina 35: 
	Pagina 36: 
	Pagina 37: 
	Pagina 38: 
	Pagina 39: 
	Pagina 40: 
	Pagina 41: 
	Pagina 42: 
	Pagina 43: 
	Pagina 44: 
	Pagina 45: 
	Pagina 46: 
	Pagina 47: 
	Pagina 48: 
	Pagina 49: 
	Pagina 50: 
	Pagina 51: 
	Pagina 52: 
	Pagina 53: 
	Pagina 54: 
	Pagina 55: 
	Pagina 56: 
	Pagina 57: 
	Pagina 58: 

	Knop Volgende 2: 
	Pagina 59: 
	Pagina 60: 
	Pagina 61: 
	Pagina 62: 
	Pagina 63: 
	Pagina 64: 
	Pagina 65: 
	Pagina 66: 
	Pagina 67: 
	Pagina 68: 
	Pagina 69: 
	Pagina 70: 
	Pagina 71: 
	Pagina 72: 
	Pagina 73: 
	Pagina 74: 
	Pagina 75: 
	Pagina 76: 
	Pagina 77: 
	Pagina 78: 
	Pagina 79: 
	Pagina 80: 
	Pagina 133: 
	Pagina 134: 
	Pagina 135: 
	Pagina 136: 
	Pagina 137: 
	Pagina 138: 
	Pagina 139: 
	Pagina 140: 
	Pagina 141: 
	Pagina 142: 
	Pagina 143: 
	Pagina 144: 
	Pagina 145: 

	Knop Vorige 2: 
	Pagina 59: 
	Pagina 60: 
	Pagina 61: 
	Pagina 62: 
	Pagina 63: 
	Pagina 64: 
	Pagina 65: 
	Pagina 66: 
	Pagina 67: 
	Pagina 68: 
	Pagina 69: 
	Pagina 70: 
	Pagina 71: 
	Pagina 72: 
	Pagina 73: 
	Pagina 74: 
	Pagina 75: 
	Pagina 76: 
	Pagina 77: 
	Pagina 78: 
	Pagina 79: 
	Pagina 80: 
	Pagina 133: 
	Pagina 134: 
	Pagina 135: 
	Pagina 136: 
	Pagina 137: 
	Pagina 138: 
	Pagina 139: 
	Pagina 140: 
	Pagina 141: 
	Pagina 142: 
	Pagina 143: 
	Pagina 144: 
	Pagina 145: 

	Knop Home 2: 
	Pagina 59: 
	Pagina 60: 
	Pagina 61: 
	Pagina 62: 
	Pagina 63: 
	Pagina 64: 
	Pagina 65: 
	Pagina 66: 
	Pagina 67: 
	Pagina 68: 
	Pagina 69: 
	Pagina 70: 
	Pagina 71: 
	Pagina 72: 
	Pagina 73: 
	Pagina 74: 
	Pagina 75: 
	Pagina 76: 
	Pagina 77: 
	Pagina 78: 
	Pagina 79: 

	Knop Volgende 5: 
	Pagina 80: 
	Pagina 133: 
	Pagina 134: 
	Pagina 135: 
	Pagina 136: 
	Pagina 137: 
	Pagina 138: 
	Pagina 139: 
	Pagina 140: 
	Pagina 141: 
	Pagina 142: 
	Pagina 143: 
	Pagina 144: 
	Pagina 145: 

	Knop Vorige 5: 
	Pagina 80: 
	Pagina 133: 
	Pagina 134: 
	Pagina 135: 
	Pagina 136: 
	Pagina 137: 
	Pagina 138: 
	Pagina 139: 
	Pagina 140: 
	Pagina 141: 
	Pagina 142: 
	Pagina 143: 
	Pagina 144: 
	Pagina 145: 

	Knop Volgende 3: 
	Pagina 81: 
	Pagina 82: 
	Pagina 83: 
	Pagina 84: 
	Pagina 85: 
	Pagina 86: 
	Pagina 87: 
	Pagina 88: 
	Pagina 89: 
	Pagina 90: 
	Pagina 91: 
	Pagina 92: 
	Pagina 93: 
	Pagina 94: 
	Pagina 95: 
	Pagina 96: 
	Pagina 97: 
	Pagina 98: 
	Pagina 99: 
	Pagina 100: 
	Pagina 101: 
	Pagina 102: 
	Pagina 103: 
	Pagina 104: 
	Pagina 105: 
	Pagina 106: 
	Pagina 107: 
	Pagina 108: 
	Pagina 109: 
	Pagina 110: 
	Pagina 111: 
	Pagina 112: 
	Pagina 113: 
	Pagina 114: 
	Pagina 115: 
	Pagina 116: 
	Pagina 117: 
	Pagina 118: 
	Pagina 119: 
	Pagina 120: 

	Knop Vorige 3: 
	Pagina 81: 
	Pagina 82: 
	Pagina 83: 
	Pagina 84: 
	Pagina 85: 
	Pagina 86: 
	Pagina 87: 
	Pagina 88: 
	Pagina 89: 
	Pagina 90: 
	Pagina 91: 
	Pagina 92: 
	Pagina 93: 
	Pagina 94: 
	Pagina 95: 
	Pagina 96: 
	Pagina 97: 
	Pagina 98: 
	Pagina 99: 
	Pagina 100: 
	Pagina 101: 
	Pagina 102: 
	Pagina 103: 
	Pagina 104: 
	Pagina 105: 
	Pagina 106: 
	Pagina 107: 
	Pagina 108: 
	Pagina 109: 
	Pagina 110: 
	Pagina 111: 
	Pagina 112: 
	Pagina 113: 
	Pagina 114: 
	Pagina 115: 
	Pagina 116: 
	Pagina 117: 
	Pagina 118: 
	Pagina 119: 
	Pagina 120: 

	Knop Volgende 6: 
	Pagina 81: 
	Pagina 82: 
	Pagina 83: 
	Pagina 84: 
	Pagina 85: 
	Pagina 86: 
	Pagina 87: 
	Pagina 88: 
	Pagina 89: 
	Pagina 90: 
	Pagina 91: 
	Pagina 92: 
	Pagina 93: 
	Pagina 94: 
	Pagina 95: 
	Pagina 96: 
	Pagina 97: 
	Pagina 98: 
	Pagina 99: 
	Pagina 100: 
	Pagina 101: 
	Pagina 102: 
	Pagina 103: 
	Pagina 104: 
	Pagina 105: 
	Pagina 106: 
	Pagina 107: 
	Pagina 108: 
	Pagina 109: 
	Pagina 110: 
	Pagina 111: 
	Pagina 112: 
	Pagina 113: 
	Pagina 114: 
	Pagina 115: 
	Pagina 116: 
	Pagina 117: 
	Pagina 118: 
	Pagina 119: 
	Pagina 120: 

	Knop Vorige 6: 
	Pagina 81: 
	Pagina 82: 
	Pagina 83: 
	Pagina 84: 
	Pagina 85: 
	Pagina 86: 
	Pagina 87: 
	Pagina 88: 
	Pagina 89: 
	Pagina 90: 
	Pagina 91: 
	Pagina 92: 
	Pagina 93: 
	Pagina 94: 
	Pagina 95: 
	Pagina 96: 
	Pagina 97: 
	Pagina 98: 
	Pagina 99: 
	Pagina 100: 
	Pagina 101: 
	Pagina 102: 
	Pagina 103: 
	Pagina 104: 
	Pagina 105: 
	Pagina 106: 
	Pagina 107: 
	Pagina 108: 
	Pagina 109: 
	Pagina 110: 
	Pagina 111: 
	Pagina 112: 
	Pagina 113: 
	Pagina 114: 
	Pagina 115: 
	Pagina 116: 
	Pagina 117: 
	Pagina 118: 
	Pagina 119: 
	Pagina 120: 

	Knop Volgende 4: 
	Pagina 121: 
	Pagina 122: 
	Pagina 123: 
	Pagina 124: 
	Pagina 125: 
	Pagina 126: 
	Pagina 127: 
	Pagina 128: 
	Pagina 129: 
	Pagina 130: 
	Pagina 131: 
	Pagina 132: 

	Knop Volgende 7: 
	Pagina 121: 
	Pagina 122: 
	Pagina 123: 
	Pagina 124: 
	Pagina 125: 
	Pagina 126: 
	Pagina 127: 
	Pagina 128: 
	Pagina 129: 
	Pagina 130: 
	Pagina 131: 
	Pagina 132: 

	Knop Vorige 7: 
	Pagina 121: 
	Pagina 122: 
	Pagina 123: 
	Pagina 124: 
	Pagina 125: 
	Pagina 126: 
	Pagina 127: 
	Pagina 128: 
	Pagina 129: 
	Pagina 130: 
	Pagina 131: 
	Pagina 132: 



